This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to completion or amendment. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of
an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation, or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND NOTICE OF SALE DATED AUGUST 30, 2023

Rating: See “Rating” herein.
S&P Global Ratings:
New Issue

In the opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing law and assuming, among other matters, compliance
with certain covenants, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Interest on the Bonds will not be included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income
of individuals. For tax years beginning after December 31, 2022, however, interest on the Bonds will be included in the “adjusted financial
statement income” of certain corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code. Under existing
law, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, and the Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal
property taxes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or
the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds. See “Tax Exemption” herein. The Bonds will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt
obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
$72,910,000* GENERAL OBLIGATION STATE QUALIFIED
MUNICIPAL PURPOSE LOAN OF 2023 BONDS

DATED DUE
Date of Delivery September 1
(as shown below)

The Bonds are issuable only in fully registered form, registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Bondowner and nominee for The Depository
Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Purchases of the Bonds will be made
in book-entry form in the denomination of $5,000, or any integral multiple thereof. (See “THE BONDS - Book-Entry Transfer System"
herein.)

Principal of the Bonds will be payable September 1 of the years in which the Bonds mature. Interest on the Bonds will be payable March
1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024. Principal and semiannual interest on the Bonds will be paid by the Treasurer and
Receiver-General of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as Paying Agent. So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the
Bondowner, such payments will be made directly to such Bondowner. Disbursement of such payments to the DTC Participants is the
responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the responsibility of the DTC Participants and
Indirect Participants, as more fully described herein.

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates as described herein.

An opinion of Bond Counsel will be delivered with the Bonds to the effect that the Bonds are valid general obligations of the City of Lowell,
Massachusetts, and that the principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable from taxes that may be levied upon all the property within
the territorial limits of the City, subject to the limit imposed by Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws.

MATURITIES, AMOUNTS*, RATES, PRICES OR YIELDS AND CUSIPS

Due Principal Interest Price or CUsSIP Due Principal Interest Price or CUSIP
September 1 Amount® Rate Yield 547647  September 1 Amount* Rate Yield 547647

2024 $1,115,000 % % 2039 $ 2,425,000 % %

2025 2,355,000 2040 2,510,000

2026 2,420,000 2041 2,600,000

2027 2,475,000 2042 2,715,000

2028 2,385,000 2043 2,785,000

2029 2,445,000 2044 1,935,000

2030 2,535,000 2045 2,020,000

2031 2,625,000 2046 2,105,000

2032 2,715,000 2047 2,180,000

2033 2,820,000 2048 2,275,000

2034 2,585,000 2049 2,365,000

2035 2,710,000 2050 2,460,000

2036 2,830,000 2051 2,560,000

2037 2,945,000 2052 2,680,000

2038 2,475,000 2053 1,860,000

THE BONDS ARE BEING OFFERED FOR SALE AT 11:00 A.M. (EASTERN TIME) ON WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 13, 2023 VIA
PARITY IN THE MANNER SET FORTH IN THE NOTICE OF SALE. REFERENCE IS MADE TO THE NOTICE OF SALE DATED
AUGUST 30, 2023 FOR THE CONDITIONS OF SUCH SALE.

The Bonds are offered subject to the final approving opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, Bond Counsel, as aforesaid,
and to certain other conditions referred to herein and in the Notice of Sale. Hilltop Securities Inc., Boston, Massachusetts has acted as
Municipal Advisor to the City of Lowell, Massachusetts, with respect to the Bonds. The Bonds in definitive form will be delivered to DTC,
or its custodial agent, on or about September 28, 2023, against payment to the City in federal funds.

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and from other sources which are believed to be reliable but it is not
guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly so stated, are intended merely as opinion and not as representations of fact. The information and expressions of opinion herein
are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of the Bonds described herein shall,
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no material change in the affairs of the City of Lowell since the date

hereof.



SUMMARY STATEMENT

The information set forth below is qualified in its entirety by the information and financial statements appearing elsewhere in the Official

Statement.

Date of Sale:
Location of Sale:
Issuer:

Issue:

Preliminary Official Statement Dated:

Dated Date of the Bonds:
Principal Due:
Interest Payable:

Purpose and Authority:

Redemption:

Security for the Bonds:

State Qualified Bonds:

Credit Rating:

Bond Insurance:
Basis of Award:

Tax Exemption:
Continuing Disclosure:
Bank Qualification:

Paying Agent:
Escrow Agent:
Legal Opinion:
Municipal Advisor:

Delivery and Payment:

Issuer Official:

*Preliminary, subject to change.

Wednesday, September 13, 2023, 11:00 a.m. (Eastern Time).
Hilltop Securities Inc., 54 Canal Street, 3rd Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02114.
City of Lowell, Massachusetts.

$72,910,000* General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds, see
"THE BONDS - Book-Entry Transfer System" herein.

August 30, 2023.

As of their date of delivery.

Serially September 1, 2024 through September 1, 2053 as detailed herein.
Semiannually on March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024.

The Bonds are authorized by the City for various municipal purposes under provisions of the
Massachusetts General Laws as detailed herein.

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates as detailed herein.

The Bonds are valid general obligations of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts, and the principal of
and interest on the Bonds are payable from taxes that may be levied upon all taxable property
within the territorial limits of the City, subject to the limit imposed by Chapter 59, Section 21C of
the General Laws.

The Bonds will be State Qualified Bonds pursuant to Chapter 44A of the Massachusetts General
Laws (“Chapter 44A”). Pursuant to Chapter 44A, the State Treasurer shall pay debt service on the
City’s State Qualified Bonds and after payment shall withhold from distributable aid (as defined in
Chapter 44A) payable to the City an amount which will be sufficient to pay the debt service on such
State Qualified Bonds or, if the amount of such distributable aid in any year is insufficient for the
purpose, from any other amounts payable by The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the
“Commonwealth”) to the City under any provision of law. From the time withheld by the State
Treasurer, all such distributable aid or other amounts so withheld and paid shall be exempt from being
levied upon, taken, sequestered, or applied toward paying the debts of the City other than for payment
of debt service on such State Qualified Bonds. Nothing in Chapter 44A shall be construed to pledge
the credit and assets of the Commonwealth to the support of any State Qualified Bonds or to
guarantee payment or stand as surety to the payment of any State Qualified Bonds. See “THE
BONDS-State Qualified Bonds” herein.

The City has applied to S&P Global Ratings for a rating on the Bonds.

The City has not contracted for the issuance of any policy of municipal bond insurance or any
other credit enhancement facility.

Lowest True Interest Cost (TIC), as of the dated date. NO BID OF LESS THAN PAR PLUS A
PREMIUM OF AT LEAST $280,000 WILL BE ACCEPTED.

Refer to "THE BONDS - Tax Exemption" herein and Appendix B, "Proposed Form of Legal
Opinion.”

Refer to "THE BONDS - Continuing Disclosure” herein and Appendix C, "Proposed Form of
Continuing Disclosure Certificate.”

The Bonds will not be designated by the City as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes
of Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Treasurer and Receiver-General of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, Boston, Massachusetts.
Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts.

Hilltop Securities Inc., Boston, Massachusetts.

It is expected that delivery of the Bonds in book-entry only form will be made to The Depository
Trust Company, or to its custodial agent, on or about September 28, 2023, against payment in
federal funds.

Questions concerning the Official Statement should be addressed to Theodoros
Panagiotopoulos, Treasurer, City of Lowell, Massachusetts Telephone (978) 674-4222 or Cinder
McNerney, Regional Managing Director, Hilltop Securities Inc., Boston, Massachusetts
Telephone (617) 619-4408.



NOTICE OF SALE

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
$72,910,000* GENERAL OBLIGATION STATE QUALIFIED MUNICIPAL PURPOSE LOAN OF 2023 BONDS

The City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “City”) will receive electronic (as described herein) proposals until 11:00 A.M.,
Eastern Time, Wednesday, September 13, 2023, for the purchase of the following described General Obligation State
Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds of the City (the "Bonds"):

$72,910,000* General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds payable September 1 of the
years and in the amounts as follows:

Due Principal Due Principal
September 1 Amount* September 1 Amount*
2024 $1,115,000 2039 $ 2425000 **
2025 2,355,000 2040 2,510,000 **
2026 2,420,000 2041 2,600,000 **
2027 2,475,000 2042 2,715,000 **
2028 2,385,000 2043 2,785,000 **
2029 2,445,000 2044 1,935,000 **
2030 2,535,000 2045 2,020,000 **
2031 2,625,000 2046 2,105,000 **
2032 2,715,000 2047 2,180,000 **
2033 2,820,000 ** 2048 2,275,000 **
2034 2,585,000 ** 2049 2,365,000 **
2035 2,710,000 ** 2050 2,460,000 **
2036 2,830,000 ** 2051 2,560,000 **
2037 2,945,000 ** 2052 2,680,000 **
2038 2,475,000 ** 2053 1,860,000 **

*Preliminary, subject to change.
**Callable maturities. May be combined into not more than three Term Bonds as described herein.

The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery. Principal of the Bonds will be payable on September 1 of the years in which
the Bonds mature. Interest will be payable on March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024.

The Bonds will be issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution of the Bonds made to the public.
One certificate for each maturity of the Bonds will be issued to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC"),
and immobilized in its custody. Ownership of the Bonds in principal amounts of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, will be
evidenced by a book-entry system with transfers of ownership effected on the records of DTC and its Participants pursuant
to rules and procedures established by DTC and its Participants. The successful bidder, as a condition to delivery of the
Bonds, shall be required to deposit the Bonds with DTC, registered in the name of Cede & Co. Interest and principal on the
Bonds will be payable to DTC or its nominee as Registered Owner of the Bonds. Transfer of principal and interest payments
to Participants of DTC will be the responsibility of DTC. Transfer of principal and interest payments to Beneficial Owners
will be the responsibility of such Participants and other nominees of Beneficial Owners. The City will not be responsible or
liable for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its Participants or persons acting through
such Participants.

The original Bonds to be immobilized at DTC and their legality will be approved by Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts,
whose opinion will be furnished to the successful bidder without charge.

The Bonds maturing on and before September 1, 2032 are not subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates.
Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2033 are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates, at the option
of the City, on and after September 1, 2032, either in whole or in part at any time, and if in part, by lot within a maturity, at
the par amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date set for redemption.

For Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2033, bidders may specify that all of the principal amount of such Bonds in
any two or more consecutive years may, in lieu of maturing in each such year, be combined to comprise a maturity of Term
Bonds, and shall be subject to mandatory redemption or mature at par, as described above, in each of the years and in the
principal amounts specified in the foregoing maturity schedule. Each mandatory redemption shall be allocated to the
payment of the Term Bond maturing in the nearest subsequent year. Bidders may specify no more than three Term Bonds.



Term Bonds, if any, shall be subject to mandatory redemption on September 1 of the year or years immediately prior to the
stated maturity of such Term Bond (the particular Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed to be selected by lot) as indicated
in the foregoing maturity schedule at the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without
premium.

Principal of and semiannual interest on the Bonds will be paid by the Treasurer and Receiver-General of The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, or its successor, as Paying Agent for the Bonds. So long as DTC or its nominee,
Cede & Co., is the Bondowner, such payments will be made directly to DTC. The disbursement of such payments to the
DTC Participants is the responsibility of DTC, and the disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the
responsibility of the DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described herein.

Bidding Parameters

As between proposals that comply with this Notice of Sale, the award will be to the bidder who offers to purchase all of the
Bonds at the lowest net effective interest rate to the City. Such interest rate shall be determined on a true interest cost (TIC)
basis, which shall mean that rate which, as of the delivery of the Bonds, discounts semi-annually all future payments on
account of principal and interest to the price bid, not including interest accrued to the date of delivery, which accrued interest
shall be paid by the successful bidder. In the event that two or more bidders submit bids for the Bonds with the same lowest
net effective interest rate to the City, the winning bidder shall be determined by the City Treasurer, by lot, from among all
such proposals.

Bidders shall state the rate or rates of interest per annum which the Bonds are to bear in a multiple of 1/20 or 1/8 of one
percent, but shall not state (a) more than one interest rate for any Bonds having a like maturity, (b) any interest rate which
exceeds the interest rate stated for any other Bonds by more than 3 percent or (c) any coupon in excess of 5.0%. NO
BID OF LESS THAN PAR PLUS A PREMIUM OF $280,000 WILL BE CONSIDERED.

The bond structure reflects approximately $310,000 of premium associated with the refunding component. The
City reserves the right to change the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds after the determination of the
winning bid by increasing or decreasing the aggregate principal amount and the principal amount of each maturity
by such amounts as may be necessary to (i) eliminate to the extent possible, or restructure, some of the shortest
purpose bonds within each fund on a level debt service basis through the same original term, (ii) produce sufficient
funds to effect the refunding for which a portion of the Bonds are being issued reflecting the amount of the net
premium to be received by the City, and (iii) comply with the Massachusetts General Law. THE SUCCESSFUL
BIDDER MAY NOT WITHDRAW ITS BID OR CHANGE THE INTEREST RATES BID OR THE INITIAL REOFFERING
PRICES, AS A RESULT OF ANY CHANGES MADE TO THE ANNUAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS WITHIN THESE LIMITS.
The dollar amount bid for the Bonds by the winning bidder will be adjusted, if applicable, to reflect changes in the
dollar amount of the amortization schedule. Any price that is adjusted will reflect changes in the dollar amount of
the underwriter’s discount and original issue premium, if any, but will not change the per bond underwriter’s
discount (net of insurance premium, if any) provided in such bid. Nor will it change the interest rate specified for
each maturity. Any such adjustments will be communicated to the winning bidder for the Bonds by 4 p.m. Eastern
Time on the day of the sale.

Bids must be submitted electronically via Parity in accordance with this Notice of Sale. To the extent any instructions or
directions set forth in Parity conflict with this Notice of Sale, the terms of this Notice of Sale shall control. For further
information about Parity, potential bidders may contact the Municipal Advisor to the City or |-deal at 40 West 23rd Street,
5th Floor, New York, NY 10010 (212) 404-8102. An electronic bid made in accordance with this Notice of Sale shall be
deemed an offer to purchase the Bonds in accordance with the terms provided in this Notice of Sale and shall be binding
upon the bidder as if made by a signed and sealed written bid delivered to the City.

The award of the Bonds to the successful bidder will not be effective until the bid has been approved by the Treasurer and
the City Manager of the City.

The right is reserved to reject any and all bids and to reject any bid not complying with this Notice of Sale and, so far as
permitted by law, to waive any irregularity with respect to any proposal.

The City has not contracted for the issuance of any policy of municipal bond insurance for the Bonds. If the Bonds qualify
for issuance of any such policy or commitment therefor, any purchase of such insurance or commitment shall be at the sole
option and expense of the bidder. Proposals shall not be conditioned upon the issuance of any such policy or commitment.
Any failure of the Bonds to be so insured or of any such policy or commitment to be issued shall not in any way relieve the
purchaser of its contractual obligations arising from the acceptance of its proposal for the purchase of the Bonds. Should
the bidder purchase municipal bond insurance, all expenses associated with such policy or commitment will be borne by
the bidder, except for the fees paid to S&P Global Ratings for a rating on the Bonds. Any such fee paid to S&P Global
Ratings would be borne by the City.



In order to assist bidders in complying with Rule 15¢2-12 (b)(5) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
the City will undertake to provide annual reports and notices of certain significant events. A description of this undertaking
is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement.

The Bonds will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (the “Code”).

It shall be a condition to the obligation of the successful bidder to accept delivery of and pay for the Bonds that it shall be
furnished, without cost, with (a) the approving opinion of the firm of Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, substantially
in the form appearing as Appendix B of the Preliminary Official Statement dated August 30, 2023, (b) a certificate in the
form satisfactory to Bond Counsel dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds and receipt of payment therefor to the effect
that there is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the signers thereof, threatened which affects the validity of the
Bonds or the power of the City to levy and collect taxes to pay them, (c) a certificate of the City Treasurer to the effect that,
to the best of his knowledge and belief, as of its date and the date of sale the Preliminary Official Statement did not, and as
of its date and the date of the delivery of the Bonds, the Final Official Statement did not and does not, contain any untrue
statement of a material fact and did not and does not omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (d) a Continuing Disclosure
Certificate in the form appearing as Appendix C of the Preliminary Official Statement.

Establishment of Issue Price

The successful bidder shall assist the City in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the
City on the Closing Date an “issue price” or similar certificate, substantially in the applicable form set forth in Exhibit 1 to
this Notice of Sale, setting forth the reasonably expected initial offering prices to the public or the sales price of the Bonds
together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, or, if applicable, the amount bid, with such
modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the successful bidder, the City and Bond
Counsel. All actions to be taken by the City under this Notice of Sale to establish the issue price of the Bonds may be taken
on behalf of the City by Hilltop Securities Inc. (the “Municipal Advisor”) and any notice or report to be provided to the City
may be provided to the Municipal Advisor.

Competitive Sale Requirements. If the competitive sale requirements (“competitive sale requirements”) set forth in Treasury
Regulation § 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) (defining “competitive sale” for purposes of establishing the issue price of the Bonds) have
been satisfied, the City will furnish to the successful bidder on the Closing Date a certificate of the Municipal Advisor, which
will certify each of the following conditions to be true:

1. the City has disseminated this Notice of Sale to potential underwriters in a manner that is
reasonably designed to reach potential underwriters;

2. all bidders had an equal opportunity to bid;

3. the City received bids from at least three underwriters of municipal bonds who have established
industry reputations for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds; and

4. the City awarded the sale of the Bonds to the bidder who submitted a firm offer to purchase the
Bonds at the highest price (or lowest interest cost), as set forth in this Notice of Sale.

Any bid submitted pursuant to this Notice of Sale shall be considered a firm offer for the purchase of the Bonds,
as specified in the bid. Unless a bidder notifies the City prior to submitting its bid by contacting the Municipal
Advisor, telephone (617) 619-4400, and affirming in writing via email (cinder.mcnerney@Ahilltopsecurities.com), or
in its bid submitted via Parity, that it will NOT be an “underwriter” (as defined below) of the Bonds, by submitting
its bid, each bidder shall be deemed to confirm that it has an established industry reputation for underwriting new
issuances of municipal bonds. Unless the bidder has notified the City that it will not be an “underwriter” (as defined
below) of the Bonds, in submitting a bid, each bidder is deemed to acknowledge that it is an “underwriter” that
intends to reoffer the Bonds to the public.

In the event that the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the City shall so advise the successful bidder.

Failure to Meet the Competitive Sale Requirements — Option A — The Successful Bidder Intends to Reoffer the Bonds to
the Public and the 10% Test is Used. If the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied and the successful bidder intends
to reoffer the Bonds to the public, the Successful Bidder may, at its option, use the first price at which 10% of a maturity of
the Bonds (the “10% Test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity, applied on a maturity-by-maturity basis,
of the Bonds. The successful bidder shall advise the Municipal Advisor if any maturity of the Bonds satisfies the 10% Test
as of the date and time of the award of the Bonds. The City will not require bidders to comply with the “hold-the-offering-
price rule” set forth in the applicable Treasury Regulations if this option is chosen.
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If the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, then until the 10% Test has been satisfied as to each maturity of the
Bonds or all of the Bonds are sold to the public, the successful bidder agrees to promptly report to the Municipal Advisor
the prices at which the unsold Bonds of each maturity have been sold to the public, which reporting obligation shall continue,
whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until the 10% Test has been satisfied for each maturity of the Bonds or until
all the Bonds of a maturity have been sold. The successful bidder shall be obligated to report each sale of Bonds to the
Municipal Advisor until notified in writing by the City or the Municipal Advisor that it no longer needs to do so. If the successful
bidder uses Option A the Successful Bidder shall provide to the City on or before the Closing Date, the certificate
substantially in the form attached to this Notice of Sale as Exhibit 1 — Option A.

By submitting a bid and if the competitive sale requirements are not met, each bidder confirms that: (i) any agreement
among underwriters, any selling group agreement and each third-party distribution agreement (to which the bidder is a
party) relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain
language obligating each underwriter, each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a
party to such third-party distribution agreement, as applicable, to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold
Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the successful bidder that either the 10% Test has been satisfied
as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public, if and for so long as directed by
the successful bidder and as set forth in the related pricing wires and (ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the
initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating
each underwriter that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale of
the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement to report the
prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the successful bidder
or such underwriter that either the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity
have been sold to the public if and for so long as directed by the successful bidder or such underwriter and as set forth in
the related pricing wires.

Sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party to an underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes
of this Notice of Sale. Further, for purposes of this Notice of Sale:

1. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party,

2. “‘underwriter” means (A) any person, including the Successful Bidder, that agrees pursuant to a
written contract with the City (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the
initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or
indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including
a member of a selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the
Bonds to the public), and

3. a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter and the
purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total
value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii)
more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships
(including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value
of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable,
if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock
or interests by one entity of the other).

Failure to Meet the Competitive Sale Requirements — Option B — The Successful Bidder Intends to Reoffer the Bonds to
the Public and Agrees to Hold the Price of Maturities of Bonds for Which the 10% Test in Option A is Not Met as of the Sale
Date. The successful bidder may, at its option, notify the Municipal Advisor in writing, which may be by email (the “Hold the
Price Notice”), not later than 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the Sale Date, that it has not sold 10% of the maturities of the
Bonds listed in the Hold the Price Notice (the “Unsold Maturities”) and that the successful bidder will not offer the Unsold
Maturities to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the
Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date or (ii) the date on which the
successful bidder has sold at least 10% of the applicable Unsold Maturity to the public at a price that is no higher than the
initial offering price to the public. If the successful bidder delivers a Hold the Price Notice to the Municipal Advisor, the
successful bidder must provide to the City on or before the Closing Date, in addition to the certification described in Option
A above, a certificate substantially in the form attached to this Notice of Sale as Exhibit 1 — Option B, including evidence
that each underwriter of the Bonds, including underwriters in an underwriting syndicate or selling group, has agreed in
writing to hold the price of the Unsold Maturities in the manner described in the preceding sentence.




Failure to Meet the Competitive Sale Requirements and/or the Successful Bidder Does Not Intend to Reoffer the Bonds
to the Public — Option C. If the successful bidder has purchased the Bonds for its own account and will not distribute,
reoffer or resell the Bonds to the public, then, whether or not the competitive sale requirements were met, the issue
price certificate will recite such facts and identify the price or prices at which the purchase of the Bonds was made.

It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the Bonds. The City assumes no responsibility for any
CUSIP Service Bureau or other charge that may be imposed for the assignment of such numbers.

Additional information concerning the City of Lowell and the Bonds is contained in the Preliminary Official Statement dated
August 30, 2023, to which prospective bidders are directed. The Preliminary Official Statement is provided for informational
purposes only and is not a part of this Notice of Sale. Said Preliminary Official Statement is deemed final by the City except
for the omission of the reoffering price(s), interest rate(s), delivery date, the identity of the underwriter(s), and any other
pertinent terms of the Bonds depending on such matters, but is subject to change without notice to completion or amendment
in a Final Official Statement. Copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained from Hilltop Securities Inc., 54
Canal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02114 (Telephone: 617-619-4400). Within seven (7) business days following the
award of the Bonds in accordance herewith, 5 copies of the Final Official Statement will be available from Hilltop Securities
Inc. to the successful bidder for use in reoffering the Bonds. Upon request, additional copies will be provided at the expense
of the requester.

The Bonds in definitive form will be delivered to The Depository Trust Company or its custodial agent on or about September
28, 2023 for settlement in federal funds.

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
s/ Theodoros Panagiotopoulos, Treasurer/Collector

August 30, 2023



EXHIBIT 1
[Issue Price Certificate for Use If the Competitive Sale Requirements Are Met]

City of Lowell, Massachusetts
$72,910,000* General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds dated September 28, 2023

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE AND RECEIPT

The undersigned, on behalf of (the “Successful Bidder”), hereby certifies as set forth below with
respect to the sale of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “Issuer”).

1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Prices.

(@) As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the Bonds to the Public by the Successful Bidder
are the prices listed in Schedule A (the “Expected Offering Prices”). The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Maturities of the
Bonds used by the Successful Bidder in formulating its bid to purchase the Bonds. Attached as Schedule B is a true and correct copy
of the bid provided by the Successful Bidder to purchase the Bonds.

(b) The Successful Bidder was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to submitting its bid.
(c) The bid submitted by the Successful Bidder constituted a firm offer to purchase the Bonds.
2. Defined Terms.

(@) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the
same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(b) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or corporation) other
than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any
two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(c) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds. The
Sale Date of the Bonds is September 13, 2023.

(d)  Underwriter means (i) any person, including the Successful Bidder, that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the
Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii)
any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a third-party distribution
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

3. Receipt. The Successful Bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of the Bonds and further acknowledges
receipt of all certificates, opinions, and other documents required to be delivered to the Successful Bidder, before or simultaneously with
the Bonds, which certificates, opinions, and other documents are satisfactory to the Successful Bidder.

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the
Successful Bidder’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon
by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the federal
income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Locke Lord LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other
federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.

Dated: , 2023 [NAME OF SUCCESSFUL BIDDER]

By:
Name:
Title:

*Preliminary, subject to change.



SCHEDULE A
EXPECTED OFFERING PRICES

(To be Attached)

SCHEDULE B
COPY OF SUCCESSFUL BIDDER’S BID

(To Be Attached)
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EXHIBIT 1 — OPTION A

[Issue Price Certificate for Use If the Competitive Sale Requirements Are
Not Met and the 10% Test to Apply]

City of Lowell, Massachusetts
$72,910,000* General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds dated September 28, 2023

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE AND RECEIPT

The undersigned, on behalf of , (the “[Successful Bidder][Representative]”), on behalf of itself [and
[NAMES OF OTHER UNDERWRITERS]] hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-
captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “Issuer”).

1. Sale of the Bonds. As of the date of this certificate, [except as set forth in the following paragraph,] for each Maturity of the
Bonds, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity of the Bonds was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule
A

[Only use the next paragraph if the 10% Test has not been met or all of the Bonds have not been sold for one or more Maturities of
Bonds as of the Closing Date.]

For each Maturity of the Bonds as to which no price is listed in Schedule A, as set forth in the Notice of Sale for the Bonds, until
at least 10% of each such Maturity of the Bonds is sold to the Public (the “10% Test”) or all of the Bonds are sold to the Public, the
[Successful Bidder][Representative] agrees to promptly report to the Issuer’s financial advisor, Hilltop Securities Inc. (the “Municipal
Advisor”) the prices at which the unsold Bonds of each Maturity have been sold to the Public, which reporting obligation shall continue
after the date hereof until the 10% Test has been satisfied for each Maturity of the Bonds or until all the Bonds of a Maturity have been
sold. The [Successful Bidder][Representative] shall continue to report each sale of Bonds to the Municipal Advisor until notified by email
or in writing by the Issuer or the Municipal Advisor that it no longer needs to do so.

2. Defined Terms.

(@) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the
same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(b)  Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or corporation) other
than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any
two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(c)  Underwriter means (i) any person, including the [Successful Bidder][Representative], that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to
the Public, and (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this
paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a third-party
distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

3. Receipt. The [Successful Bidder][Representative] hereby acknowledges receipt of the Bonds and further acknowledges
receipt of all certificates, opinions, and other documents required to be delivered to the [Successful Bidder][Representative], before or
simultaneously with the Bonds, which certificates, opinions, and other documents are satisfactory to the [Successful
Bidder][Representative].

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the
[Successful Bidder][Representative]'s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will
be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance
with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Locke Lord LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.

Dated: , 2023 [SUCCESSFUL BIDDER][REPRESENTATIVE]

By:
Name:
Title:

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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SCHEDULE A
SALE PRICES
[(To Be Attached)]
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EXHIBIT 1 — OPTION B

[Issue Price Certificate for Use If the Competitive Sale Requirements Are
Not Met and the Hold the Price Rule Is Used]

City of Lowell, Massachusetts
$72,910,000* General Obligation Municipal State Qualified Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds dated September 28, 2023

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE AND RECEIPT

The undersigned, on behalf of (the (“[Successful Bidder][Representative]’), on behalf of itself [and [NAMES
OF OTHER UNDERWRITERS] ]Jhereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned
obligations (the “Bonds”) of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “Issuer”).

1. Sale of the Bonds. As of the date of this certificate, [except as set forth in the following paragraph,] for each
Maturity of the Bonds, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity of the Bonds was sold to the Public is the respective price
listed in Schedule A.

[Only use the next paragraph if the 10% Test has not been met as of the Sale Date.]

For each Maturity of the Bonds as to which no price is listed in Schedule A (the “Unsold Maturities™), as set forth in the Notice
of Sale for the Bonds, the [Successful Bidder][Representative] and any other Underwriter did not [and will not] reoffer the Unsold
Maturities to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the Public until the earlier of (i) , 2023 or (ji)
the date on which the [Successful Bidder][Representative] or any other Underwriter sold at least 10% of each Unsold Maturity at a price
that is no higher than the initial offering price to the Public.

2. Defined Terms.

(@) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the
same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(b) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or corporation) other
than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any
two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(c)  Underwriter means (i) any person, including the [Successful Bidder][Representative], that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to
the Public, and (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this
paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a third-party
distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

3. Receipt. The [Successful Bidder][Representative] hereby acknowledges receipt of the Bonds and further
acknowledges receipt of all certificates, opinions and other documents required to be delivered to the [Successful
Bidder][Representative], before or simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds, which certificates, opinions and other documents are
satisfactory to the [Successful Bidder][Representative].

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the
[Successful Bidder's][Representative’s] interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Intemnal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will
be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance
with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Locke Lord LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.

Dated: , 2023 [SUCCESSFUL BIDDER][REPRESENTATIVE]

By:
Name:
Title:

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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[SCHEDULE A
SALE PRICES

(To be Attached)]
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
$72,910,000* GENERAL OBLIGATION STATE QUALIFIED MUNICIPAL PURPOSE LOAN OF 2023 BONDS

This Official Statement is provided for the purpose of presenting certain information relating to the City of Lowell,
Massachusetts (the “City”) in connection with the sale of $72,910,000* stated principal amount of its General Obligation
State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds (the "Bonds"). The information contained herein has been furnished
by the City, except information attributed to another source.

THE BONDS
Description of the Bonds

The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will bear interest payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1,
commencing on September 1, 2024, until maturity or redemption prior to maturity. The Bonds shall mature on September
1 of the years and in the principal amounts as set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement.

The Bonds are issuable in the name of Cede & Co., as Bondowner and nominee for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"),
New York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Purchases of the Bonds will be made in
book-entry form, in the denomination of $5,000, or any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers will not receive certificates
representing their interests in Bonds purchased. So long as Cede & Co. is the Bondowner, as nominee of DTC, references
herein to the Bondowners or Registered Owners shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial
Owners (as defined herein) of the Bonds. (See "THE BONDS - Book-Entry Transfer System" herein.)

Principal of and semiannual interest on the Bonds will be paid by the Treasurer and Receiver-General of The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, or its successor, as paying agent for the Bonds. So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede
& Co., is the Bondowner, such payments will be made directly to DTC. Disbursement of such payments to the DTC
Participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursements of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the responsibility
of the DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described herein.

Redemption Provisions
Optional Redemption

Bonds maturing on or prior to September 1, 2032 shall not be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates.
Bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2033 shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the City, on
or after September 1, 2032, either in whole or in part at any time, and if in part, by lot within a maturity, at the par amount of
the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date set for redemption.

Mandatory Redemption

If the successful bidder designated principal amounts of the Bonds to be combined into one, two or three term bonds (which
may be done only for principal amounts in consecutive years and only with respect to Bonds maturing on and after
September 1, 2033), each such term bond shall be subject to mandatory redemption commencing on September 1 of the
first year which has been combined to form such term bonds and continuing on September 1 in each year thereafter until
the stated maturity date of that Bond. The amount redeemed or paid at maturity in any year shall be equal to the principal
amount for that year set forth in the schedule contained in the Notice of Sale dated August 30, 2023 relating to the Bonds.
Principal amounts to be redeemed in any year by mandatory redemption shall be redeemed at par (without premium), plus
accrued interest to the redemption date, and shall be selected by lot from among the Bonds then subject to redemption.
The City Treasurer may credit against any mandatory redemption requirement term bonds which have been purchased and
cancelled by the City or have been redeemed and not therefore applied as a credit against any mandatory redemption
requirement.

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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Notice of Redemption

Notice of any redemption of Bonds, prior to their dates of maturity, specifying the Bonds (or the portions thereof) to be
redeemed shall be mailed to DTC or sent in such other manner acceptable to DTC not more than 60 days nor less than 30
days prior to the redemption date. Any failure on the part of DTC to notify the Direct Participants of the redemption or failure
on the part of DTC’s Participants, Indirect Participants or of a nominee of a Beneficial Owner having received notice from a
DTC Participant or otherwise to notify the Beneficial Owners shall not affect the validity of the redemption.

Record Date

The record date for each payment of interest is the fifteenth day of the month preceding the interest payment date, however
if such date is not a business day, the record date will be the following business day provided that, with respect to overdue
interest, the Paying Agent may establish a special record date. The special record date may not be more than twenty (20)
days before the date set for payment. The Paying Agent will mail notice of a special record date to the Bondowners at least
ten (10) days before the special record date.

State Qualified Bonds

The Bonds constitute “qualified bonds” pursuant to Chapter 44A of the General Laws. Pursuant to Chapter 44A the City
Treasurer shall at the delivery date of the Bonds certify to the State Treasurer the maturity schedule, interest rates, and
dates of payment of debt service on such qualified bonds. The State Treasurer shall pay the debt service on qualified bonds
and after payment shall withhold from the distributable aid (as defined in Chapter 44A) payable to the City an amount which
will be sufficient to pay the debt service on the qualified bonds or, if the amount of such distributable aid in any year is
insufficient for the purpose, from any other amounts payable by the Commonwealth to the City under any provision of law.
From the time withheld by the State Treasurer, all such distributable aid or amounts so withheld and paid shall be exempt
from being levied upon, taken, sequestered, or applied toward paying the debts of the City other than for payment of debt
service on such qualified bonds.

The Commonwealth covenants in Section 8 of Chapter 44A with the purchasers, holders and owners, from time to time, of
qualified bonds that it will not repeal, revoke, rescind, modify, or amend the above described provisions so as to create any
lien or charge on or pledge, assignment, diversion, withholding of payment, or other use of or deduction from any
distributable aid or other amounts to be paid to any holder of qualified bonds which is prior in time or superior in right to the
payment required by said provisions; provided, however, that nothing therein contained shall be deemed or construed to
require the Commonwealth to continue to make payments of distributable aid or other amounts or to limit or prohibit the
Commonwealth from repealing or amending any law heretofore or hereafter enacted for the payment or apportionment of
such aid or other amounts, or of the manner, time, or amount thereof.

Chapter 44A also provides that the certification to the State Treasurer as to the amount payable in any year for debt service
on qualified bonds shall be fully conclusive as to such qualified bonds from and after the time of issuance of such qualified
bonds, notwithstanding any irregularity, omission, or failure as to compliance with any of the provisions of Chapter 44A with
respect to such qualified bonds.

Chapter 44A further provides that nothing therein shall be construed to relieve the City of the obligation imposed on it by
law to appropriate and to include in its annual tax levy amounts necessary to pay, in each year, the principal and interest
maturing and becoming due on any qualified bonds issued by the City; provided, however, that to the extent of the amounts
of distributable aid or other amounts payable to the City which have been or are to be applied to the payment of such
qualified bonds, the State Treasurer shall certify to the City Auditor the amounts so withheld and thereafter such amounts
shall be credited to the appropriations of the City for the current fiscal year; and provided, further that to the extent to which
distributable aid is not appropriated by the Commonwealth in any fiscal year, such appropriated amounts of the City shall
be used to pay the debt service maturing and becoming due in such year on such qualified bonds of the City.

Nothing in Chapter 44A shall be construed to pledge the credit and assets of the Commonwealth to the support of any
qualified bonds or to guarantee payment or stand as surety for the payment of any qualified bonds.

See "INDEBTEDNESS--Coverage of Qualified Debt Service" for a discussion of the projected coverage of qualified debt
service by state aid.
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Book-Entry Transfer System

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be
issued in fully-registered form registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One-fully registered certificate will be issued for each maturity
of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking
Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System,
a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing
for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments
(from over 100 countries) that DTC's Participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-
trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through
electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need
for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned
by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-
U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a rating from
S&P Global Ratings of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of securities deposited with DTC must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for
such securities on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each security deposited with DTC
("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the
securities deposited with DTC are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants
acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests
in securities deposited with DTC, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for such securities is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of
DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
The deposit of securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not
effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the securities deposited
with DTC; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such securities are credited,
which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping
account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine
by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in the Bonds to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to securities deposited with
DTC unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC
mails an Omnibus Proxy to the issuer of such securities or its paying agent as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts such
securities are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on securities deposited with DTC will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon
DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from City or its paying agent, on the payable date in accordance
with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer
form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its nominee), the
issuer of such securities or its paying agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
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time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the issuer of such securities or its paying agent, disbursement of such
payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to securities held by it at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the issuer of such securities or its paying agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, physical certificates are required to be printed and delivered to DTC.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, physical certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City
believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Authorization of the Bonds and Use of Proceeds

The following sets forth the principal amount, purpose, bond anticipation notes outstanding, total amount authorized, date
of City approval, and statutory authorizations for the current offering of Bonds. Proceeds of the Bonds may be transferred
or re-appropriated to other capital projects to the extent projects are completed or abandoned and such proceeds remain
unspent.

This Total Notes Total Amount Date Statutory Authority
Issue* Purpose Outstanding (2) Authorized Approved (M.G.L., as amended)
$ 10,000 Fire Station Building Improvements $ 10,000 $ 75,000 6/13/2018 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
11,000 Public Safety Communications Upgrades 11,000 6,329,022 6/11/2019 Ch.44,s.7(1)
94,512 Lord Overpass Construction 94,512 4,300,000 6/11/2019 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
75,000 Andover Street Sidewalks/ Taffic Calming 75,000 200,000 6/11/2019 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
3,409,000 Sewer Separation & Green Infrastructure 3,409,000 5,000,000 6/11/2019 Ch. 44, s.8(14)
580,000 Duck Island Wastewater Facility Upgrades 580,000 7,000,000 6/11/2019 Ch. 44,s. 8(14)
4,775,000 Sewer Legal & Engineering Services 4,775,000 12,000,000 6/11/2019 Ch. 44,s.8(14)
100,000 Westford/ Steadman Traffic Signalization 100,000 100,000 6/9/2020 Ch.44,s.7(1)
294,991 Replace/ Repair City Bridges 294,991 750,000 6/9/2020 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
2,000,000 TIGER 2,000,000 2,000,000 6/9/2020 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
4,579 Locker Room Upgrades 4,579 190,000 6/9/2020 Ch.44,s.7(1)
60,000 Convert/ Retrofit Firing Range to Evidence Storage 60,000 80,000 6/9/2020 Ch.44,s.7(1)
135,800 Lowell Fire Vehicles 135,800 150,000 6/9/2020 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
3,000,000 City-wide Paving & Sidewalk Improvements 3,000,000 3,000,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
3,000,000 Beaver Brook Bridge Construction 3,000,000 3,000,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
16,000 Clemente Field/ Lighting Improvements 16,000 500,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
183,000 City of Lowell Master Plan Update 183,000 200,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(7)
10,000 City-wide traffic and safety improvements 10,000 200,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
40,000 Lowell Police HQ Building Security Improvements 40,000 165,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
115,000 LPD Vehicle Maintenance Facility Roof Replacement 115,000 115,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
27,000 Westford/ Steadman Traffic Signalization (Additional) 27,000 100,000 6/8/2021 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
35,000 LPD Parking Area Security Improvements 35,000 35,000 6/8/2021 Ch.44,s.7(1)
2,500,000 Road & Sidewalk Improvements 2,500,000 3,860,000 6/7/2022 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
160,000 DPW Heavy Fleet/Dump Truck/Sander 160,000 250,000 6/7/2022 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
371,000 Police Department Body Worn Cameras 371,000 750,000 6/7/2022 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
724,000 Various Building Remodeling 724,000 2,258,000 6/7/12022 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
154,000 Various Parks Improvements 154,000 700,000 6/7/2022 Ch.44,s.7(1)
80,000 School Roofs - 165,000 6/12/2012 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
425,000 ADA Transition Plan - 1,202,062 6/11/2019 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
1,219,000 City-wide Paving & Sidewalk Improvements - 1,350,000 6/9/2020 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
50,000 Various School Improvements - 250,000 12/13/2022 Ch. 70B
2,000,000 Various School Building Repairs - 21,108,052 3/14/2023 Ch.70B
350,000 Purchase New Firearms - 488,000 6/21/2023 Ch. 44,s.7(1)
13,213,837 Judgement - 13,213,837 6/21/2023 Ch. 44,s.7(3)
30,000,000 Lowell High School - 381,967,231  5/8/19, amended 3/30/22 Ch. 70B
3,687,281 Refunding - - 8/8/2013 Ch.44,s.21A
$ 72,910,000 * $ 21,884,882

*Preliminary, subject to change.
(1) Payable September 29, 2023. To be retired with the Bond proceeds.
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As described above and below, a portion of the Bond proceeds will be used to a) current refund on November 1, 2023 the
City’s $9,400,000 General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2013 Bonds dated September 12, 2013,
maturing in the years 2024 through 2033, inclusive, in the aggregate principal amount of $4,050,000 (the “Refunded Bonds”)
and b) to pay costs of issuing the Bonds.

Sources and Uses of Bond Proceeds

It is anticipated that proceeds of the Bonds will be applied as follows:

SOURCES:
Par Amount of the Bonds $
Original Issue Premium
Cash Contribution
Total Sources $

USES:
Deposit to Refunding Escrow Fund $
Retire Maturing Notes
Project Fund Deposit
Underwriter's Discount
Costs of Issuance
Rounding Amount
Total Uses $

Plan of Refunding

Upon delivery of the Bonds, the City will enter into a Refunding Escrow Agreement (the “Refunding Escrow Agreement”)
with U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Refunding Escrow Agent, to provide for the refunding of the
Refunded Bonds. Upon receipt of the portion of the proceeds of the Bonds and revenue funds of the City necessary to
refund the Refunded Bonds, the Refunding Escrow Agent will deposit in the Refunding Escrow Fund established under the
Refunding Escrow Agreement an amount which will be held in cash to pay when due the redemption price of the Refunded
Bonds.

Principal Payments by Purpose*

Fiscal

Year General* Sewer* Refunding* Total*
2024 $ 763,719 $ 14,000 $ 337,281 $ 1,115,000
2025 1,785,000 150,000 420,000 2,355,000
2026 1,835,000 165,000 420,000 2,420,000
2027 1,915,000 170,000 390,000 2,475,000
2028 1,830,000 180,000 375,000 2,385,000
2029 1,900,000 195,000 350,000 2,445,000
2030 1,980,000 205,000 350,000 2,535,000
2031 2,060,000 215,000 350,000 2,625,000
2032 2,145,000 220,000 350,000 2,715,000
2033 2,245,000 230,000 345,000 2,820,000
2034 2,340,000 245,000 - 2,585,000
2035 2,455,000 255,000 - 2,710,000
2036 2,655,000 275,000 - 2,830,000
2037 2,660,000 285,000 - 2,945,000
2038 2,180,000 295,000 - 2,475,000
2039 2,115,000 310,000 - 2,425,000
2040 2,190,000 320,000 - 2,510,000
2041 2,270,000 330,000 - 2,600,000
2042 2,365,000 350,000 - 2,715,000
2043 2,425,000 360,000 - 2,785,000
2044 1,560,000 375,000 - 1,935,000
2045 1,625,000 395,000 - 2,020,000
2046 1,700,000 405,000 - 2,105,000
2047 1,755,000 425,000 - 2,180,000
2048 1,835,000 440,000 - 2,275,000
2049 1,905,000 460,000 - 2,365,000
2050 1,985,000 475,000 - 2,460,000
2051 2,060,000 500,000 - 2,560,000
2052 2,160,000 520,000 - 2,680,000
2053 1,860,000 - 1,860,000

$ 60,458,719 $ 8,764,000 $ 3,687,281 $ 72,910,000

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel to the City (“Bond Counsel”), based upon an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance with certain covenants, interest
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Bonds will not be
included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of Bondholders who are individuals. For tax years beginning
after December 31, 2022, however, interest on the Bonds will be included in the “adjusted financial statement income” of
certain corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code. Bond Counsel expresses
no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the ownership or disposition of, or the
accrual or receipt of interest on the Bonds. The Bonds will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for
purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.

The Code imposes various requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of
interest on obligations such as the Bonds. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in interest on the Bonds
being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Bonds.
The City has covenanted to comply with such requirements to ensure that interest on the Bonds will not be included in
federal gross income. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes compliance with these requirements.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Massachusetts personal
income taxes, and the Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. Bond Counsel has not opined as to
other Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. Prospective Bondholders should be aware,
however, that the Bonds are included in the measure of Massachusetts estate and inheritance taxes, and the Bonds and
the interest thereon are included in the measure of certain Massachusetts corporate excise and franchise taxes. Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion as to the taxability of the Bonds or the income therefrom or any other tax consequences
arising with respect to the Bonds under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts. A complete copy of the proposed
form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth in Appendix B hereto.

To the extent the issue price of any maturity of the Bonds is less than the amount to be paid at maturity of such Bonds
(excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable at least annually over the term of such Bonds), the difference
constitutes “original issue discount,” the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each owner thereof, is treated
as interest on the Bonds which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from
Massachusetts personal income taxes. For this purpose, the issue price of a particular maturity of the Bonds is either the
reasonably expected initial offering price to the public or the first price at which a substantial amount of such maturity of the
Bonds is sold to the public, as applicable. The original issue discount with respect to any maturity of the Bonds accrues
daily over the term to maturity of such Bonds on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded semiannually (with
straight-line interpolations between compounding dates). The accruing original issue discount is added to the adjusted
basis of such Bonds to determine taxable gain or loss upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity)
of such Bonds. Bondholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of
Bonds with original issue discount, including the treatment of purchasers who do not purchase such Bonds in the original
offering to the public at the reasonably expected initial offering price or, if applicable, the first price at which a substantial
amount of such Bonds is sold to the public.

Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount greater than the stated principal amount to be
paid at maturity of such Bonds, or, in some cases, at the earlier redemption date of such Bonds (“Premium Bonds”), will be
treated as having amortizable bond premium for federal income tax purposes and Massachusetts personal income tax
purposes. No deduction is allowable for the amortizable bond premium in the case of obligations, such as the Premium
Bonds, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, a Bondholder’s
basis in a Premium Bond will be reduced by the amount of amortizable bond premium properly allocable to such Bondholder.
Holders of Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond
premium in their particular circumstances.

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken) or events
occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance of the Bonds may adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of
interest on, the Bonds.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or
receipt of interest on, the Bonds may otherwise affect the federal or state tax liability of a Bondholder. Among other possible
consequences of ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds, the Code requires recipients
of certain social security and certain railroad retirement benefits to take into account receipts or accruals of interest on the
Bonds in determining the portion of such benefits that are included in gross income. The nature and extent of all such other
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tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status of the Bondholder or the Bondholder’s other items of income,
deduction, or exclusion. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences, and Bondholders
should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to such consequences.

Risk of Future Legislative Changes and/or Court Decisions

Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and may also be
considered by the Massachusetts legislature. Court proceedings may also be filed, the outcome of which could modify the
tax treatment of obligations such as the Bonds. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed, or actions
by a court, after the date of issuance of the Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of interest on the Bonds
or the market value or marketability of the Bonds. These adverse effects could result, for example, from changes to federal
or state income tax rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes (including replacement with another type
of tax), or repeal (or reduction in the benefit) of the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal or state
income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers. Additionally, Bondholders should be aware that future legislative actions
(including federal income tax reform) may retroactively change the treatment of all or a portion of the interest on the Bonds
for federal income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers. In all such events, the market value of the Bonds may be affected
and the ability of Bondholders to sell their Bonds in the secondary market may be reduced. The Bonds are not subject to
special mandatory redemption, and the interest rates on the Bonds are not subject to adjustment, in the event of any such
change in the tax treatment of interest on the Bonds.

Investors should consult their own financial and tax advisors to analyze the importance of these risks.
Security and Remedies

Full Faith and Credit. General obligation bonds and notes of a Massachusetts city or town constitute a pledge of its full faith and
credit. Payment is not limited to a particular fund or revenue source. Except for “qualified bonds” as described below (see
“Serial Bonds and Notes” under “INDEBTEDNESS-TYPES OF OBLIGATIONS” below) and setoffs of state distributions as
described below (see “State Distributions” below), no provision is made by the Massachusetts statutes for priorities among
bonds and notes and other general obligations, although the use of certain moneys may be restricted.

Tax Levy. The Massachusetts statutes direct the municipal assessors to include annually in the tax levy for the next fiscal year
“all debt and interest charges matured and maturing during the next fiscal year and not otherwise provided for [and] all amounts
necessary to satisfy final judgments”. Specific provision is also made for including in the next tax levy payments of rebate
amounts not otherwise provided for and payment of notes in anticipation of federal or state aid, if the aid is no longer forthcoming.

The total amount of a tax levy is limited by statute. However, the voters in each municipality may vote to exclude from the
limitation any amounts required to pay debt service on indebtedness incurred before November 4, 1980. Local voters may also
vote to exempt specific subsequent bond issues from the limitation. (See “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERTY TAXATION”
below.) In addition, obligations incurred before November 4, 1980 may be constitutionally entitled to payment from taxes in
excess of the statutory limit.

No Lien. Except for taxes on the increased value of certain property in designated development districts which may be pledged
for the payment of debt service on bonds issued to finance economic development projects within such districts, no provision is
made for a lien on any portion of the tax levy or any other moneys to secure particular bonds or notes or bonds and notes
generally (or judgments on bonds or notes) in priority to other claims. Provision is made, however, for borrowing to pay
judgments, subject to the General Debt Limit. (See “DEBT LIMITS” below.) Upon certification by the city solicitor or town council
that no appeal can or will be taken, or as otherwise required by a municipality’s charter, ordinances, or by-laws, judgments may
also be paid from available funds without appropriation and included in the next tax levy unless other provision is made. Any
such payments shall be reported to the city or town’s assessors by the city or town’s auditor or accountant (or other officer
having similar duties). The assessors shall include amounts of such payments in the aggregate appropriations assessed in the
determination of the next subsequent annual tax rate.

Court Proceedings. Massachusetts cities and towns are subject to suit on their general obligation bonds and notes and courts
of competent jurisdiction have power in appropriate proceedings to order payment of a judgment on the bonds or notes from
lawfully available funds or, if necessary, to order the city or town to take lawful action to obtain the required money, including the
raising of it in the next annual tax levy, within the limits prescribed by law. (See “Tax Limitations”under “PROPERTY TAXATION”
below.) In exercising their discretion as to whether to enter such an order, the courts could take into account all relevant factors
including the current operating needs of the city or town and the availability and adequacy of other remedies. The Massachusetts
Supreme Judicial Court has stated in the past that a judgment against a municipality can be enforced by the taking and sale of
the property of any inhabitant. However, there has been no judicial determination as to whether this remedy is constitutional
under current due process and equal protection standards.
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Restricted Funds. Massachusetts statutes also provide that certain water, gas and electric, community antenna television
system, telecommunications, sewer, parking meter and passenger ferry fee, community preservation and affordable housing
receipts may be used only for water, gas and electric, community antenna television system, telecommunications, sewer,
parking, mitigation of ferry service impacts, community preservation and affordable housing purposes, respectively; accordingly,
moneys derived from these sources may be unavailable to pay general obligation bonds and notes issued for other purposes.
A city or town that accepts certain other statutory provisions may establish an enterprise fund for a utility, health care, solid
waste, recreational or transportation facility and for police or fire services; under those provisions any surplus in the fund is
restricted to use for capital expenditures or reduction of user charges. In addition, subject to certain limits, a city or town may
annually authorize the establishment of one or more revolving funds in connection with use of certain revenues for programs
that produce those revenues; interest earned on a revolving fund is treated as general fund revenue. A city or town may also
establish an energy revolving loan fund to provide loans to owners of privately-held property in the city or town for certain energy
conservation and renewable energy projects, and may borrow to establish such a fund. The loan repayments and interest
earned on the investment of amounts in the fund shall be credited to the fund. Also, the annual allowance for depreciation of a
gas and electric plant or a community antenna television and telecommunications system is restricted to use for plant or system
renewals and improvements, for nuclear decommissioning costs, and costs of contractual commitments, or, with the approval
of the State Department of Telecommunications and Energy, to pay debt incurred for plant or system reconstruction or renewals.
Revenue bonds and notes issued in anticipation of them may be secured by a prior lien on specific revenues. Receipts from
industrial users in connection with industrial revenue financings are also not available for general municipal purposes.

State Distributions. State grants and distributions may in some circumstances be unavailable to pay general obligation bonds
and notes of a city or town in that the State Treasurer is empowered to deduct from such grants and distributions the amount of
any debt service paid on “qualified bonds” (See “Serial Bonds and Notes” under “INDEBTEDNESS-TYPES OF OBLIGATIONS”
below) and any other sums due and payable by the city or town to The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”)
or certain other public entities, including any unpaid assessments for costs of any public transportation authority (such as the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (“MBTA”) or a regional transit authority) of which it is a member, for costs of the
Massachusetts Water Resources Authority (“MWRA?”) if the city or town is within the territory served by the MWRA, for any debt
service due on obligations issued to the Massachusetts School Building Authority (‘MSBA”), or for charges necessary to meet
obligations under the Commonwealth’s Clean Water or Drinking Water Revolving Loan Programs, including such charges
imposed by another local governmental unit that provides wastewater collection or treatment services or drinking water services
to the city or town.

If a city or town is (or is likely to be) unable to pay principal or interest on its bonds or notes when due, it is required to notify the
State Commissioner of Revenue. The Commissioner shall in turn, after verifying the inability, certify the inability to the State
Treasurer. The State Treasurer shall pay the due or overdue amount to the paying agent for the bonds or notes, in trust, within
three days after the certification or one business day prior to the due date (whichever is later). This payment is limited, however,
to the estimated amount otherwise distributable by the Commonwealth to the city or town during the remainder of the fiscal year
(after the deductions mentioned in the foregoing paragraph). If for any reason any portion of the certified sum has not been paid
at the end of the fiscal year, the State Treasurer shall pay it as soon as practicable in the next fiscal year to the extent of the
estimated distributions for that fiscal year. The sums so paid shall be charged (with interest and administrative costs) against
the distributions to the city or town.

The foregoing does not constitute a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth. The Commonwealth has not agreed
to maintain existing levels of state distributions, and the direction to use estimated distributions to pay debt service may be
subject to repeal by future legislation. Moreover, adoption of the annual appropriation act has sometimes been delayed beyond
the beginning of the fiscal year and estimated distributions which are subject to appropriation may be unavailable to pay local
debt service until they are appropriated.

Bankruptcy. Enforcement of a claim for payment of principal or interest on general obligation bonds or notes would be subject
to the applicable provisions of federal bankruptcy laws and to the provisions of other statutes, if any, hereafter enacted by the
Congress or the State legislature extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon enforcement insofar as the
same may be constitutionally applied. Massachusetts municipalities are not currently authorized by the Massachusetts General
Laws to file a petition for bankruptcy under federal bankruptcy laws. In cases involving significant financial difficulties faced by
a single city, town or regional school district, however, the Commonwealth has enacted special legislation to permit the
appointment of a fiscal overseer, finance control board or, in the most extreme cases, a state receiver. In a limited number of
these situations, such special legislation has also authorized the filing of federal bankruptcy proceedings, with the prior approval
of the Commonwealth. In each case where such authority was granted, it expired at the termination of the Commonwealth’s
oversight of the financially distressed city, town or regional school district. To date, no such filings have been approved or made.
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Opinion of Bond Counsel

The successful bidder will be furnished the legal opinion of the firm of Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts (“Bond
Counsel”). The opinion will be dated and given on and will speak only as of the date of original delivery of the Bonds to the
successful bidder. The opinion will be substantially in the form presented in Appendix B.

Other than as to matters expressly set forth herein as the opinion of Bond Counsel, Bond Counsel is not passing upon and
does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of the statements made in this Official Statement and
makes no representation that they have independently verified the same.

Rating

The City has applied to S&P Global Ratings for a rating on the Bonds. Such rating, if obtained, will only reflect the rating
agency's views and will be subject to revision or withdrawal, which could affect the price and marketability of the Bonds.

Municipal Advisory Services of Hilltop Securities Inc.
Hilltop Securities Inc., Boston, Massachusetts serves as financial advisor to the City.
Continuing Disclosure

In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, as amended (the “Rule”), the City will covenant for the benefit of owners of the Bonds to provide certain
financial information and operating data relating to the City by not later than 270 days after the end of each fiscal year (the
“Annual Report”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events. Other than the City, there are no
obligated persons with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule. The covenants will be contained in a Continuing
Disclosure Certificate, the proposed form of which is provided in Appendix C. The Certificate will be executed by the signers
of the Bonds, and incorporated by reference in the Bonds.

In the past five years, the City believes that it has complied, in all material respects, with its previous undertakings
to provide annual reports and notices of significant events in accordance with the Rule. The City has implemented
procedures to assist in complying with its continuing disclosure obligations, including the additional significant
events added to SEC Rule 15¢2-12 that became effective on February 27, 2019.
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CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
General

The City of Lowell is located in Middlesex County, 25 miles northwest of Boston and approximately 5 miles south of the
New Hampshire border. Located on the Merrimack River, Lowell was the nation’s first planned industrial community and is
often referred to as the “cradle of the American Industrial Revolution”. From its early days, Lowell has been a socially diverse
community, with many of America’s immigrant groups represented in its population. This has continued in recent years with
the City becoming an important center for Khmer culture in the United States.

In June 1999, Lowell was named an All-American City by the National Civic League. The All-American City Award
recognizes exemplary grassroots community problem-solving and is given to communities that cooperatively tackle
challenges and achieve results. Lowell was chosen for its impressive work in the following areas: Community Policing, the
Mayor’s Joint Youth Commission and the City’s Asian Water Festival.

Lowell is bordered on the northwest by the Town of Tyngsborough, on the north by the Town of Dracut, on the east by the
Town of Tewksbury, and on the southwest by the Town of Chelmsford. Lowell is the population center of the Lowell MA-NH
Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (PMSA). The Lowell MA-NH PMSA is comprised of the City, the Massachusetts towns
of Billerica, Chelmsford, Dracut, Dunstable, Pepperell, Tewksbury, Tyngsborough and Westford and the Town of Pelham,
New Hampshire. Lowell has a population of approximately 115,554 (2020 U.S. Bureau of the Census) and occupies a land
area of 13.4 square miles. Lowell was incorporated as a township in 1826 and it became a City in 1836. Lowell is governed
by a nine-member elected City Council and a City Manager who is appointed by the Council. The Mayor is elected by the
members of the City Council and serves as the presiding officer of the Council. The principal executive officers of the City
are as follows:

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Title Name First Entered Office Term Expires
Mayor Sokhary Chau January 2022 December 2024
City Manager Thomas A. Golden, Jr. April 2022 Indefinite
Assistant City Manager Shawn Machado June 2022 Indefinite
Chief Financial Officer Conor Baldwin July 2014 Indefinite
Treasurer/Tax Collector Theodoros Panagiotopoulos December 2021 Indefinite
City Auditor Kelly Oakes September 2021 September 2024
City Clerk Michael Geary December 2011 August 2024

Municipal Services

The City provides general governmental services for the territory within its boundaries, including police and fire protection;
collection, recycling, and disposal of solid waste; public education; water and sewer services; street maintenance; and parks
and recreational facilities.

Water is supplied to all City residents and businesses by the municipal water department. Current daily capacity is 30
million gallons. Current average daily consumption is 14 million gallons. The City’s water treatment plant and distribution
system has been extensively rehabilitated. The City has water supply contracts with the towns of Tewksbury, Dracut,
Tyngsborough, and Chelmsford. At present, approximately 99% of the City is sewered. The City’s E.P.A. Award Winning
wastewater treatment plant, which was originally constructed in the late 1970s and rehabilitated in the late 1980s and early
1990s, has capacity for 32 million gallons per day of sewage, and currently processes 29 million gallons per day on average.
The City has contracts with the towns of Chelmsford, Dracut, Tyngsborough and Tewksbury for use of the wastewater
treatment facility.

The City currently disposes of its solid waste through a contract with Wheelabrator. (See “INDEBTEDNESS—Contractual
Obligations” below.) The City closed its solid waste landfill in 1993 and completed the capping of the landfill in December
1996. In 1992, the City implemented a voluntary recycling program for materials including paper, glass, plastics, and metal
cans. The City estimates that as a result of this program, 5,000 to 6,000 tons of solid waste is diverted annually from the
solid waste stream.

Gas, electric and cable television services are provided by established private utilities. Vocational-technical education is
provided for at the high school level by the Greater Lowell Regional Vocational Technical High School District. The Lowell
Housing Authority provides public housing. The Lowell Regional Transit Authority provides public bus transportation in
Lowell and surrounding communities. Direct commuter rail service is available to Boston.
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Corona Virus (COVID-19)

COVID-19 is a respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus not previously seen in humans. On March 10, 2020,
the Governor of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts declared a state of emergency to support the Commonwealth’s
response to the outbreak of the virus. On March 11, 2020 the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic.
On March 13, 2020, the President declared a national emergency due to the outbreak, which has enabled disaster funds
to be made available to states to fight the pandemic. On March 15, 2020, the Governor announced emergency actions
to help address the spread of the virus and as a result the City of Lowell closed all municipal buildings to the public.

Throughout fiscal year 2021, municipal facilities were closed to the public for a large portion of the year, but operations
remained intact. Throughout the pandemic, using CARES Act funding, the City has significantly increased its capacity for
remote work and ability to offer city services in a remote manner. Since the spring of 2021, all city facilities have reopened
to the public.

Pursuant to the Special Act passed by the Massachusetts Legislature in FY2020 (Ch. 53 of the Acts of 2020 — An Act to
Address Challenges Faced by Municipalities and State Authorities Resulting from COVID-19 (4/3/20)), the City of Lowell
set up a fund specifically related to COVID-19 expenses. This fund captured all costs related to the COVID-19 pandemic
and deficit spend for these costs, including but not limited to, overtime, cleaning and medical supplies, and IT equipment.
On April 23, 2020, the City received approval from the Director of Accounts to take advantage of special legislation to
deficit spend up to $644,676 in FY2020. At the close of fiscal year 2020 (6/30/2020), the City reported a deficit of
$396,934, net of grant reimbursements from HHS, to the Department of Revenue on the FY2020 balance sheet. The City
of Lowell raised $217,000 of that deficit on the 2021 tax rate recap. The remaining balance of $179,934 was raised on
the 2022 tax recap.

To further aid in balancing the budget while absorbing the impact of COVID-19 in FY2020 and FY2021, the City
Administration implemented several fiscal controls and austerity measures to reduce expenditures. These initiatives
included a hiring freeze for city-side personnel, overtime controls, and strict scrutiny of all non-essential or COVID-related
requisitions for expenditures. These controls resulted in significant turn-backs at the close of the fiscal year 2020 and
more than compensated for lost revenue in Q4 of FY2020. Additionally, the City was awarded $9,845,688 in federal
CARES Act funding through the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CvRF-MP). While not eligible for use to offset lost revenue,
the City used these funds to continue critical essential public safety and public health functions throughout the pandemic
and controlled other non-essential operating costs with the fiscal controls by management. Federal legislation extended
the date for expenditures under the CvRF-MP through 12/31/2021. The City of Lowell received the full balance of its
CARES Act allocation ($9.8 million) on November 24, 2020. Aside from public safety and public health overtime to combat
the public health crisis, many CARES Act expenditures were for technology to support remote work of the municipality.
The city issued its audited financial statements for FY2021 in March of FY2022. As of 6/30/2021, the City’s governmental
funds reported combined ending fund balance of $100.8 million, an increase of $32.1 million in comparison with the prior
year.

In May of 2021, the U.S. Department of the Treasury launched the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund,
established by the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”) of 2021 to provide $350 billion in emergency funding for state,
local, territorial and Tribal governments. The City of Lowell has received two separate funding allocations. The first, by
virtue of the City’s designation as a metropolitan city in Massachusetts is for $54,450,130. The second funding allocation
for Lowell is a component of funding provided to Middlesex County. Where county governments have been abolished
(Berkshire, Essex, Franklin, Hampden, Hampshire, Middlesex, Suffolk and Worcester), the law will keep the aid in the
state by distributing the money to the cities and towns in the county based on the municipalities’ percentage of the county
population, and communities may use the funds to supplement their direct aid.

The virus and the resulting actions by national, state and local governments has altered the behavior of businesses and
people in a manner that will have negative impacts on global and local economies for years to come. Despite these
economic pressures, the City Manager presented a balanced budget for fiscal year 2023, which was adopted by the City
Council in June of 2022.

By using the additional stimulus funds allocated to Lowell through the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”) and continuing
strict fiscal controls put in place at the onset of the pandemic, the City of Lowell has largely been able to weather the
financial storm intact. In addition to federal funding and spending controls, the overall shutdown had a direct impact on
City spending and resulted in significant savings in departmental “turn backs” at year end in FY2022. Free Cash as of
July 1, 2022 certified by the Department of Revenue was $7,860,448.

As of August 12, 2023, the City has received the total $76,009,996 from the Federal Government. $7.9 million was used
in FY21 for revenue loss, according to the calculations, and the City intends to use the standard $10 million revenue loss
allotment. Another $582,730 was spent in FY2022 for various eligible expenses such as testing and combating the public
health crisis. The remaining balance will be spent on other eligible categories in the near-term. The City has recently
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completed a robust set of community engagement sessions to solicit public input on the intentions of the residents for
how to spend the ARPA dollars. To date, the City has spent $14.5 million of AARPA funds and encumbered another
$13.8 million. The City Manager has presented a budget, approved by the City Council for expenditure of the full $76
million within the eligibility period set by the US Treasury.

The City entered the pandemic from a position of relative fiscal strength and has used the existing reserves in the City’s
stabilization funds to offset revenue losses to some degree, with a plan to replenish all drawdowns through appropriations
from Free Cash generated by the ongoing expenditure controls and revenue loss replacement with ARPA funding. The
balance of the stabilization fund was $13.9 million as of June 30, 2022. As the pandemic has subsided, for now, the City
has been able to maintain its relative fiscal strength despite the budgetary pressures and fiscal uncertainty COVID-19
placed on municipalities.

The virus, its variants and the resulting actions by national, state and local governments are continuing to alter the
behavior of businesses and people in a manner that may have negative impacts on global and local economies. There
can be no assurances regarding the extent to which COVID-19 will impact the national and state economies and,
accordingly, how it will adversely impact municipalities, including the City.

Education

The City currently operates 12 elementary schools, 6 middle schools, 2 pre-K through grade 8 schools, 5 alternative schools,
and 1 high school. Total estimated capacity of these buildings is approximately 16,800. Capacity in the High School is
approximately 4,000, compared to current enroliment of 3,101. Capacity of elementary and middle schools is approximately
13,300, compared to current enroliment of 11,299. The City authorized and borrowed $219,645,000 for school purposes
since 1990 and received Massachusetts School Building Authority (the “Authority”) approval for grants reimbursing eligible
project costs. The City also authorized an additional $44.5 million for the renovation of other schools, for which it is also
entitled to grants reimbursing eligible project costs from the Authority. In May 2019, the City authorized $340.9 million for
construction and reconstruction of a new high school. The total amount authorized for this project will be reduced to the
extent of school building grant funds paid to the City by the Massachusetts School Building Authority. The reimbursement
rate will be approximately 80% of eligible project costs. See “CITY FINANCES - State School Building Assistance” herein.

The following table sets forth the trend in public school enroliments.

Public School Enroliments — October 1,

Actuals
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Elementary (PK-4) 6,921 6,417 5,090 6,087 6,253
Middle/Junior High (5-8) 4,740 4,882 4,794 4,753 4,580
Senior High (9-12) 3,430 3,101 3,223 3,161 3,272
SP/Other 346 34 36 22 25
Totals 15,437 14,434 13,143 14,023 14,130

The City is a member of the Greater Lowell Technical High School District, which includes 4 communities: Lowell, Dracut,
Tyngsborough, and Dunstable. As of October 1, 2022, there were 1,751 students enrolled from Lowell.
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Industry and Commerce

Lowell is a city with an industrial past and currently diverse modern economy. Education and health services are the largest
sectors of the local economy representing 42 percent of total employment. Manufacturing, wholesale trade, transportation,
public utilities, professional and business services, leisure and hospitality, and government are the other key sectors of
Lowell's economy.

Over the past several decades, there has been a shift in Lowell’'s economy, from manufacturing to service-related industries
such as banking and finance, medical care, and education.

Since 2002, the U.S. Department of Labor has used the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) as the
basis for the assignment and tabulation of economic data by industry as shown below.

Calendar Year
Industry 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Construction 949 974 1,014 1,002 999
Manufacturing 3,318 3,669 3,301 2,970 2,935
Trade, Transportation & Utilities 4,126 4,096 4,236 4,021 4,294
Information 1,541 1,454 1,332 1,093 1,048
Financial Activities 1,378 1,390 1,441 1,406 1,218
Professional & Business Services 4,497 5,364 5,986 5711 6,079
Education & Health Services 16,421 16,691 16,854 15,714 15,829
Leisure & Hospitality 3,387 3,509 3,457 2,470 2,700
Other Services 1,033 1,092 998 835 866
Public Administration 1,465 1,433 1,332 1,323 1,323
Total Employment 38,115 39,672 39,951 36,545 37,291
Number of Establishments 3,319 3,566 3,611 3,872 4,106
Average Weekly Wage $ 1147  § 1186 $ 1289 § 1335 § 1,457
Total Wages $ 2273094107 $ 2446416,074 $ 2677,785390 $ 2,538,359,257 $§ 2,828,919,444

Source: Massachusetts Department of Employment and Training.
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Largest Employers

The following table sets forth the largest employers in Lowell (>100 employees) as of February 2023, excluding the City

itself.
Approximate

. Number of

Company Name Nature of Business T

Employees
Lowell General Hospital (including Saints’ Campus)* Healthcare 3,704
U-Mass Lowell Education 1,821
UKG (formerly Kronos) Software 1,806
IBM Software 1,200
Demoulas /Market Basket* Supermarket 1,094
Middlesex Community College Education 820
MA/COM Technology Solutions Electronics 553
Community Teamwork (CTI) Social Services 539
Lowell Community Health Center Healthcare 500
Aramark Corp. Hospitality/ Food Services 450
Jabra Electronics 400
D’Youville Life & Wellness Community Healthcare 407
Pridestar Trinity EMS* Healthcare 375
Enterprise Bank & Trust Financial Services 352
Commscope (former Arris and Motorola) Electronics 229
Target* Retail 220
Veoneer (former AutoLiv) * Electronics 220
Jeanne D’Arc Credit Union Financial Services 188
Northwood Rehabilitation Center* Healthcare 183
D.S. Graphics* Printing & Publishing 175
Lowe’s Home Improvements™ Retail 170
Cirtec (former Metrigraphics)* Manufacturing 143
Unwrapped Inc. Manufacturing 140
Scheidt and Bachmann* Electronics 132
Circle Home (former Visiting Nurses Assoc. of Lowell)* Healthcare 130
Rapid Micro Biosystems* Life Sciences 125
Microchip Technologies (former Microsemi Corp.)* Electronics 118
Captivate Electronics 116
Hannaford* Supermarket 11
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Federal 112
TRC Environmental Corporation Environmental 112
Fred C. Church Insurance Agency* Insurance Services 108
Evoqua Water Technologies (former Siemens)* Electronics 107
Verizon Communications 100

Source: City of Lowell Department of Planning & Development Survey, February, 2023.
*Reflects 2021-2022 job counts.

Economic Development

The City has a proactive economic development strategy to spur start-up activity for new ventures, attract new companies
and retain growing local businesses, create job opportunities, and expand the commercial/industrial tax base of the
City. The City Manager’s office spearheads these efforts in concert with the City’s Department of Planning and Development
and other institutions and organizations such as the Lowell Development and Financial Corporation (LDFC) and the Lowell
Plan. Partnerships extend to the University of Massachusetts, Lowell, Middlesex Community College, the Middlesex 3
Coalition, Entrepreneurship for All, the Entrepreneurship Center at CTl, MassHire Greater Lowell Workforce Board and
Career Center, Greater Lowell Chamber of Commerce, and many other organizations allowing for each to expand its
capacity to deliver a full-service range of business assistance. The City’s economic development success translates to over
$150 million in private investment in the past decade stemming from project certified by the Commonwealth Economic
Development Incentive Program (EDIP) and over $4.6 million in investment since 2000 in over 40 downtown retail
establishments through the City’s partnership with the LDFC.

The following summary offers an overview of the main actors in economic development in the City:
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Department of Planning & Development: The City’s Department of Planning and Development (DPD), through the
Economic Development Office, serves as the first line of entry for business related inquires in the City. The Economic
Development Office offers site finding assistance, permitting and licensing assistance, connections to financing, workforce
development and technical assistance to existing Lowell businesses and to those looking to locate in the city. Since 2000,
the Economic Development Office, working with private developers, has facilitated the rehabilitation and reoccupancy of
over 3,000,000 square feet of vacant downtown buildings. The DPD has also championed urban renewal and revitalization
through initiatives like The Acre Plan, the Jackson/ Appleton/ Middlesex Streets Revitalization Plan (JAM Plan), the Hamilton
Canal Innovation District Project (HCID), and the Ayer’s City Industrial Park (ACIP). DPD also maintains close working
relationships with the partners listed below as well as others throughout the community.

Awards & Recognition: The City of Lowell received the “2019 Small Business Friendly Community Award” from Partner
America-The Mayors Small Business Initiative (part of the U.S. Conference of Mayors). This award illustrates the strong
partnerships between the City and local economic development organizations resulting in wraparound services to our local
small business community. Also, in fall of 2018, Lowell’s Canalway Cultural District was recognized by the American
Planning Association as a “Great Neighborhood.”

The Lowell Development and Financial Corporation (LDFC) is a non-profit development corporation created in 1975 by
an Act of the Massachusetts Legislature to assist in the economic revitalization of Lowell. Since then the LDFC has financed
more than 200 projects citywide, totaling more than $85M in development. Among the programs supported through the
LDFC are loans in support of the renovation of commercial and industrial properties city-wide, renovation of mixed-use
properties in the neighborhoods, and energy efficiency retrofits of historic properties in the downtown. The LDFC also
provides zero-interest loans to first time homebuyers in the form of down payment assistance. The Downtown Venture
Fund program, created in collaboration with the City of Lowell, offers loans targeted to new and existing businesses that
enhance the economic vitality of Downtown. The boundaries of this program were recently expanded to include portions of
commercial districts adjacent to the Downtown as well as the concentration of artists at Western Avenue Studios. In
furtherance of the City’s efforts to support its growing community of entrepreneurs, the LDFC created two additional
programs: The Launch in Lowell program, assisting start-up businesses associated with Lowell Makes and the EforAll
Accelerator program; and the Incubator Loan Fund, providing loans to entrepreneurs affiliated with the UMass Lowell
Innovation Hub or M2D2 programs. The LDFC's strong partnership with the City of Lowell and local lending institutions
continues to play an instrumental role in the city’s revitalization.

The Lowell Plan, Inc. is a private, non-profit economic development corporation founded in 1979 to assist the city in
advancing various economic and community development projects. Privately funded, it has raised over $7 million since its
inception, investing those funds in a variety of ways to help stimulate economic, cultural, education and quality of life
initiatives, often in cooperation with city, state and federal partners. A key role of the Lowell Plan is to provide a regular
forum for private and public sector representatives to discuss and develop consensus on strategies for revitalizing Lowell.

Its broad mission allows for a quick response to city-wide priorities like implementing a marketing plan, advocating for a new
high school, or proposing a change in the traffic pattern for downtown. The Lowell Plan recently completed a new strategic
plan for the organization, recommitting to the fostering dialogue among key public and private stakeholders. The plan
outlines the following guiding principles: 1) promote change through visioning and collaborative planning; 2) focus on
economic development advantages and innovations; and 3) support of educational civic engagement initiatives. In 2022,
The Lowell Plan was a key partner and supporter of “Mosaic Lowell”, a new cultural economy plan for the City of Lowell,
formally launched in October 2022. This plan coordinated arts, cultural, and creative economy strategy that will support the
growth and vitality of Lowell’s arts and cultural industry, the creatives who make it possible, and all businesses and residents
who benefit from it. The goals of Mosaic Lowell can be summarized as follows: 1) enhance the quality of life for Lowell
residents; 2) support locally owned businesses; 3) celebrate diverse cultural practices and traditions; and 4) bring new and
more people to experience Lowell. Other key partners of this plan are: The Barr Foundation; The Greater Lowell Community
Foundation; the Lowell National Historical Park; and TOMO 360.

Lowell National Historical Park: The Lowell National Historical Park was established in 1978 by an Act of Congress to
recognize Lowell's unique contribution to the American Industrial Revolution and to preserve and interpret key physical
elements of 19" century manufacturing. Over the last three decades, the Park has been developed according to a plan
approved by the Secretary of the Interior, and over $170 million has been invested to preserve its historic assets. The
Park’s major exhibit at the Boott Cotton Mills and the Tsongas Industrial History Center is a focal point of the Park and
provides a comprehensive view of the Park’s themes. The Park is currently working with the City to design and construct a
major multi-million dollar Canalway and Riverwalk Development Project financed by both public and private sources that
will enhance the City’s 5.6-mile historic canal system.
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University of Massachusetts Lowell: The University of Massachusetts Lowell is an active partner in the City’s economic
development strategy. The rapid growth of the University has fueled local demand for housing and services and the
associated construction boom has generated significant jobs and spending in the local economy. In addition, the
University’s expanding research and development programs have a mutually beneficial relationship with local technology
businesses. In the fall of 2012, UMass Lowell completed the construction of the Emerging Technologies and Innovation
Center, a $70 million, 84,000 square foot building on North Campus, which houses nanotechnology, plastics engineering,
biomedicine, and electro-optics. To support the ongoing growth of North Campus, a new 550-space parking garage was
also completed. In the fall of 2013 on South Campus, a new $40 million, 69,000 square foot Health & Science building and
new student housing, Riverview Suites, a $42 million dollar project with approximately 500 beds, was completed. In 2014
on East Campus, the University Suites, a 148,000 square foot building with 472 additional beds, was completed.

UMass Lowell solidified its role in downtown revitalization by making three major real estate acquisitions: the former
Doubletree Hotel, the Tsongas Arena, and the former Saint Joseph’s Hospital on upper Merrimack Street. The purchase
and rehabilitation of the hotel represents a total investment of $19 million dollars that brought over 300 students to the
downtown and will boost the local economy. Renamed the UMass Lowell Inn & Conference Center, the hotel includes 31
fully-renovated, inn-style guest rooms as well as 200 seasonal hotel- style rooms. The transformed Conference Center is
also open all year for various public/private functions. In February 2010, UMass invested over $5 million and reenergized
Lowell’'s 6,500 seat downtown arena as the Tsongas Center and is currently soliciting developer interest in the adjacent 3
acre riverfront parcel. The former St. Joseph'’s Hospital site was redeveloped as University Crossing, which houses student
services, campus police, the campus store, dining services, and university administration. This 300,000 square foot building
opened to students in the fall of 2014.

In June of 2015, UMass Lowell celebrated the opening of their new Innovation Hub at 110 Canal in Hamilton Canal District.
The Innovation Hub supports entrepreneurs and start-ups with premium office space, co-working space, equipment,
programs, and services. Currently, the I-Hub has over 20 new start-ups. The site is also home of the Massachusetts Medical
Device Development (M2D2) Center on the 4" floor. The 15t and 2" and floors have been recently occupied to house the
UML Fabrics Discovery Center, a R&D and business incubator for “smart fabrics “and the NERVE Center. This project alone
represents an investment of $11.3 million. The Fabric Innovation Center will spur future innovation and allow new
technologies from R&D stage to commercialization.

In the April 2017, UMass Lowell celebrated the opening of the Pulichino Tong Building, the new home of the Manning School
of Business. $45M was invested in the 54,000 square foot facility which modern style classrooms, a trading room, a
behavioral research lab, a business analytics lab; and collaborative spaces in the heart of the north campus.

In January of 2019, Umass Lowell reopened Perry Hall after a $50M renovation project. Perry Hall features eight new labs
(3 teaching and five research) for biomedical, chemical and environmental engineering, as well as biomanufacturing and
clean energy. Dedicated co-location spaces, meanwhile, will enable the university to expand its industry partnerships. In
addition to a gut renovation of the building’s existing 47,825 square foot of space, the project includes the addition of 5,600
square feet of new space on the reopened fourth floor, which now connects to adjacent Ball Hall.

UMASS Lowell Enroliment Trends

Continuing Total
Year Undergraduate  Graduate Education  Enrollment
2022 10,402 4,944 1,989 17,335
2021 10,781 4,978 2,104 17,863
2020 11,309 4,018 3,042 18,369
2019 11,545 3,608 1,857 18,338
2018 11,468 4,239 2,537 18,244

Source: UMass Lowell

In the fall of 2022, UMass Lowell announced the selection of a master developer to assist the university with the development
of approximately 10-acres of land, consisting of five parcels on UMass Lowell's East Campus. This site is anchored by two
major attractions, the 7,800-seat Tsongas Center and the 5,000-seat LeLacheur baseball stadium. This site is prime for
approximately 1M sq. ft., mixed-used development consisting of commercial office/ R&D facilities, hospitality, student
housing, other residential and retail space.
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Middlesex Community College (MCC): This state-supported community school opened its Lowell campus in 1991 at the
Wang Training Center building located at the Lower Locks area of the Central Business District representing a total
investment cost of approximately $12.5 million dollars. Since then, the college has expanded its facilities and has occupied
other buildings in the downtown area including the Morse Federal Building on East Merrimack St and the historic Pollard
Exchange building on Middle Street in affiliation with the Middlesex Academy Charter School. This purchase resulted in the
expansion of the college’s health and science programs as well as the Charter school’s capacity to serve local students
who have left high school before graduating or face risks of dropping out. In the fall of 2018 MCC opened the Richard and
Nancy Donahue Family Academic Arts Center. Located in the former Boston and Maine Railroad Depot, also known as the
historic “Rialto Building” the Arts Center houses the College’s performing arts programs. Currently, MCC offers more than
75 associate degree and certificate programs.

The following table sets forth the trend in MCC'’s enroliments.

Year Enrollment*
2022 10,726
2021 10,348
2020 10,694
2019 10,939
2018 11,217

Data Source: Middlesex Community College, February, 2023.
*Enroliment is for both Lowell & Bedford Campuses, since the majority of students take classes on both campuses.

Financial Incentives and Technical Assistance

Small Business Assistance: The Economic Development Office provided with over $1M in direct financial assistance to
Lowell's small, independently owned businesses that have been most significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. A
total of 168 grants were awarded of up to $10,000 each from 2020-2022.

Most recently, the Economic Development Office has created a suite of programs that align with the City of Lowell’'s
American Recovery Act (“ARPA”) framework, which was endorsed by the Lowell City Council in October 2022. ARPA is
intended to address the negative health and economic impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, and these programs
are tailored to the specific needs of Lowell's small businesses. Details on each program are as follows:

Storefront Improvement Program (SIP): The Storefront Improvement Program provides matching grants to property
owners or tenants seeking to renovate or restore ground-floor commercial building exterior facades. The Program seeks to
increase accessibility into storefronts, improve the physical appearance of independent businesses, and enhance the
commercial districts of Lowell.

Economic Resilience Grant Program (ERG): The Economic Resilience Grant Program is open to businesses located in
Lowell that have a vision for their future and are seeking financial support to make it happen. The program will provide funds
to a variety of businesses that were disproportionately impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

Project Pop-Up (POP): Project Pop-Up is an initiative created to revitalize Lowell’s Downtown. By hiring a firm to curate a
pop-up space in Lowell’s central business district, this program will create a retail incubator space, creating a pipeline for
more retailers to establish themselves in Downtown Lowell on a long-term basis.

Technical Assistance and Workshops (TA): The Economic Development Office will hire consultants to host a series of
workshops that will be open to any business owner located or interested in opening a business in Lowell. Workshop topics
will be germane to local business and consumer demands, including Branding, Digital Marketing, and Financial
Management.

A total of $1.5M is projected to be spent in all of the programs aforementioned.

Economic Development Incentive Program/TIF’s: Under the Commonwealth’s Economic Development Incentive
Program (EDIP), the City of Lowell has designated seventeen (17) Economic Opportunity Areas (EOA) in which the City
can offer tax increment finance agreements. Businesses, which execute such agreements with the City, are also eligible for
investment tax credits from the state. To date, more than 30 projects have been approved as Certified Projects under the
EDIP Program, representing more than $400M in private investment in Lowell. Past TIF agreements include Cross Point
(Motorola Mobility), Nobis Engineering, PrideStar EMS, Tremont Yard LLC. (Jeanne D’Arc Credit Union), HB Software
Solutions, Metrigraphics, Markley Group, Somerset Industries, Kronos, Inc., M/A-COM Technology Solutions, Inc., and
Plenus Group. Combined these companies are creating/retaining well over 4,500 jobs in the City.
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Opportunity Zones (0Z): Opportunity Zones are a new community development program established by the United States
Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 to encourage long-term investments in low-income urban and rural
communities nationwide. The Opportunity Zones program provides a tax incentive for investors to re-invest their unrealized
capital gains into Qualified Opportunity Funds (QOFs) that are dedicated to investing into Opportunity Zones designated by
the chief executives of every U.S. state and territory. The Economic Development Office spearheaded a process whereby
a total of five (5) Lowell census tracts were designated as Opportunity Zones, including most of the City’s downtown, the
Hamilton Canal Innovation District (HCID) and a main commercial corridor along Rt. 110, which includes key commercial
assets such as the headquarters for MACOM and Cross Point. The Economic Development Office will continue to promote
this program to developers and investors.

The Downtown Venture Fund: The City, in conjunction with the LDFC and several other banking institutions in the City,
formed the Downtown Venture Fund in 2000. The fund offers low interest loans to businesses seeking to locate or expand
in the downtown area, and offers loans of up to $100,000 with flexible repayment options that include no payments in the
first year. To date, the project has been a tremendous success, financing 46 new businesses in Downtown resulting in the
creation of over eighty (80) new jobs and a total investment of over $4.6 million dollars. The total leveraged private
investment is estimated at $2.1 million.

Small Business Retention Program: Recognizing a need to address challenges faced by existing, established
businesses, the Economic Development office, in collaboration with our partners at the Entrepreneurship Center at CTI
(former Merrimack Valley Small Business Center), launched a new program in 2016, to provide technical assistance and
financial support to businesses that have been operating for at least three years. The intent of this program is to help
businesses that may be wishing to expand or need assistance in creating or maximizing growth opportunities in Lowell. The
program is geared primarily toward store-front businesses, though some service related industries may be eligible. Technical
assistance in the form of marketing, bookkeeping/accounting, legal, and industry-specific consultations are provided.
Financial assistance to implement recommendations of these services and/or assist with expansion or relocation of the
business within Lowell rounds out the program. The program is funded through the CDBG program. Up to $10,000 in loan
funds is made available to each eligible business. These loans are forgivable as long as the business remains in Lowell for
a minimum of three years. To date, twelve (12) businesses have participated in this program. This program received funding
for fiscal year 2022/23 and the Economic Development office will continue to assist more businesses.

Small Business Relocation Program: The intent of this program is to assist either existing Lowell businesses wishing to
relocate and expand within Lowell or outside businesses looking to relocate to Lowell. Up to $10,000 in loan funds is made
available to each eligible business to assist with relocation expenses. To date, five (5) businesses participated in this
program. The Economic Development Office is currently working with one (1) additional business looking to relocate within
Lowell and expand its operations. This program received funding for fiscal year 2022/23 and the Economic Development
office will continue to assist more businesses.

Small Business Marketing Grants: In 2019, the Economic Development Office partnered with a local marketing consultant
“TOMO 360" to provide a free, four-part marketing workshop, to Lowell-based small businesses, including: restaurants,
retail stores, service-based businesses, small-scale manufacturers, and startups. At total of twelve (12) Lowell businesses
participated and successfully completed all four classes, becoming eligible to apply for a $2,000 grant to implement their
marketing strategies. A total of eight (8) grants totaling $16,000 were awarded in 2019.

Sign & Fagade Program: This program is funded through the City’'s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
program and provides commercial property owners and businesses with financial support and design assistance for the
renovation of commercial building facades that will have a significant impact in strengthening the City’s neighborhood
business districts and downtown commercial center by enhancing the exterior appearance of commercial properties and
preserving the character of our neighborhood streetscapes.

Technical Assistance to Small and Minority owned businesses: The City works in partnership with the Greater Lowell
Chamber of Commerce, the Greater Lowell Workforce Investment Board (WIB), the Entrepreneurship Center @ CTI,
UMASS-Lowell, Middlesex Community College, Entrepreneurship for All (EforALL), Cambodian Mutual Assistance Assoc.
(CMAA), Coalition for a Better Acre (CBA), and the local business community to foster not only new business development,
but also minority and small business development.

Downtown Vacant Storefront Program: The Economic Development Office in spring of 2019 submitted an application to
the Massachusetts Office of Business Development to establish a “Vacant Storefront District” in Downtown Lowell. This
program provides state tax credits of up to $10,000 to businesses that occupy eligible storefronts that have been vacant for
12 months or more within a pre-designated geographic area. The Lowell “Vacant storefront District” was approved by the
state late in 2019; therefore, retail/ restaurant tenants occupying vacant storefronts will be eligible for state tax credits. To
date, one (1) project: “Little Delights” a local bakery that expanded into a vacant storefront, has received state tax credits
under this program.
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Community Choice Power Supply Program: The City of Lowell is a municipal aggregator, allowing the City to
competitively procure a lower cost electricity supply. This often allows the municipality to obtain better pricing than individual
ratepayers due to economies of scale. Lowell's Community Choice Power Supply Program has secured a locked-in
electricity supply rate of 14.4449 cents/kWh. The City's aggregation also includes 45% more voluntary Class | Renewable
Energy Certificates. This might be helpful for companies that have carbon neutral goals or goals to source 100% of electricity
from renewable sources. Currently, these voluntary RECs put Lowell's total supply at 67% renewable energy.

MassDevelopment Property Assessed Cleaned Energy (PACE) Program: In 2022 the City entered into an agreement
with MassDevelopment, the state’s lending agency to administer the PACE Program Citywide. The PACE offers attractive
financing to property owners of commercial, industrial and multi-residential properties to make substantial energy
improvements such as but not limited to: new energy efficient windows; roof; insulation; HVAC systems; solar panels; and
LED lighting. The City’s Economic Development office is currently working with MassDevelopment in several local
development projects.

The Housing Development Incentive Program (HDIP): In June 2012 the Patrick administration unveiled the Housing
Development Incentive Program (HDIP), a new state tax-credit program administered under the Department of Housing
and Community Development aimed at creating more market-rate housing in 24 Gateway Cities, such as Lowell. This new
program was created to serve as a development tool for Gateway Cities to increase residential growth, expand diversity of
housing stock, support economic development, and promote neighborhood stabilization. The City of Lowell promptly
became the second Gateway City to have a Housing Development Plan and Zone approved under the program. As a result,
Lowell now offers projects that propose to create market-rate housing a state tax credit of up to 10 percent of qualified
rehabilitation costs and a partial abatement of the local property tax increment generated by the investment. This program
will strengthen the City’s ongoing efforts to rehabilitate vacant and underutilized upper stories of Downtown buildings with
housing that will help grow the City’s tax base and introduce additional purchasing power for local shops and restaurants.
To date, five (5) projects received full DHCD approval: 24 Merrimack Street, “The Adden Building” at 109 Jackson Street;
the “Edge of the Merrimack” at 1 Merrimack Plaza; “Thorndike Exchange- Phase 1", by Lupoli Companies and “Waterhead”
project at 850 Lawrence Street. One (1) more market-rate residential project, “Thorndike Exchange- Phase II”, has recently
received DHCD approval. These projects represent over $150M in private investment, 425 new housing units, and over
$5M in projected net new taxes to the City.

The Urban Center Housing Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Program (UCH-TIF): This is a State statutory program
authorizing cities and towns in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to promote housing and commercial development.
The UCH-TIF Program provides real estate exemptions on all or part of the increased value (the "Increment") of improved
real estate. Tax increment financing may be combined with grants and loans from local, state and federal development
programs. The Department of Housing & Community Development's (DHCD) Division of Community Services is responsible
for the operation and administration of the UCH-TIF Program. In 2019 the Department of Planning & Development submitted
a UCH-TIF Plan and Zone to the State for review and approval. The Lowell UCH-TIF Plan and Zone were approved later in
2019 providing the City with another economic development incentive tool to promote residential and mixed-use
development. The implementation of the Lowell UCH-TIF Plan and Zone enabled WinnDevelopment to enter into a TIF
agreement with the City for the construction of 125 new residential units in the Hamilton Canal Innovation District, a total
project investment of approx. $50M. This project has recently been completed.

Lowell First Time Homebuyer Program: The City has achieved significant success in the past few years in recruiting and
retaining employers in the high-tech, advanced manufacturing, and other fast-growth industries. These employers pay high
wages and are required, when receiving local incentives from the City, to hire Lowell residents to fill open positions. To
encourage high-wage earning employees of Lowell-based businesses to live in the City, the Lowell Development Financial
Corporation (LDFC) created a homebuyer incentive program that places a maximum cap of $147,420 on the household
income to qualify for the program. A no-interest loan for 2.5% of the purchase price (based upon a 5% down payment
requirement) of a home by a first-time homebuyer. The program pays half of the down-payment costs, up to $5,000 to the
homebuyers. This is a zero-interest loan with payments deferred for the first five years. In addition, MassHousing offers
10% of the home sale price up to $50,000 in down payment assistance for households earning up to $179,955 per year.
Not only does this incentive serve as another tool the City can use in its business recruitment efforts, but it demonstrates
our aggressive efforts to increase the average median income of households living in Lowell.
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Development Projects and Plans

Complementing the City’s economic development activities are numerous development projects and plans. Some of the
more significant development projects are described below:

Cross Point: The former site of the Wang Towers continues to be a highly successful office complex at the juncture of
Routes 3 and Interstate 495. The first tenant of the 1.2 million square feet Towers was NYNEX, which occupied over 95,000
square feet and employed 425 people on site as part of its consolidation. The City provided a $3 million tax increment
financing (TIF) agreement which leveraged $60 million in private investment. Three years ago, the City provided a 20-year
TIF to Motorola, which brought over 500 employees to this location and represented $18 million dollars in private investment.
In 2010, DiagonsisOne, a healthcare information technology company, moved its headquarters from Nashua, NH to Cross
Point. In 2012, PlumChoice, a provider of "premium" tech support for customers of companies including Hewlett-Packard,
AT&T and Verizon relocated its headquarters from Billerica to Cross Point, occupying 38,000 square feet of class A office
space. With annual revenues exceeding $100 million a year, PlumChoice added 350 employees to Lowell's workforce. In
2014 Verizon announced the consolidation of its operations and expansion at Cross Point, significantly increasing its
occupancy rate and increasing employment at this location by approximately 1,500 employees. In 2015, Jabra, a world
leader in the development, manufacturing and marketing of audio devices, relocated its headquarters from Manchester, NH
to Cross Point. The company occupies 35,000 square feet and relocated approximately 100 employees to Lowell. Jabra
has 925 employees worldwide and in 2014 had revenues exceeding $400 million dollars. Cross Point has been under new
ownership and management since June of 2014, and as of January 2018, the property 2018, the property again changed
hands. Anchor Line Partners and Farallon Capital Management, LLC had purchased Cross Point for $100 million dollars,
before selling for the property to CrossHarbor Capital Partners for $227M. Anchor Line and Farralon Capital Management
had recently completed significant physical improvements to common areas to include updated amenities such as: a
renovated cafeteria, a new fitness center, a new on-site day care facility, recreational space for activities such as indoor
golf, and a full service restaurant, the popular “Tavern in the Square” which opened to the general public in the spring of
2016. In May 2016 Kronos, Inc. announced its plans to relocate its headquarters from Chelmsford to the Cross Point Towers.
This move represents an additional investment at Cross Point of over $50 million ($40M directly invested by Kronos). Kronos
relocated and opened its new headquarters at Cross Point in the fall of 2018 bringing over 1,600 employees to Lowell. An
additional 500 new positions are expected to be added over the next five years. In 2020, Kronos announced the purchase
of “Ultimate Software” and rebranded the company with the new name of “UKG (Ultimate Kronos Group).UKG is the world
leader in cloud-based workforce management software with over 4,200 employees worldwide. In 2021, IBM announced the
lease of approx. 150,000 square feet at CrossPoint resulting in the relocation of over 800 high-paying jobs to Lowell in
March of 2022. Currently, IBM has 1,200 employees at CrossPoint (Feb. 2023).

Wannalancit Mills: This historic downtown mill complex has been redeveloped with more than 500,000 square feet of
office, research, and technology space. Approximately two-thirds of the complex is privately owned, leased, and managed
by Farley White Interests. This property is home to a diverse group of engineering, research, green technology, and
construction companies, among others. The balance of the property is owned by UMass Lowell and houses both
administrative offices and a technology incubator focused on the manufacture of medical devices.

Boott Mills: This historic mill complex located in the heart of Downtown has been fully redeveloped into a mix of residential
and commercial space. WinnDevelopment, completed 77,000 square feet of class-B office space, at Boott Mills West. In
addition, WinnDevelopment expanded their administrative offices into Boott Mills relocating approximately 70 employees
from Boston to Downtown Lowell. In 2017, Farley White Interests, the owner of Wannalancit Mills, purchased a portion of
the mill complex, “Boott Mills South” and the former Cotton Warehouse, transforming the space into commercial space.

Cross River Center: Located at 1001 Pawtucket Boulevard, this R&D complex underwent significant changes in 2015.
Now owned and managed by Farley White Interests, this complex is home to some of the most innovative and high-tech
companies in Lowell, such a Veonner (former Autoliv), a developer and manufacturer of a developer, manufacturer, and
supplier of automotive safety systems. Originally constructed by Wang Laboratories in 1981, the 3-story property has been
transformed into a multi-tenant project for first class office and R&D space. At 836,000 square feet, Cross River Center
offers abundant space for a wide range of operations from a call center to pharmaceutical/research to medical device
manufacturing and more. Its 7,000 square foot full-service cafeteria, conference facilities, fithess center and ample loading
capacity provides significant added value for tenants. Cirtec (former Metrigraphics), a leading worldwide supplier of ultra-
high, precision, custom micro components for original equipment manufacturers moved into Cross River Center in 2014.
Their move from Wilmington to Lowell brought more than 100 new jobs to the City and more than $5M in private investment.
In October 2016 Scheidt and Bachmann, one of the largest providers of fare collection and parking solutions in the U.S
relocated their operations from Burlington to Cross River Center, occupying 72,000 square-feet and relocating over 100
jobs to Lowell., When asked about choosing Lowell, senior executives at Scheidt and Bachmann noted the City’'s “growing
reputation as a hub for business development” as one of the key factors in their decision.
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Former Prince Spaghetti site: In 2015, Markley Group, Inc. purchased the former Prince Spaghetti site and announced
the construction of their suburban cloud-computing and data center here in Lowell at this 16-acre vacant and blighted
industrial site. This project represents at total of approximately $200 million in private investment, with a creation of up to
100 jobs, one of the biggest economic development projects in Lowell’s recent history. This project has received approval
from the Planning Board. Markley’s proposal is to renovate the 350,000 square-foot industrial building to include a new
facade, a new fourth story, and significant infrastructure upgrades to the building to include fiber-optic cable, generators
and cooling equipment. This project also received strong support by city officials, who approved a 20-year Tax Increment
Financing (TIF) Agreement with Markley Group. This project will generate an estimated $12 million in new taxes, above and
beyond the baseline, during the 20-year period, or an average of approximately $603,000 per year. Phase | has been
completed.

Thorndike Exchange: In 2014 Lupoli Companies purchased the former Thorndike Factory Outlet on Thorndike Street and
is redeveloping the building as a transit-oriented mixed-use project. Thorndike Exchange promises a mix-use development
with commercial and residential uses adjacent to the Gallagher Terminal and MBTA commuter rail service. The $50M project
will include the historic rehabilitation of the existing mill building (completed in 2018) as well as new construction using
modern materials to complement Lowell’s historic downtown. The entire project is expected to include 140 units of market
rate rental units, approximately 14,500 sf of restaurant/function space, and 3,000 sf of commercial office space.

Connector Park: In 2015 KS Partners purchased two commercial towers in the City’s Highlands neighborhood,
representing 199,783 sf of class A office space along with an adjacent vacant parcel. In addition to maintaining the
commercial property, the site was approved for 240 new market-rate residential units. This project represents an investment
of $40M and it is the largest single market- rate residential development in City’s history. At the request of the City, the
Developer agreed to a stipulation that should they sell the building a tax-exempt entity in the future that the entity enters
into a payment in lieu of taxes with the City. This project was completed in 2021.

Vision Properties: In July 2016, Vision Properties purchased the former headquarters of Lowell Five Cent Savings Bank
at 1 Merrimack Plaza, with the intent to build 156 units of private dormitory space. Since then, the developer invested over
$40M to demolish the former bank headquarters and rebuild a new state-of-the-art private dorm. The project successfully
opened for the 2017-2018 academic year.

Major Retail Developments: Two of the nation’s largest retailers have opened new stores in Lowell: Lowe’'s Home
Improvement, and Target. Lowe’s currently employs 145 people, most are local residents. Target has 120 employees to
date. In January of 2012, New York Real Estate and Management Co. purchased Target-Anchored Meadow Brook Center.

The new owners, whose portfolio consists of over 200 premium properties and who regularly works with high profile national
tenants, is retaining several existing tenants and attracted new tenancies such as Marshalls. Comcast recently completed
a new building at Meadow Brook Center to serve as its customer service center.

In addition, The Sunrise Plaza on Bridge Street has been completely renovated and filled, including the expansion of the
anchoring Market Basket, retention of several strong existing tenants. A new 14,157 square foot building was also
constructed in the southern side of the plaza to house Walgreens. A second Walgreens was completed at 1765 Middlesex
Street. A new retail plaza was also completed at 812 Gorham St and is the new home of O’'Reilly Auto Parts and Dollar
Tree. At 150 Wood St., a new Lowell Five branch has been completed as well as a new retail plaza housing a Dental Office
and retail. A new, 72,500 square foot Market Basket supermarket has been completed at 705 Pawtucket Boulevard, in the
Pawtucketville neighborhood. In addition to a grocer, this commercial development includes 12,000 square feet of additional
retail space. The project also includes ancillary landscape, parking, stormwater management and utility improvements. This
project represents an investment of over $15M and will generate $175K in annual property taxes. In addition, it has created
over 300 jobs.

Acre Urban Revitalization and Development Plan: In 1999, the City adopted a state-designated Chap. 121B urban
renewal plan to comprehensively revitalize the Acre neighborhood including significant housing rehabilitation, new
commercial development, job creation, and major public infrastructure improvements. Implementation of the Plan has
resulted in the construction of a new retail complex area with a municipal senior center, a new middle school, over 300 units
of new or renovated affordable and market rate housing, public parking, underground utilities, period lighting, new canal
walkways with improved open space, and new or expanded commercial development to both generate and retain jobs in
the neighborhood. Additional infrastructure and open space improvements are ongoing. Habitat for Humanity of Greater
Lowell, Inc. recently completed both a new public park and a new duplex, bringing their total construction up to 10 affordable
housing units on four separate sites. In addition, the City is working with Broadway Street Holdings, Inc. to redevelop nearly
2 acres of land by the Stocklosa School for mixed-use redevelopment. Brownfield assessment funds are being utilized to
identify potential commercial and/or residential development opportunities. The Acre Plan has generated over $63 million
in private investment, created over 250 jobs, and generated over $350,000 in new annual tax revenue. It is frequently cited
by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as a successful model for urban renewal in MA. Last November, The City Council
voted to extend the plan for 10 years, extending the plan to January 2030.
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Jackson/Appleton/Middlesex Urban Revitalization and Development District (JAM Plan): Following decades of
disinvestment and recognizing the need for substantial and direct public sector involvement, the Lowell City Council adopted
the Jackson/Appleton/Middlesex Urban Revitalization and Development District, or JAM Plan, in early 2000. The plan was
created in order to inject life into the redevelopment of the neighborhood that is located adjacent to the heart of Downtown
Lowell. Since the creation of the state approved and locally adopted urban renewal district (Chap. 121B), a wave of public
and private improvements and investments have materialized in the JAM Plan neighborhood, which continues to be an area
ripe with redevelopment opportunities. The JAM Plan’s mid-way point is also highlighted by the completion of the
$42,000,000 new home of the Lowell Community Health Center on Jackson Street. LCHC has completed Phase 2 in the
adjacent mill space with new vision and dental services, now occupying approximately 165,000 square feet of space.

Building on the success of infrastructure improvements such as construction of the Early garage, a 900 space structured
parking development with ground floor retail, and the conversion of Middlesex Street to two-way traffic operation to support
neighborhood business, the City continues to support targeted redevelopment or rehabilitation of a number of smaller
properties along Middlesex, Appleton, summer and Gorham Streets. Lowell Community Charter School has recently
purchased nearly an acre of vacant property on Middlesex Street for expansion and possible creation of a school
playground/field house. The District is also home to Mill No. 5, a privately owned/managed incubator space for retailers,
attracting hundreds of people to weekend markets and events. Other planned improvements include the $25 million redesign
and reconstruction of the adjacent Lord Overpass; a project that will improve multi-modal transportation access to the JAM
area, expected to be completed in the fall of 2023, and a 5-story, 24-unit development (new construction) at 160 Middlesex
Street that will be completed by fall of 2023.

Hamilton Canal Innovation District: The most exciting and comprehensive initiative in the JAM Plan is the redevelopment
of the Hamilton Canal Innovation District. This project will result in the creation of a new mixed-use transit-orientated
neighborhood reconnecting Downtown Lowell with the City’s transportation infrastructure at the Gallagher Intermodal Transit
Center and the Lowell Connector highway. As part of the redevelopment efforts, the City completed a highly inclusive public
planning process which resulted in a fully entitled master plan for the Hamilton Canal Innovation District redevelopment.

In spring 2011, the redevelopment of the Appleton Mills into 130 units of artist housing was completed. This project is now
a fully occupied creative community. The District’s first commercial office space recently opened in the historic 110 Canal
Street property boasting 54,000 square feet of space. UMass Lowell took full occupancy of the building for the Innovation
Hub, expansion of the Massachusetts Medical Device Development (M2D2) and their Fabric Discovery Center in the first
two floors of the building. Infrastructure construction has been completed on the south side of the site to provide access
and utility services for 110 Canal as well as for the next 6 development parcels. After making a successful application to the
Commonwealth’s MassWork Infrastructure Grant program and federal EDA program, the City undertook a $7,200,000
infrastructure improvement project by constructing new streets and utility service on the north side of the district which was
completed by the summer of 2020. In December of 2020, the City also completed a 903-space, six-story parking garage in
the Hamilton Canal Innovation District. A second, privately-owned garage, containing 535 spaces, will be completed this
year (2023). Combined these new projects will result in more than $50M in new public investment in the District.

As outlined in the Hamilton Canal Innovation District Master Plan, the redevelopment effort represents a $700-$800 million
investment that will create nearly 2 million square feet of new building space. Additionally, the Massachusetts Division of
Capital Asset Management (DCAM) completed the construction of a new 225,000+ square foot, Trial Court on a portion of
the site in March 2020.

Lord Overpass: The Lord Overpass was originally constructed in 1959 and is City owned. The overpass is a grade
separated diamond interchange between Thorndike Street, Middlesex Street and Appleton Street/Chelmsford Street. The
Lord Overpass today is functionally and structurally deficient. There is no access to the Hamilton Canal Innovation District
(HCID) redevelopment or the new Justice Center with the current configuration. The City is currently undertaking a $25M
redesign and reconstruction of Lord Overpass; a project that will improve multi-modal transportation access to the JAM
area. Construction is well underway and it is expected to be completed by fall of 2023.

Ayer’s City Industrial Park Plan: Ayer’s City Industrial Park (ACIP,) the City’s third and newest urban renewal plan, was
approved by the Lowell City Council on April 29, 2014 and received final approval from DHCD on May 29, 2014. Ayer’s City
Industrial Park defines redevelopment concepts and specific projects to revitalize the Tanner Street industrial corridor to
drive the next decade of job creation and industrial development in Lowell. The plan area includes approximately 108 acres
roughly bounded by the Lowell Connector, Plain Street and the active railroad line that crosses over Gorham Street. The
planning process engaged a diverse group of neighborhood and city-wide stakeholders for detailed discussions and solicited
comments from a broad range of participants in several public meetings to craft a vision of neighborhood transformation.
Every recommendation in the Ayer’s City Industrial Park plan is designed to support transformation of the district into an
area that is both economically and environmentally sustainable - supporting emerging industries to create jobs and increase
tax revenues; and facilitating an attractive, healthy environment with improved multi-modal transportation opportunities and
access to natural resources. The first project planned for the ACIP is the realignment of Tanner Street to improve vehicular
and truck access to the area, with final roadway design expected by this fall. The City continues to engage and communicate
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with affected roadway project abutters and other area stakeholders to move this project forward. The City was fortunate to
receive a $3M Massworks grant in order to begin construction on phase 1 of the project in summer 2020. Additionally, the
City received $300,000 from the EPA as part of the Brownfield Assessment Grant program to provide funding for brownfield
inventories, planning, environmental assessments, and community outreach.

Lowell Memorial Auditorium: Following a nearly $8 million comprehensive renovation to the facility in 1985 and
approximately $3 million worth of additional renovations since 2008, the Lowell Memorial Auditorium is a prime venue for
an average of 150 concerts, touring theatrical productions, and special events annually, bringing 150,000 people to
Downtown Lowell each year. The City contracts with the management company, Lowell Management Group to operate this
venue. In 2017, the City replaced the facility’s boilers with the goal of reducing energy consumption costs by over 45%. It
also completed needed interior renovations to include the reupholstering of the entire seating area and new flooring. A
portion of this work was possible through a $300,000 matching grant by the MA Cultural Council. Most recently, the City
has started renovation/ expansion of the restrooms, masonry repairs and adding new exterior lighting. These projects will
represent an investment of nearly $1.1M.

In November of 2019, the City completed the following projects: installation of two new handicap bathrooms to the 15t floor
concourse, renovation of two existing bathrooms, and the installation of a new exterior entryway in the rear of the building.
These projects represent an investment of over $450,000.

Paul E. Tsongas Center: Constructed in the late 1990s, the Tsongas Center is a 6,200 seat multi-purpose arena, which is
the home of the UMass Lowell Division 1 hockey team, and a major venue for touring concerts, athletic competitions, and
special events. In January, 2010 the ownership of the $24 million arena was transferred to UMass Lowell. As a result of this
transfer, the City has no further responsibility for operating the arena, which had operated with an annual deficit of up to
$1.3 million a year. The arena brings over 300,000 people to Downtown Lowell annually.

LeLacheur Park: A 4,700 seat, $10.4 million baseball stadium was opened in 1998 and is home to the UMass Lowell
baseball team. The City made significant upgrades to this ballpark by replacing the heating system, making significant
masonry repairs to the exterior walls, as well as replacing the existing scoreboard with a new LED one. In the summer and
fall of 2015 the City completed the majority of other additional renovation such as: upgrades to the bathroom facilities, new
sinks, painting and new partitions.

Lowell Riverwalk and Canalways: The Merrimack Riverwalk, a $3.5 million walkway along the historic “Mile of Mills” on
the Merrimack River connects the University of Massachusetts at Lowell, LaLacheur Park; the City’s minor league baseball
facility, and the Paul E. Tsongas Center with the City’s Central Business District. A $4.8 million extension of the Riverwalk
project was completed in in the fall of 2022. The Riverwalk is the centerpiece to a network of canalside multi-use trails along
the 5.6 miles of downtown Lowell canals, collectively a significant waterfront recreational amenity for Downtown Lowell.

Concord River Greenway: The Concord River Greenway Park (also known as the CRG or Greenway) is a multi-use trail
through the green heart of Lowell along the scenic Concord River bank. The City’s ultimate goal is to link the Greenway to
the Bruce Freeman Rail Trail (BFRT). The BFRT has a trailhead by Showcase Cinemas on Industrial Ave in Lowell. To
date, Lowell has received $500,000 in funding through the State’s PARC program and $1.6M in funding through the State’s
Gateway City Parks program to support the project. In 2022 phase 3A was completed which connects previously completed
portions of the Greenway from Centennial Island Apartments to the Belvidere Townhouses on the other side of the river
and involved the installation of 2 pedestrian bridges. The City is implementing this project in collaboration with the Lowell
Parks and Conservation Trust.

Park Restoration Projects: In October 2022, The Department of Planning & Development (DPD) completed the design
and installation of a new permanent roof structure over the Bocce courts at Clemente Park. Design, manufacturing, and
construction amounted to a total of $180,000 investment through a state earmark. DPD also completed the planning and
design of the following construction projects and anticipates their completing by 2023:

e South Common: A $600,000 upgrade funded through a PARC grant and CDBG funds will introduce irrigation for
the multipurpose field, handicap parking off of South Street, ADA-accessible paths from the parking lot to the track,
new multilingual welcome signs, and additional landscaping and tree planting.

e Veteran's Park: A new $750,000 Veterans memorial park funded through State earmarks will feature paths, granite
seat walls, flag poles, monuments dedicated to the branches of the US military, a central ceremonial lawn, and a
native border landscape.

e Armory Park Splash Pad: A $160,000 investment funded through a State earmark for a new splash pad and rain
garden at Armory Park in the Lower Highlands neighborhood. Armory Park is located in an area that is significantly
impacted by urban heat island effect. The splash pad will provide a unique play space and cooling resource for the
community.
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e Crowley, Callery, and Kittredge Parks Playground Upgrades: DPD will be upgrading 3 playgrounds in 2023 with
inclusive/accessible equipment and replacing the mulch surface with Poured-in-Place rubber, which is much safer
and easier to maintain. Crowley Park is a $120,000 upgrade funded through a private donation and ADA funds.
Callery Park is a $315,000 upgrade funded through a State Earmark and ADA funds. Kittredge Park is a $260,000
upgrade funded through a State earmark and ADA funds.

Acre Transformative Development Initiative (TDI): MassDevelopment’s Transformative Development Initiative (TDI) is a
program for Gateway Cities such Lowell designed to accelerate economic growth within focused districts. The program
works with cross-sector partnerships to engage community members in actionable planning, implement local economic
development initiatives, and spur further public and private investment. The City was successful in applying and securing
this program for the Acre neighborhood. The Acre TDI is an economic development partnership program supported and led
by MassDevelopment, the City of Lowell, the Lowell Plan, the Coalition for a Better Acre, UMass Lowell, Jeanne D’Arc
Credit Union, Community Teamwork, Lowell Housing Authority, and Panela Restaurant. The program is currently offering
“equipment grants” to small businesses located within the district. Grants up to $15,000 each, are designed to help
businesses purchase new equipment and expand their operations.

Acre Crossing: Located in the heart of the Acre neighborhood and the TDI district, this exciting mixed-use project located
at the former site of the Jeanne D’Arc Credit Union (JDCU), will create 32 affordable condominium units available to first-
time homebuyers as well as retail and commercial space on the ground floor. This project is expected to be completed by
2024. Additionally, this project received financial assistance through the state’s MassWorks Program- a total of $1.7M to
support infrastructure improvements such as sidewalks and crosswalks reconstruction, traffic signal upgrades and new
street lighting.

Downtown Improvements: Over the past decade the City of Lowell has spent $1.7 million in City and Community
Development Block Grant Funds for downtown improvements including street resurfacing, signal coordination, updated
crosswalks, sidewalks and accessible ramps, resetting of cobblestone streets, tree planting, hanging planters, City Hall
landscaping, installation of Victorian streetlights, bicycle lanes and sharrows, benches, directional kiosks and pedestrian
signage. The City has spent over $17 million on canal walkways, river walkways, bicycle lanes and roadway improvements
in the downtown area that have improved access to businesses, cultural facilities and historic sites. Two-way traffic
operations have been successfully restored to several downtown streets in the early fall of 2014, increasing accessibility,
way-finding, and the desirability of retail storefronts. The Department of Planning & Development finalized another phase in
2016 of significant physical upgrades to the downtown area such as improving street lighting, adding new planters, new
banners, sidewalk repair and other streetscape improvements. In 2018, the City received $250,000 in state earmarked
funds to make additional repairs to sidewalks, crosswalks and other streetscape improvements. The City of Lowell Economic
Development Office has played a crucial role in assisting Lowell’s small, independently owned, brick-and-mortar retailers,
restaurants, and personal service businesses that have been most significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. To
date, one-hundred sixty-eight (168) grants were awarded during Round #1, Round #2 and Round #3 of the program totaling
over $1M. The Lowell Small Business Emergency Relief Grant Program was funded through the Community Development
Block Grant Program (CDBG) / CARES Act through the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD). In 2021,
The City secured state funding to conduct a Rapid Recovery Plan to ensure that the Downtown business community
continues to grow post pandemic. The Plan has been completed and supported by the City Council.

Lowell General Hospital: Lowell General Hospital has been recognized as one of the best hospitals in Massachusetts,
ranking 15" overall in the state. It was also recognized as one of the “Best Place to Work” for five (5) years in a row by the
Boston Business Journal. This community hospital has experienced significant growth over that last few years, when the
board of trustees from both Lowell General and Saints Medical Center agreed to merge the two hospitals to become the 9"
largest hospital in the state. This merger resulted in a strong financial position at both campuses, while improving the quality
of health-care services. The hospital also completed an extensive physical expansion and partial-facility replacement project
estimated at approximately $100 million at its main campus on Varnum Avenue. In 2015, Lowell General Hospital and Tufts
Medical Center finalized an agreement to form a strong partnership and established a new heath care system, “Wellforce”,
the first of its kind in Massachusetts. This new organization is the parent company of both Circle Health and Lowell General
Hospital. Normand Deschene serves as CEO of Wellforce, President and CEO of Circle Health as well as President and
CEO of Lowell General Hospital. The new healthcare system allows greater Lowell area residents to have access to over
1,800 additional physicians affiliated with Tufts Medical Center. In 2018 Circle Health invested $1M to support the Lowell
Community Health Center’s expansion to add dental and vision care. The new Dental and Vision Center opened in the
spring of 2018. In 2019, Circle Health and Lowell General Parent “Wellforce” announced partnership negotiations with South
Shore Health.
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Artist Live/Work Space: The City’s first artist-live work space project occurred over 15 years ago with the redevelopment
of the historic J.C. Ayer and Save-Mor Buildings on Middle Street into live-work space for local artisans. The $4.5 million
renovation of the two buildings resulted in 51 live-work units and was completed in June 2000. Since then, other successful
projects came to fruition such as the Appleton Mills, which has been transformed into 130 affordable artist live/work housing
units and most recently, the Western Avenue Lofts with additional 46 artist live/work space units. The Western Avenue
Studios, adjacent to Western Ave Lofts, has the largest concentration of Artists’ work space in New England, with
approximately 150 work studios, and over 200 artists. Also, the Gates Block on Market Street has been renovated to become
the new home of the “Arts League of Lowell (ALL)” as well as new artist works studios, and gallery space.

Other Recent/ Ongoing Residential Projects in Downtown Area: Below is a table illustrating the residential development
in the Downtown area for the past 10 years. These projects either have been completed or have been approved by the
Lowell Planning Board between 2010 and January, 2023. These projects represent a total investment of approximately
$500 million from 2011 to present. A total of 1,400 units were added to Downtown'’s residential inventory.

Total
Estimated Number
Project Name Location Investment of Units Status

Western Avenue Lofts Western Avenue $7,500,000 50 Completed
Boott Mills East Foot Of John Street $30,000,000 154 Completed
Textile Museum Phase | 491 Dutton Street $2,000,000 12 Completed
Appleton Mills 307 Jackson Street $65,000,000 130 Completed
Boott Mills- West Phase Il Foot of John Street $36,917,000 77 Completed
Lofts at Perkins Park Phase II Perkins Street $5,000,000 41 Completed
Challifoux Building 24-26 Merrimack Street $7,500,000 47 Completed
One City Square 98 Central Street $2,000,000 11 Completed
278 Central Street 278 Central Street - 10 Completed
Edge of Merrimack 1 Merrimack Plaza $50,000,000 156 Completed
Countinghouse Lofts 165 Jackson Street $20,878,000 52 Completed
15 Kearney Square 15-17 Kearney Square $8,000,000 22 Completed
Adden Building 109 Jackson Street $16,000,000 75 Completed
Thorndike Exchange Phase | 165 Thorndike Street $40,000,000 62 Completed
Textile Museum Phase Il 491 Dutton Street $5,000,000 33 Completed
Mass Mills Phase llI 170 Bridge Street $42,035,800 129 In progress
1 East Merrimack 1 East Merrimack Street $25,000,000 66 In Progress
43 Market Street 43 Market Street -— 9 Completed
Thorndike Exchange Phase | 165 Thorndike Street $25,000,000 75 Permitted

279 Dutton St. 279 Dutton Street -— 4 In Progress
Parcels #8 & 9 Hamilton Canal Innovation District $50,000,000 125 Completed
160 Middlesex Street 160 Middlesex Street $5,100,000 24 Completed
231 Central Street 231 Central Street $1,400,000 9 Permitted

246.1 Market Street 246.1 Market Street - 23 In Progress
21 Central Street 21 Central Street $40,000 1 In Progress
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Over the past ten (10) years, an additional 115 residential projects, representing 2,601 units, were built outside of Downtown.
Below is a table illustrating the residential projects that have been completed or approved by the Planning Board between
2011 and January, 2023.

Name of the Project Description No. of Units Status
39 Myrtle Street Apartments 9 Complete
138 Middlesex Street Mixed use 3 Approved
152 Jewett Street Single-Family 1 Complete
142 Liberty Street Single-Family 1 Approved
153 Westford Street Multi-Family 4 Approved
408 E Merrimack Street Multi-Family 1 Complete
23 Exeter Street Two-Family 2 Approved
31 Fairgrove Avenue Single-Family 1 Complete
432 Suffolk Street Single-Family 1 Complete
55 Parker Street Two-Family 2 Complete
41 Ellis Avenue Single-Family 1 Complete
42 Highland Street Multi-Family 4 Complete
205 Billerica Street Multi-Family 3 In Progress
102 Appleton Street Mixed-Use 4 In Progress
25 Read Street Three-Family 3 In Progress
122 Sixth Street Multi-Family 1 Approved
157 Billerica Street Multi-Family 3 In Progress
29-31 Paige Street Live/work 2 Approved
755 School Street Single-Family 1 In Progress
66 and 72 Manchester Street Multi-Family 4 Completed
70 Fox Street Single-Family 1 Approved
22 Abbott Street Single-Family 1 Complete
12 Manchester Street Single-Family 1 Complete
39 Myrtle Street Apartments 9 Approved
193.1 and 239.1 Jackson Street Apartments 118 Approved
152 Jewett Street Single-Family 1 Complete
142 Liberty Street Single-Family 1 Approved
153 Westford Street Multi-Family 4 Approved
408 E Merrimack Street Multi-Family 1 Complete
23 Exeter Street Two-Family 2 Approved
31 Fairgrove Avenue Single-Family 1 Complete
432 Suffolk Street Single-Family 1 Complete
19, 23, 29 Manchester Street Single-Family 3 Approved
1582 Varnum Street Single-Family 1 Approved
128 Manchester Street Single-Family 1 Approved
776 Lakeview Ave Mixed Use 10 Completed
66 State Street Multi-Family 2 Approved
56 Hildreth Street, 161 Jewett Street Single-Family 2 Approved
15 Canton Street Two-Family 2 Approved
61-69 Rock Street Mult-Family 6 Completed
7-11 Abbott Street Single-Family 1 Approved
50 Wentworth Ave Single-Family 1 Approved
14 Mclntire Street Multi-Family 8 In Progress
25 Mariner Street Single-Family 3 In Progress
15 Whipple Street Multi-Family 1 Approved
113 Walker Street Multi-Family 8 In Progress
464 Central Street Multi-Family 1 Approved
414 Broadway Street Multi-Family 3 Approved
62 Seneca Street, 33 Chippewa Street Single-Family 2 Approved
16-20 Court Street Single-Family 1 Approved
610 Gorham Street Multi-Family 1 Completed
173 Westford Street Single-Family 1 In Progress
555 Merrimack Street Multi-Family 27 Approved
74-76 Chapel Street Multi-Family 1 In Progress
32 Wamesit Street Multi-Family 1 Completed
698-706 Lawrence Street Multi-Family 2 In Progress
620 School Street Mixed Use 2 In Progress
23 Cabot Street, 616-666 Merrimack Street,
561-639 Market Street Mixed-Use 32 Approved
355-357 Pawtucket Street Mixed-Use 9 Approved
733-735 Broadway Street Multi-Family 52 In Progress
4-8 Wiggin St, 153 Willie St Multi-Family 12 In Progress
637 Chelmsford Street Multi-Family 3 In Progress
251 Clark Road Single-Family 1 In Progress
113 Walker Street Multi-Family 9 In Progress
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642 Gorham Street

14 Mclintire Street

1514 Gorham Street

48 Hampstead Street (Lot 1)
48 Hampstead Street (Lot 2)
42 B Street

90 Lupine Road

776 Lakeview Avenue
150 Fetherston Avenue
38-40 Swift Street

32 Pine Hill Street
1467-1469 Gorham Street
175 Dalton Street
114-122 Merrimack Street
346 Fletcher Street

29 Ottawa Street

915 Pawtucket Street

105 Martin Street

19 Court Street

270 Christian Street

14 Newell Street

359 Walker Street

228 First Street

242 Lakeview Avenue

65 Moore Street

Multi-Family
Mixed-Use
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Single-Family
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Mixed-Use
Single-Family
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Single-Family
Single-Family
Mixed-Use
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Mixed-Use
Single-Family
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Single-Family
Multi-Family
Single-Family
Multi-Family
Multi-Family
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As highlighted previously, commercial development in the City has been steady within the past 10 years. As a result, a total
of over 100 significant projects resulted in a total of over 4.6 million square feet of new commercial space.

Commercial projects recently completed or in progress include the following:

Total
Square

Location Description Footage Status
268 Mt. Vernon St & 5 Farnham St New industrial and retail building 22,000 Approved
102 Appleton Street Mixed Use residential and commercial 2,648 Approved
48, 58, 66 Townsend Ave; 800.1 and 810 Khmer Buddhist temple 16,800 Approved
Varnum Ave
493 & 509 Market Street Mixed Use 2,492 Approved
1 E Merrimack Street Mixed Use residential and restaurant 915 Approved
165 Industrial Ave E New printing facility 18,240 Approved
70 Industrial Ave E Cannabis manufacturing facility 31,064 Completed
740 Dutton Street Cannabis cultivation facility 6,800 Completed
330 Jackson Street New Parking Garage 22,878 Approved
70 Industrial Ave E Retail cannabis 5,800 Complete
78-90 Lakeview Domino's restaurant 6,000 Complete
181 Stedman Street Cannabis cultivation facility 14,500 Complete
1488 Middlesex Street Commercial 7,000 Approved
205-207 Market Street Hotel 7,990 In Progress
484 Merrimack Street Mixed Use residential and restaurant 2,600 Approved
677 and 705 Pawtucket Boulevard New Market Basket Supermarket and other retail/restaurant 84,500 Complete
2 Prince Avenue; 1 Markley Way Data center 60,500 Approved
350.4 Dutton Street New Parking Garage 49,800 Completed
138 Middlesex Street Mixed use commercial and residential 1,500 Approved
70-80 Church Street Convert building to woodworking manufacturing 28,465 Complete
26 Wellman Street Cannabis cultivation facility 12,503 Completed
3 Foundry St; 49.1 Marshall Rd Cannabis cultivation facility 12,041 In Progress
211 Plain Street Convert building unit to a licensed establishment for the care 12,324 In Progress

of the sick, aged, disabled, or convalescent

160 Middlesex Street Mixed-Use residential and commercial 1,500 Completed
908 Lawrence Street Contractor's garage 3,339 Complete
1488 Middlesex Street Commercial 7,000 Permitted
205 Market Street Hotel 6,990 Permitted
350 Dutton Street HCID Public Garage 256,400 Completed
60 Dix Street Cannabis Cultivation Facility 18,000 Approved
450 Chelmsford Street Cannabis retail facility 3,278 Approved
1201 Westford Street Cannabis retail facility 4,000 Approved
671-683 Rogers Street Cannabis retail facility 3,700 Completed
59 Lowes Way Cannabis testing lab 6,600 In Progress
1148 Bridge Street Cannabis retail facility 3,000 Approved
60 Fletcher Street Bank and office space 25,300 In Progress
23 Cabot Street, 616-666 Merrimack Retail and office space 35,000 Approved
663 Lawrence Street Cannabis Cultivation Facility 15,000 In Progress
100 Phoenix Ave Cannabis Cultivation Facility 12,000 Approved
14 Mclntire Street Mixed-Use residential and commercial 500 In Progress
70 Wilbur Street Cannabis Cultivation Facility 3,050 In Progress
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Labor Force, Employment and Unemployment

According to the Massachusetts Labor and Workforce Development’s Municipal Employment Data, in July 2023, the City of
Lowell had a total labor workforce of 56,106 of which 54,144 were employed and 1,962 or 3.5% were unemployed as
compared with 2.9% for the Commonwealth.

The table below sets forth the City’s average labor force and unemployment rates and the unemployment rates for the
Commonwealth and the United States for the following calendar years.

UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

City of Lowell Massachusetts United States
Year Labor Force ~ Unemployment Rate Unemployment Rate Unemployment Rate
2022 56,478 4.4 % 3.8 % 34 %
2021 57,530 7.0 57 5.4
2020 56,176 10.2 8.9 8.1
2019 57,869 34 2.8 3.7
2018 57,506 3.8 3.3 3.9

SOURCE: MA Department of Employment and Training and the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Data are based upon place of
residence, not place of employment.

Building Permits

The following table sets forth the number of building permits issued as well as estimated dollar value of new construction
and alterations for calendar years 2017 through 2022. The estimated dollar values shown are builders’ estimates which are
generally considered to be conservative. Permits are filed and estimated valuations are shown for both private construction
as well as for City projects.

BUILDING PERMITS

New Construction Additions/Alterations Total
Calendar Residential Non-Residential Residential Non-Residential
Year No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value
2022 23 $ 10,980,666 5 $15,888,717 1901 $ 56,251,478 283 $ 31,484,539 2212 $ 114,605,400 (1)
2021 33 6,070,702 9 7,807,507 2,071 37,742,955 297 37,208,171 2,410 88,829,335 (2)
2020 59 33,279,052 8 21,270,828 1,934 38,912,727 285 44,067,869 2,286 137,530,476 (3)
2019 72 24,872,242 6 14,815,229 2,137 75,357,521 281 54,926,782 2,496 169,971,774 (4)
2018 68 7,081,621 21 2,298,003 1,978 34,259,238 286 23,079,748 2,353 66,718,610 (5)

) Includes 136 permits for tax exempt properties for $19,502,693.

) Includes 73 permits for tax exempt properties for $16,355,411.
(3) Includes 80 permits for tax exempt properties for $17,701,037.

) Includes 73 permits for tax exempt properties for $6,449,889.

) Includes 87 permits for tax exempt properties for $13,783,864.

Transportation

The principal highways which serve the City are Interstate 495, U.S. Route 3, and state routes 38, 110 and 113. These
highways provide convenient access to the rest of Massachusetts and to northern New England. The Massachusetts Bay
Transportation Authority (MBTA) provides commuter rail service on a regular basis to Boston. Established trucking lines
provide competitive service locally and to long distance points. The City is within commuting distance of Boston’s Logan
International Airport, the Worcester, Massachusetts Airport, and the Manchester, New Hampshire Municipal Airport. The
Lowell Regional Transit Authority provides public bus transportation in Lowell and surrounding communities. Bus service
from the Gallagher bus terminal is provided to locations throughout New England and the Northeast.
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Climate Resiliency

The City is actively engaged in taking steps to help make our community more resilient to the impacts of climate change. In
September 2020, the Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs (EEA) designated Lowell as a Municipal
Vulnerability Preparedness (MVP) community for our completion of the Community Resilience Building planning process to
assess and prioritize climate vulnerabilities within the City. Lowell also updated our Hazard Mitigation Plan (HMP), which
was approved by the US Department of Homeland Security’s Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in July
2021.

Lowell has continued to implement priorities identified in the MVP/HMP, as well as other climate-resilience efforts. Recent
efforts center on flood damage reduction, urban heat island mitigation, urban forestry, and resilient park designs. These
changes are summarized below.

Flood Damage Reduction: The City maintains a flood damage reduction (FDR) system located along the Beaver Brook and
the Merrimack River, extending from Bachman Street to Bridge Street, which protects areas from extreme flood conditions.
The FDR system is composed of a levee system and a pump station. As part of the flood protection plan, inspections and
trainings are performed on an annual basis.

Employees from the Wastewater Department and Fire Department train on the installation of the stop-log and porta-dam by
the Beaver Brook Bridge last performed in September 2022. Wastewater staff perform an annual mock drill of the flood
pumping system at the West Street pumping station last performed in October 2022. The flood pumps at the West Street
Station additionally are tested on a monthly basis to ensure reliability.

Representatives from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers inspect the structural integrity of the floodwalls, equipment, and
levees, and ensure updates to the flood protection plan meet Army Corp standards. The latest inspection occurred in
September 2022. Within recent years, Lowell cleared brush and relocate animal burrows that could threaten the integrity of
the levee. The floodwall has shown no structural issues during inspections. However, public outreach to citizens adjacent
to the floodwall has been a necessary precaution to ensure the floodwall is maintained and accessible.

Urban Heat Island Mitigation/Urban Forestry: In FY 23, the City was awarded an MVP Action grant to create a Resilient
Urban Forest Master Plan and Urban Heat Island (UHI) Assessment. This plan will build off of analyses on UHI from the
City’s last MVP Action grant, as well as additional UHIs identified by the Lowell Sustainability Council. The main components
of the project are summarized below:

¢ Identify high-priority hot spot areas

e Urban forest inventorying of high priority areas

o Identify priority planting areas

¢ Risk analysis of Urban Forest to changing climate conditions

o Development of an Urban Forest Maintenance Plan

e Create an Urban Forest Master Plan summarizing components of the analysis, actions, and maintenance from the
project.

e Public engagement with those impacted by UHIs and the urban forest

Lowell also continues to participate in the Greening the Gateway Cities program to plant trees in areas with low urban
canopy. To date, 448 trees have been planted in the targeted planting zone.

Resilient Park Designs: Climate resilience is embedded into the framework of current and ongoing park designs and
construction. A summary of upcoming projects and resilient designs incorporated is found below:

2023 Construction:

e Armory Park Splash Pad + Rain Garden: Armory Park is surrounded by a significant heat island in Lowell’'s Lower
Highlands neighborhood. In 2023, the City will be installing a new splash pad and rain garden at the park to provide
a cooling resource and natural play space for the community.

o Veterans Park: In 2023, a new Veterans Park will be built in the Belvidere neighborhood. The park will feature a
border landscape with native pollinator species and biofiltration areas to help with the management of stormwater
on-site.

e Tree Planting: In addition to the tree planting carried out through the Greening the Gateway Cities program, trees
will be planted at South Common, Crowley Park, Callery Park, and Kittredge Park alongside other park upgrades.
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2023 Design/2024+ Construction:

Clemente Park Tree Planting + Rain Garden: A major renovation of Clemente Park is in the works which would

involve the installation of a rain garden and significant tree planting.

o Durkin Park Tree Planting: Durkin Park will be upgraded with a new universally accessible playground and half-
basketball court. The proposed scope of work also includes significant tree planting around the existing baseball
field.

o South Common Phase Il Rain Garden: South Common Phase Il will design short and long-term flood mitigation
solutions for the park in alignment with the MVP plan, and install a demonstration rain garden along with other park
amenities such as picnic tables and shade structures

e McPherson Park Traffic Playground + Rain Garden: DPD has applied for CDBG funding for a proposed traffic
playground and rain garden at McPherson park.

o ARPA Projects: DPD is currently planning about 8 “impact open space projects,” one in each Lowell neighborhood,

to be funded through the $9,000,000 in ARPA funds that the Council set aside for parks and open space. Several

of these projects will involve green infrastructure.

Cybersecurity

As a variety of municipalities and school districts of all sizes have become targets of cyber criminals, the City understands
that cybersecurity is not an abstract concept, and that these attacks can potentially impact critical systems and the personal
data the City is entrusted with. Recognizing these threats, the City is actively engaged in an ongoing and continuous effort
to increase cyber-awareness throughout the City, including the creation of a Cyber Security Administrator position to assist
with navigating these threats, the introduction of new security tools, and an overall assessment and tightening of security
protocols.

On Monday, April 24, 2023, the City's networks experienced a cyber-attack, during which a variety of devices on the City's
network were disrupted. Accordingly, all of the City’s devices, systems, and networks were isolated and contained. The
Department of Management and Information Systems (“MIS”) first conducted an impact assessment and obligatory reporting
requirements to state and federal agencies were triggered resulting in a coordinated multi-agency investigation, including a
forensic analysis of the event. This analysis is ongoing. As the investigation unfolded, all indicators suggested that the event
was limited in scope, and neither effected the school side of the network, nor any other third-party systems or services with
which the City interacts. Importantly, the City’s financial management system, MUNIS, was not involved in this event. Most
of the City’s systems have now been restored, and there have been no material impacts to the City's financial operations.

The City has determined that little personal identifiable information was accessed during this incident. Nevertheless, each
City employee and retiree has been provided with a 24-month LifeLock subscription to monitor their individual information.
To-date, the City is not aware of any lawsuits that have been filed or threatened against the City as a result of this event. The
cost of the City’s response to this incident is estimated to be approximately $2.0 million, which will be met through current
appropriations. No ransom was paid to the perpetrators of the attack.

It is possible that the City will be the target of cyber-attacks in the future. In such an event, no assurances can be made that

any such incident or incidents will not have a material adverse effect upon the financial and/or operational activities of the
City.
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Population, Income and Wealth Levels

Lowell Massachusetts United States
Median Age:
2020 36.3 394 38.3
2010 32.6 39.1 37.2
2000 31.4 36.5 35.3
1990 29.4 33.6 32.9
1980 28.5 31.2 30.0
Median Family Income:
2020 $80,026 $81,215 $62,843
2010 55,852 81,165 51,144
2000 45,901 61,664 50,046
1990 35,138 44,367 35,225
1980 17,942 21,166 19,908
Per Capita Income:
2020 $30,414 $43,761 $34,103
2010 22,730 33,966 27,334
2000 17,557 25,952 21,587
1990 12,701 17,224 14,420
1980 6,016 7,459 7,313

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
On the basis of the 2020 U.S. Bureau of the Census, the City has a population density of 8,489 persons per square mile.
Population Trends
1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

92,418 103,439 105,167 106,519 115,554

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
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PROPERTY TAXATION
Tax Levy Computation

A principal revenue source of the City is the tax on real and personal property. The amount to be levied in each year is the
amount appropriated or required by law to be raised for municipal expenditures less estimated receipts from other sources
and less appropriations voted from available funds. The total amount levied is subject to certain limits prescribed by law.
(For a description of those limits, see “Tax Limitations” below). The estimated receipts for a fiscal year from other sources
may not exceed the actual receipts during the preceding fiscal year from the same sources unless approved by the State
Commissioner of Revenue. Excepting special funds the use of which is otherwise provided for by law, the deduction for
appropriations voted from available funds for a fiscal year cannot exceed the “free cash” as of the beginning of the prior
fiscal year as certified by the State Director of Accounts plus up to nine months’ collections and receipts on account of
earlier years’ taxes after that date. Subject to certain adjustments, free cash is surplus revenue less uncollected overdue
property taxes from earlier years. Although an allowance is made in the tax levy for abatements, no reserve is generally
provided for uncollectible real property taxes. (See “Overlay” below). Since some of the levy is inevitably not collected, this
creates a cash deficiency which may or may not be offset by other items. (See “Taxation to Meet Deficits” below). The table
below illustrates the manner in which the tax levy was determined for the following fiscal years.

TAX LEVY COMPUTATION
Fiscal Year
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Amounts to be Raised: $363,742,397 $376,366,067 $399,109,869 $421,071,458 $473,682,136
Appropriations(1)

Other Local Expenditures(2) 250,142 777,403 1,874,470 504,162 323,901

State and County Assessments 26,755,700 29,061,793 30,478,667 34,839,738 41,228,874

Overlay Reserve 1,110,413 1,135,655 961,646 1,064,024 1,111,541
Gross Amount to be Raised 391,858,652 407,340,917 432,424,652 457,479,382 516,346,452
Offsets:

State Aid(3) 182,943,041 196,127,351 200,374,711 215,443,608 244,927,183

Local Receipts 68,705,804 70,847,169 76,519,970 79,630,673 79,589,628

Free Cash - 84,118 2,151,258 3,656,222 17,780,512

Other Available Funds 6,423,999 1,950,637 8,445,317 5,182,588 9,617,074

Total Offsets 258,072,844 269,009,274 287,491,255 303,913,091 351,914,397
Tax Levy $133,785,808 $138,331,643 $144,933,397 $153,566,291 $164,432,055

(1) Includes additional appropriations from taxation voted subsequent to adoption of the annual budget, but prior to the setting of the tax
rate. Also includes the wastewater department budget.

(2) Primarily includes state aid offsets and snow and ice deficits.

(3) Estimated by the State Department of Revenue and required by law to be used in setting of the tax rate. Actual state aid payments
may vary upward or downward from said estimates, and the State may withhold payments pending receipt of State and County
assessments.

Assessed Valuations and Tax Levies

Property is classified for the purpose of taxation according to its use. The legislature has in substance created four classes of
taxable property: (1) residential real property, (2) open space land, (3) commercial and (4) industrial. Within limits, cities and
towns are given the option of determining the share of the annual levy to be borne by each of the three categories. The share
required to be borne by residential real property is at least 50 per cent of its share of the total taxable valuation; the effective rate
for open space must be at least 75 per cent of the effective rate for residential real property; and the share of commercial,
industrial and personal property must not exceed 175 percent of their share of the total valuation. A city or town may also exempt
up to 35 percent of the valuation of residential real property (where used as the taxpayer’s principal residence) and up to 10
percent of the valuation of commercial real property (where occupied by certain small businesses). Property may not be
classified in a city or town until the State Commissioner of Revenue certifies that all property in the city or town has been
assessed at its fair cash value. Such certification must take place every five years or pursuant to a revised schedule as may be
issued by the Commissioner. The City’s most recent revaluation occurred in fiscal 2022.
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Related statutes provide that certain agricultural or horticultural land (assessed at the value it has for these purposes) and
recreational land (assessed on the basis of its use at a maximum of 25 percent of its fair cash value) are all to be taxed at the
rate applicable to commercial property.

The table below sets forth the trend in the City’s assessed valuations, tax levies, and tax levies per capita for the following
fiscal years.

For Personal Total

Fiscal Real Estate Property Assessed Tax Levy

Year Valuation Valuation Valuation Tax Levy Per Capita(1)
2023 $ 11,376,276,864 $ 434,348,415 $ 11,810,625279 § 164,432,055 $ 1,423
2022 (2) 10,268,027,561 405,735,094 10,673,762,655 153,566,291 1,329
2021 9,119,362,727 334,252,217 9,453,614,944 144,933,397 1,254
2020 8,728,067,121 315,256,353 9,043,323,474 138,331,643 1,197
2019 7,866,099,577 321,714,823 8,187,814,400 133,785,808 1,158

(1) Based on the 2020 U.S. Bureau of Census population figure for the City (115,554).
(2) Reflects results of professional revaluation of all real and personal property of the City.

Classification of Property

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the City’s assessed real estate valuations for fiscal years 2023, 2022 and
2021.

Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022 (1) Fiscal 2021
Assessed % of Assessed % of Assessed % of
Valuation Total Valuation Total Valuation Total
Residential $ 10,324,520,700 90.8 % $ 9,223,302,839 898 % $ 8,130,672,584 89.2 %
Commercial 663,727,595 5.8 658,474,473 6.4 623,428,438 6.8
Industrial 388,028,569 34 386,250,249 3.8 365,261,705 4.0
Total $11,376,276,864 100.0 % $10,268,027,561 100.0 % $9,119,362,727 100.0 %

(1) Revaluation year.
The following table sets forth the trend in the City’s tax rates.

Tax Rate Per $1,000 Valuation

Fiscal Year Residential Commercial/Industrial
2023 $ 1242 $ 24.36
2022 (1) 12.69 25.18
2021 13.46 26.83
2020 13.36 26.77
2019 14.04 28.59

(1) Revaluation year.
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Largest Taxpayers

The following table sets forth the list of the City’s ten largest taxpayers based upon assessed valuations for fiscal 2023. The
taxpayers listed below are current in their payments.

Total Assessed % of
Nature of Valuation for Total
Name Business Fiscal 2023 Value
National Grid / Colonial Gas Public Utility $168,165,179 142 %
Princeton Properties Housing/Office Building 156,948,680 1.33
CH LH Crosspoint LLC Office Building 108,786,500 0.92
National Grid - Electric Public Utility 106,517,827 0.90
Winn Residential Housing/ Subsidized 73,386,900 0.62
SMC Residences at Crosspoint Housing 64,046,600 0.54
Westminster Preservation Housing/ Subsidized 63,645,100 0.54
NE Heritage Properties Housing 60,349,900 0.51
Massachusetts Mills Housing 48,325,200 0.41
Demoulas Companies Shopping/Retail 44,949,929 0.38
Total $ 895,121,815 7.58 %

State Equalized Valuation

In order to determine appropriate relative values for the purposes of certain distributions to and assessments upon cities
and towns, the Commissioner of Revenue biennially makes Lowell a redetermination of the fair cash value of the taxable
property in each municipality as of January 1 of even numbered years. This is known as the “equalized value”.

The following table sets forth the trend in equalized valuations of the City of Lowell.

State Equalized

January 1, Valuation % Change
2022 $ 11,375,052,400 15.50 %
2020 9,848,176,600 20.20
2018 8,192,976,800 14.52
2016 7,154,033,100 9.18
2014 6,552,635,400 0.35

Abatements and Overlay

The City is authorized by law to include in each tax levy an amount approved by the Commissioner of Revenue for an
“overlay” to provide for tax abatements. If abatements are granted in excess of the applicable overlay, the resultant “overlay
deficit” is required to be added to the tax levy for the next fiscal year. Abatements are granted where exempt real or personal
property has been assessed or where taxable real or personal property taxes has been overvalued or disproportionately
valued. The assessors may also abate uncollectible personal property taxes. They may abate real and personal property
taxes on broad grounds (including inability to pay) with the approval of the State Commissioner of Revenue.

The following table sets forth the amount of the overlay reserve for the last five years and the actual abatements and
exemptions granted during each of those fiscal years through June 30, 2023.

Cumulative
Overlay Reserve Abatements
Fiscal Net Tax Dollar As a % of Granted Through
Year Levy(1) Amount Net Levy June 30, 2023
2023 $ 163,320,514 $ 1,111,541 0.68 % $ 706,202
2022 152,502,267 1,064,024 0.70 510,650
2021 143,971,751 961,646 0.67 622,087
2020 137,195,988 1,135,655 0.83 842,505
2019 132,675,395 1,110,413 0.84 960,946

(1) Tax levy net of overlay allowance.
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Tax Collections

Property tax bills are payable quarterly on August 1, November 1, February 1, and May 1 of each fiscal year. Interest
accrues on delinquent taxes at the rate of 14 percent per annum. Real property (land and buildings) is subject to a lien for
the taxes assessed upon it, subject to any paramount federal lien and subject to bankruptcy and insolvency laws. (In
addition, real property is subject to a lien for certain unpaid municipal charges or fees). If the property has been transferred,
an unenforced lien expires on the fourth December 31 after the end of the fiscal year to which the tax relates. If the property
has not been transferred by the fourth December 31, an unenforced lien expires upon a later transfer of the property.
Provision is made, however, for continuation of the lien where it could not be enforced because of a legal impediment. The
persons against whom real or personal property taxes are assessed are personally liable for the tax (subject to bankruptcy
and insolvency laws). In the case of real property, this personal liability is effectively extinguished by sale or taking of the
property as described below. The following table compares the City’s net tax collections with its net (gross tax levy less
overlay reserve for abatements) tax levies for the current and last five fiscal years.

TAX COLLECTIONS
Collections During Collections as of

Gross Overlay Net Fiscal Year Payable (2) June 30, 2023 (2)
Fiscal Tax Reserve & Tax Dollar % of Net Dollar % of Net
Year Levy Abatements Levy(1) Amount Levy Amount Levy
2023 $ 164,432,055 $ 1,111,541 $ 163,320,514 $ 161,331,837 9878 % $ 161,331,837 98.78 %
2022 153,566,291 1,064,024 152,502,267 150,159,647 98.46 151,658,866 99.45
2021 144,933,397 961,646 143,971,751 142,201,316 98.77 143,149,267 99.43
2020 138,331,643 1,135,655 137,195,988 134,864,503 98.30 136,438,088 99.45
2019 133,785,808 1,110,413 132,675,395 130,649,676 98.47 131,980,731 99.48

(1) Net after deduction of overlay for abatements.
(2) Actual dollar collections net of refunds. Does not include abatements, proceeds of tax titles or tax possessions attributable to each
levy or other non-cash credits.

Tax Titles and Possessions

Massachusetts law permits a municipality either to sell by public sale (at which the municipality may become the purchaser)
or to take real property for non-payment of taxes thereon. In either case, the property owner can redeem the property by
paying the unpaid taxes, with interest and other charges, but if the right of redemption is not exercised within six months
(which may be extended an additional year in the case of certain installment payments), it can be foreclosed by petition to
the Land Court. Upon foreclosure, a tax title purchased or taken by the municipality becomes a “tax possession” and may
be held and disposed of like any land held for municipal purposes. Uncollected real property taxes are ordinarily not written
off until they become municipal “tax titles” by purchase at the public sale or by taking, at which time the tax is written off in
full by reserving the amount of tax and charging surplus.

The table below sets forth the amount of tax titles and possessions outstanding at the end of the following fiscal years as
well as the amounts of tax title redemptions in each of these same fiscal years. These include water, sewer, trash collection
and other user fee liens.

Fiscal Tax Tax Title

Year Tax Titles Possessions Redemptions
2023 $ 4,363,802 $ 4,477,310 $ 1,804,526
2022 4,492,285 4,477,310 911,854
2021 4,069,785 5,222,395 598,656
2020 3,106,956 5,066,420 597,624
2019 2,806,215 4,929,547 733,468
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Taxation to Meet Deficits

As noted elsewhere (see “Overlay” above) overlay deficits, i.e. tax abatements in excess of the overlay included in the tax levy
to cover abatements, are required to be added to the next tax levy. It is generally understood that revenue deficits, i.e. those
resulting from non-property tax revenues being less than anticipated, are also required to be added to the tax levy (at least to
the extent not covered by surplus revenue).

Amounts lawfully expended since the prior tax levy and not included therein are also required to be included in the annual tax
levy. The circumstances under which this can arise are limited since municipal departments are generally prohibited from
incurring liabilities in excess of appropriations except for major disasters, mandated items, contracts in aid of housing and
renewal projects and other long-term contracts. In addition, utilities must be paid at established rates and certain established
salaries, e.g. civil service, must legally be paid for work actually performed, whether or not covered by appropriations.

Cities and towns are authorized to appropriate sums, and thus to levy taxes, to cover deficits arising from other causes, such as
“free cash” deficits arising from a failure to collect taxes. This is not generally understood, however, and it has not been the
practice to levy taxes to cover free cash deficits. Except to the extent that such deficits have been reduced or eliminated by
subsequent collections of uncollected taxes (including sales of tax titles and tax possessions), lapsed appropriations,
non-property tax revenues in excess of estimates, other miscellaneous items or funding loans authorized by special act, they
remain in existence.

Property Tax Limitations

Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws, also known as “Proposition 2 14", imposes two separate limits on the annual tax
levy of a city or town.

The primary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed 2V percent of the full and fair cash value. If a city or town exceeds the
primary limitation, it must reduce its tax levy by at least 15 percent annually until it is in compliance, provided that the reduction
can be reduced in any year to not less than 7%% percent by majority vote of the voters, or to less than 772 percent by two-thirds
vote of the voters.

For cities and towns at or below the primary limit, a secondary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed the maximum levy
limit for the preceding fiscal year as determined by the State Commissioner of Revenue by more than 2% percent, subject to
exceptions for property added to the tax rolls or property which has had an increase, other than as part of a general revaluation,
in its assessed valuation over the prior year’s valuation.

This “growth” limit on the tax levy may be exceeded in any year by a majority vote of the voters, but an increase in the secondary
or growth limit under this procedure does not permit a tax levy in excess of the primary limitation, since the two limitations apply
independently. In addition, if the voters vote to approve taxes in excess of the “growth” limit for the purpose of funding a
stabilization fund, such increased amount may only be taken into account for purposes of calculating the maximum levy limit in
each subsequent year if the board of selectmen of a town or the city council of a city votes by a two-thirds vote to appropriate
such increased amount in such subsequent year to the stabilization fund.

The applicable tax limits may also be reduced in any year by a majority vote of the voters.

The State Commissioner of Revenue may adjust any tax limit “to counterbalance the effects of extraordinary, non-recurring
events which occurred during the base year”.

Proposition 2 V2 further provides that the voters may exclude from the taxes subject to the tax limits and from the calculation of
the maximum tax levy (a) the amount required to pay debt service on bonds and notes issued before November 4, 1980, if the
exclusion is approved by a majority vote of the voters, and (b) the amount required to pay debt service on any specific
subsequent issue for which similar approval is obtained. Even with voter approval, the holders of the obligations for which
unlimited taxes may be assessed do not have a statutory priority or security interest in the portion of the tax levy attributable to
such obligations. It should be noted that Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 44, Section 20 requires that the taxes excluded
from the levy limit to pay debt service on any such bonds and notes be calculated based on the true interest cost of the issue.

Voters may also exclude from the Proposition 274 limits the amount required to pay specified capital outlay expenditures or for
the city or town’s apportioned share for certain capital outlay expenditures by a regional governmental unit. In addition, the city
council of a city, with the approval of the mayor if required, or the board of selectmen or the town council of a town may vote to
exclude from the Proposition 274 limits taxes raised in lieu of sewer or water charges to pay debt service on bonds or notes
issued by the municipality (or by an independent authority, commission or district) for water or sewer purposes, provided that
the municipality’s sewer or water charges are reduced accordingly.
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In addition, Proposition 2%z limits the annual increase in the total assessments on cities and towns by any county, district,
authority, the Commonwealth or any other governmental entity (except regional school districts, the MWRA and certain districts
for which special legislation provides otherwise) to the sum of (a) 2V percent of the prior year's assessments and (b) “any
increases in costs, charges or fees for services customarily provided locally or for services subscribed to at local option”.
Regional water districts, regional sewerage districts and regional veterans districts may exceed these limitations under statutory
procedures requiring a two-thirds vote of the district's governing body and either approval of the local appropriating authorities
(by two-thirds vote in districts with more than two members or by majority vote in two-member districts) or approval of the
registered voters in a local election (in the case of two-member districts). Under Proposition 2%2 any State law to take effect on
or after January 1, 1981 imposing a direct service or cost obligation on a city or town will become effective only if accepted or
voluntarily funded by the city or town or if State funding is provided. Similarly, State rules or regulations imposing additional
costs on a city or town or laws granting or increasing local tax exemptions are to take effect only if adequate State appropriations
are provided. These statutory provisions do not apply to costs resulting from judicial decisions.

Tax Levies and Tax Levy Limits (1)

Fiscal year
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Primary Levy Limit (2) $ 295,265,632 $ 266,844,066 $ 236,340,374 $ 226,083,087 $ 204,695,360
Prior Fiscal Year Levy Limit 171,723,047 165,213,230 158,905,239 152,560,490 146,747,545
2.5% Levy Growth 4,293,076 4,130,331 3,972,631 3,814,012 3,668,690
New Growth (3) 2,217,348 2,379,486 2,335,360 2,530,737 2,144,212
Overrides - - - - -
Growth Levy Limit 178,233,471 171,723,047 165,213,230 158,905,239 152,560,447
Debt Exclusions - - - - -
Capital Expenditure Exclusions - - - - -
Other Adjustments - - - - -
Tax Levy Limit 178,233,471 171,723,047 165,213,230 158,905,239 152,560,447
Tax Levy 164,432,055 153,566,291 144,933,397 138,331,643 133,785,808
Unused Levy Capacity (4) 13,801,416 18,156,756 20,279,834 20,573,596 18,774,639

Unused Primary Levy Capacity (5) $ 117,032,161 $  95121,019 $ 71,127,144 $ 67,177,848 $ 52,134,913

(1) Source: Massachusetts Department of Revenue.

(2) 2.5% of assessed valuation.

(3) Allowed increase for new valuations (or required reduction) — certified by the Department of Revenue.
(4) Tax Levy Limit less Tax Levy.

(5) Primary Levy Limit less Growth Levy Limit.

Pledged Taxes

Taxes on certain property in designated development districts may be pledged for the payment of costs of economic
development projects within such districts and may therefore be unavailable for other municipal purposes. (See “CITY
FINANCES - Tax Increment Financing for Development Districts” below.)

Community Preservation Act

The Massachusetts Community Preservation Act (the “CPA”) permits cities and towns that accept its provisions to levy a
surcharge on its real property tax levy, dedicate revenue (other than state or federal funds), and to receive state matching
funds for (i) the acquisition, creation, preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of land for recreational use, open space,
and community housing and (ii) the acquisition, preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of historic resources. The
provisions of the CPA must be accepted by the voters of the city or town at an election after such provisions have first been
accepted by either a vote of the legislative body of the city or town or an initiative petition signed by 5% of its registered
voters.

A city or town may approve a surcharge of up to 3% (but not less than 1% under certain circumstances) and may make an
additional commitment of funds by dedicating revenue other than state or federal funds, provided that the total funds
collected do not exceed 3% of the real property tax levy, less any exemptions adopted (such as an exemption for low-
income individuals and families and for low and moderate-income senior citizens, an exemption for $100,000 of the value
of each taxable parcel of residential real property or $100,000 of the value of each taxable parcel of class three, commercial
property, and class four, industrial property as defined in Chapter 59, Section 2A of the General Laws, and an exemption
for commercial and industrial properties in cities and towns with classified tax rates). In the event that the municipality shall
no longer dedicate all or part of the additional funds to community preservation, the surcharge on the real property tax levy
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of not less than 1% shall remain in effect, provided that any such change must be approved pursuant to the same process
as acceptance of the CPA. The surcharge is not counted in the total taxes assessed for the purpose of determining the
permitted levy amount under Proposition 274 (see “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERTY TAXATION” above). A city or town
may revoke its acceptance of the provisions of the CPA at any time after 5 years from the date of such acceptance and may
change the amount of the surcharge or the exemptions to the surcharge at any time, including reducing the surcharge to
1% and committing additional municipal funds as outlined above, provided that any such revocation or change must be
approved pursuant to the same process as acceptance of the CPA.

Any city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA will receive annual state matching grants to supplement amounts
raised by its surcharge and dedication of revenue. The state matching funds are raised from certain recording and filing
fees of the registers of deeds. Those amounts are deposited into a state trust fund and are distributed to cities and towns
that have accepted the provisions of the CPA, which distributions are not subject to annual appropriation by the state
legislature. The amount distributed to each city and town is based on a statutory formula and the total state distribution
made to any city or town may not exceed 100% of the amount raised locally by the surcharge on the real property tax levy.

The amounts raised by the surcharge on taxes, the amounts of other dedicated revenues and the amounts received in state
matching funds are required to be deposited in a dedicated community preservation fund. Each city or town that accepts
the provisions of the CPA is required to establish a community preservation committee to study the community preservation
needs of the community and to make recommendations to the legislative body of the city or town regarding the community
preservation projects that should be funded from the community preservation fund. Upon the recommendations of the
committee, the legislative body of the city or town may appropriate amounts from the fund for permitted community
preservation purposes or may reserve amounts for spending in future fiscal years, provided that at least 10% of the total
annual revenues to the fund must be spent or set aside for open space purposes, 10% for historic resource purposes and
10% for community housing purposes.

The CPA authorizes cities and towns that accept its provisions to issue bonds and notes in anticipation of the receipt of
surcharge and other dedicated revenues to finance community preservation projects approved under the provisions of the
CPA. Bonds and notes issued under the CPA are general obligations of the city or town and are payable from amounts on
deposit in the community preservation fund. In the event that a city or town revokes its acceptance of the provisions of the
CPA, the surcharge shall remain in effect until all contractual obligations incurred by the city or town prior to such revocation,
including the payment of bonds or notes issued under the CPA, have been fully discharged.

On November 5, 2019, the City adopted the CPA. The CPA surcharge of 1% began in fiscal year 2020.

Community Preservation Fund Major Revenues

Fiscal Year Property Tax State Contribution Total
2023 $ 976,516 $ 3,331,153 $ 4,307,669
2022 881,522 336,430 1,217,952
2021 818,146 203,875 1,022,021
2020 684,764 - 684,764

The CPA fund balance as of June 30, 2023 was $3,801,434.
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CITY FINANCES
Budget and Appropriation Process

The budget process begins with the City Manager’s submission of a proposed budget for the ensuing fiscal year to the City
Council within 170 days after the annual organization of the city government (which is ordinarily in early January). The City
Council may make appropriations for the recommended purposes and may reduce or reject any item. Without a
recommendation of the City Manager, the City Council may not make any appropriation for a purpose not included in the
proposed budget, except by a two-thirds vote in the case of a failure of the City Manager to recommend an appropriation
for such a purpose within 7 days after a request from the council. The City Council may not increase any item without the
recommendation of the City Manager. If the City Council fails to act on any item of the proposed budget within 45 days,
that item takes effect.

If the City Manager does not make a timely budget submission, provision is made for preparation of a budget by the City
Council. Water and sewer department expenditures are required to be included in the budget adopted by the City Council.
Provision is also made for supplementary appropriations upon recommendation of the City Manager. Under certain
circumstances and subject to certain limits and requirements, the City Council, upon recommendation of the City Manager,
may transfer amounts appropriated for the use of one department (except for the school department) to another
appropriation for the same department or for the use of any other department. School Committees are not autonomous
with respect to school expenditures for current purposes. The school budget is limited to the amount appropriated by the
City Council, but the school committee retains full power to allocate the funds appropriated.

City department heads are generally required to submit their budget requests to the City Manager between November 1
and December 1. School department budgets, expenditures, and other financial matters requiring action by the City Council
shall be submitted to the City Manager for review and comment after they have been acted upon by the School Committee.

Mandatory items, such as state and county assessments, the overlay for abatements, abatements in excess of overlays,
principal and interest not otherwise provided for and final judgments are included in the tax levy whether or not included in
the budget. Revenues are not required to be set forth in the budget but estimated non-tax revenues are taken into account
by the assessors in fixing the tax levy.

Budget Trends
The table below sets forth the trend in general and enterprise fund budgets for the following fiscal years. The budgets
summarized below exclude expenditures for "non-operating" or extraordinary items. The City’s fiscal 2021 budget was

appropriated in a series of “one twelfth” budgets for July, August, and September, and then the remainder of the 2021 fiscal
year amounts were appropriated for October — June.

Fiscal 2020 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2024

General Government(1)(3) $ 107,748,527 $§ 110,603,423 $ 116,372,681 $§ 128,669,790 $ 137,756,507

Public Safety 48,016,986 51,721,155 51,781,743 55,123,094 58,539,670
Public Works 40,626,186 44,274,295 49,515,758 51,794,067 56,364,562
Human Services 4,153,547 4,808,581 4,691,331 5,300,079 5,401,550
Culture/Recreation 2,145,870 1,587,137 2,272,515 2,709,139 3,063,681
Education(2) 189,438,346 195,647,837 208,115,659 228,226,729 257,186,411
Debt Service 25,617,172 30,630,154 31,445,101 30,732,871 31,622,984

TOTAL $ 417,746,634 $ 439272583 $ 464,194,788 $ 502,555,769 $ 549,935,365

(1) Includes pensions, annuities, retirement, other employee benefits, and City parking facilities.
(2) This category includes the Greater Lowell Regional Vocational Technical School District assessment.
(3) Priorto 2019, General Government did not include Cherry Sheet Assessments. From 2019 onward, these are included.
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Revenues

Property Taxes: Property taxes are a major source of revenue for the City. The total amount levied is subject to certain
limits prescribed by law. For a description of those limits see "PROPERTY TAXATION -- Tax Limitations" above.

State Aid: In addition to grants for specified capital purposes (some of which are payable over the life of the bonds issued
for the projects), the Commonwealth provides financial assistance to cities and towns for current purposes. Payments to
cities and towns are derived primarily from a percentage of the State’s personal income, sales and use, and corporate
excise tax receipts, together with the net receipts from the State Lottery. A municipality’s state aid entitlement is based on
a number of different formulas, of which the “schools” and “lottery” formulas are the most important. Both of the major
formulas tend to provide more state aid to poorer communities. The formulas for determining a municipality’s state aid
entitlement are subject to amendment by the state legislature and, while a formula might indicate that a particular amount
of state aid is owed, the amount of state aid actually paid is limited to the amount appropriated by the state legislature. The
state annually estimates state aid, but the actual state aid payments may vary from the estimate.

In the fall of 1986, legislation was enacted placing limits on the growth of state tax revenues. In essence, the growth in state tax
revenue is limited to the average rate of growth in wages and salaries in the Commonwealth over the previous three calendar
years. The effect of this legislation could be to restrict the amount of state tax revenue available to provide state financial
assistance to the Commonwealth’s cities, towns and regional school districts.

Motor Vehicle Excise: An excise tax is imposed on the registration of motor vehicles (subject to exemptions) at a rate of
$25 per $1,000 of valuation. The excise collected by and for the benefit of the municipality in which the vehicle is customarily
kept. Valuations are determined by a statutory formula based on manufacturer's list price and year of manufacture. Bills
not paid when due bear interest at 12% per annum. Provision is also made, after notice to the owner, for suspension of the
owner’s operating license or registration by the Registry of Motor Vehicles.

Sewer Rates and Services: The City’s sewer services are accounted for in an enterprise fund. The City's Sewer Department
provides sewer services to all commercial, industrial, and residential users in the City and has contracts with the towns of
Chelmsford, Dracut, Tyngsborough and Tewksbury for use of the treatment facility. The sewer charge, which was increased
in 2013, is a sliding scale ranging from $2.71 to $2.99 per hundred cubic feet (hcf) of metered water consumption. The trend
in sewer revenues, expenditures and fund balance is detailed in the table below.

Expenditures

(including
Fiscal indirect
Year Revenues charges) Fund Balance
2023 $ 26,262,415 $ 28,324,367 $ 3,670,227
2022 27,041,824 28,301,962 5,732,179
2021 24,803,364 24,930,426 6,992,318
2020 24,515,352 23,191,834 7,118,693
2019 24,817,945 22,688,961 5,795,176

Beginning in August, 2014 the City Council approved an increase in the Ordinance for sewer rate’s sliding rate scale to a
range of $3.194 to $3.533 per hundred cubic feet (“hcf’) of metered water consumption. The rate increase schedule is part
of a multi-year, incremental increase plan to support additional debt service related to the next phase of the sewer separation
project. This project is intended to comply with mandated EPA requirements that municipalities reduce the environmental
impact of overflow related to the combined sewer systems. The sewer rate was increased as part of the FY24 budget,
resulting in the current sliding scale range of $5.64 (base rate) to $6.30 (over 500) per hcf of wastewater discharged per
quarter.

Water Rates and Services: The City’s water services are accounted for in an enterprise fund. Water is supplied to all City
residents and businesses by the municipal water department. Current daily capacity is 30 million gallons. Current average
daily consumption is 14 million gallons per day. The City's water treatment plant and distribution system has been
extensively rehabilitated. The City has water supply contracts with the towns of Tewksbury, Dracut, Tyngsboro, and
Chelmsford. The water rate was increased as part of the FY24 budget, resulting in the current sliding scale range of $2.76
to $4.60 per hundred cubic feet (“hcf’) per quarter of metered water consumption.
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The trend in water revenues, expenditures and fund balance is detailed in the table below.

Expenditures

(including

Fiscal indirect

Year Revenues charges) Fund Balance
2023 $ 12,184,305 $ 13,280,646 $ 3,357,793
2022 14,579,445 14,850,409 4,454,134
2021 12,152,279 14,313,910 4,725,097
2020 11,372,606 13,191,567 6,886,728
2019 11,277,836 12,581,164 8,705,690

Room Occupancy Tax: Under Chapter 64G, Section 3A, of the Massachusetts General Laws, local governments may tax
the provision of hotel, motel, and lodging house and bed and breakfast rooms at a rate not to exceed six percent (6%) of
the cost of renting such rooms. The tax is paid by the operator of the establishment to the State Commissioner of Revenue,
who in turn pays the tax back to the municipality in which the rooms are located. The City levies the full 6.0% room
occupancy tax as permitted under the law. The trend in room occupancy tax receipts is shown in the table below.

Room

Fiscal Occupancy Tax
Year Receipts
2023 $ 194,788
2022 109,798
2021 48,093
2020 261,846
2019 183,254

Local Meals Excise Tax: In May 2010 the City enacted a local meals excise tax on sales of restaurant meals. The tax is a
three-fourths percent tax on the gross receipts of a vendor from the sale of restaurant meals. The vendor pays the tax to
the State Commissioner of Revenue, which in turn, pays the tax to the municipality in which the meal was sold. The trend
in meals tax receipts in shown in the table below.

Fiscal Meals Tax

Year Receipts

2023 $ 1,661,150
2022 1,470,028
2021 1,171,773
2020 1,220,378
2019 950,618

Marijuana Tax: On May 15, 2018, the Lowell City Council accepted General Laws Chapter 64N section 3, a local excise on
retail sales of marijuana, imposing an excise on the retail sales of marijuana at the rate of 3%, effective May 16, 2019. Also,
on February of 2019, the Lowell City Council further voted to establish a Municipal Facility Stabilization Fund as authorized
by MGL c. 40, section 5B (4th paragraph), which dedicated 25% of the revenue collections from the local option excise to
improvements for municipal facilities. The trend in marijuana tax receipts is shown in the table below.

Marijuana Tax Receipts

Deposited to Total
Fiscal Deposited to Special Purpose Marijuana Tax
Year General Fund Stabilization Fund Receipts
2023 $ 811,986 $ 270,662 $ 1,082,648
2022 512,573 170,857 683,430
2021 296,188 98,729 394,917
2020 322,586 107,525 430,111
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Education Reform

State legislation known as the Education Reform Act of 1993, as amended, imposes certain minimum expenditure
requirements on municipalities with respect to funding for education and related programs, and may affect the level of state
aid to be received for education. The requirements are determined on the basis of formulas affected by various measures
of wealth and income, enrollments, prior levels of local spending and state aid, and other factors. See “Supplemental
Reserve Fund” herein for a discussion of the City’s recent compliance with the net school spending requirement.

State School Building Assistance

Under its school building assistance program, The Commonwealth of Massachusetts provides grants to cities, towns and
regional school districts for school construction projects. Until July 26, 2004, the State Board of Education was responsible
for approving grants for school projects and otherwise administering the program. Grant amounts ranged from 50% to 90%
of approved project costs. Municipalities generally issued bonds to finance the entire project cost, and the Commonwealth
disbursed the grants in equal annual installments over the term of the related bonds.

Pursuant to legislation which became effective on July 26, 2004, the state legislature created the Massachusetts School
Building Authority (the “Authority”) to finance and administer the school building assistance program. The Authority has
assumed all powers and obligations of the Board of Education with respect to the program. In addition to certain other
amounts, the legislation dedicates a portion of Commonwealth sales tax receipts to the Authority to finance the program.

The range of reimbursement rates for new project grant applications submitted to the Authority is between 31% and 80% of
approved project costs. The Authority promulgated new regulations with respect to the application and approval process
for projects submitted after July 1, 2007. The Authority expects to pay grants for such projects as project costs are incurred
pursuant to project funding agreements between the Authority and the municipalities. None of the interest expense incurred
on debt issued by municipalities to finance their portion of the costs of new projects will be included in the approved project
costs eligible for reimbursement.

Investment of City Funds

Investments of funds of cities and towns, except for trust funds, are generally restricted by Massachusetts General Laws,
Chapter 44, Section 55. That statute permits investments of available revenue funds and bond and note proceeds in term
deposits and certificates of deposits of banks and trust companies, in obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by
the federal government or an agency thereof with a maturity of not more than one year, in repurchase agreements with a
maturity of not more than 90 days secured by federal or federal agency securities, in participation units in the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust (‘MMDT”), or in shares in SEC-registered money market funds with the highest possible rating
from at least one nationally recognized rating organization.

MMDT is an investment pool created by the Commonwealth. The State Treasurer is the sole trustee, and the funds are
managed under contract by an investment firm under the supervision of the State Treasurer’s office. According to the State
Treasurer the Trust’s investment policy is designed to maintain an average weighted maturity of 90 days or less and is
limited to high-quality, readily marketable fixed income instruments, including U.S. Government obligations and highly-rated
corporate securities with maturities of one year or less.

Trust funds, unless otherwise provided by the donor, may be invested in accordance with Section 54 of Chapter 44, which
permits a broader range of investments than Section 55, including any bonds or notes that are legal investments for savings
banks in the Commonwealth. The restrictions imposed by Sections 54 and 55 do not apply to city and town retirement
systems.

A breakdown of such investments may be obtained from the City Treasurer.
Pension funds are under the jurisdiction of the Lowell Contributory Retirement System.
Tax Increment Financing for Development Districts

Cities and towns are authorized to establish development districts to encourage increased residential, industrial and
commercial activity. All or a portion of the taxes on growth in assessed value in such districts may be pledged and used
solely to finance economic development projects pursuant to the city or town’s development program for the district. This
includes pledging such “tax increments” for the payment of bonds issued to finance such projects. As a result of any such
pledge, tax increments raised from new growth properties in development districts are not available for other municipal
purposes. Tax increments are taken into account in determining the total taxes assessed for the purpose of calculating the
maximum permitted tax levy under Proposition 2 V2 (see “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERTY TAXATION” above).

The City has not established any such development districts.
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Annual Audits

An audit of the City's financial statements for fiscal 2022 is attached hereto as Appendix A. This audit was prepared for the
City by Powers & Sullivan, Certified Public Accountants, Wakefield, Massachusetts.

The attached audit speaks only as of its date, and only to the matters expressly set forth therein. The auditors have not
been engaged to review this Official Statement or to perform audit procedures regarding the post-audit period, not have the
auditors been requested to give their consent to the inclusion of their report in Appendix A. Except as stated in their report,
the auditors have not been engaged to verify the financial information set out in Appendix A and are not passing upon and
do not assume responsibility for the sufficiency, accuracy or completeness of the financial information presented in that
appendix.

Financial Statements

Set forth on the following pages are the Governmental Funds Balance Sheets for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022,
June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, and Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balance - General Fund, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 through 2022. All of these statements were extracted
from the City's audited financial statements.
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City of Lowell, Massachusetts
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2022 (1)
COVID-19 High Nonmajor Total
Grant School Governmental Governmental
ASSETS General Fund Contruction Funds Funds

Cash and cash equivalents $ 60862307 §$ 56,397,792 $§ 31,853,992 $ 46,609,997 $ 195,724,088
Investments - - - 2,210,260 2,210,260
Receivables, net of uncollectables:

Real estate and personal property taxes 3,433,401 - - - 3,433,401

Tax liens 2,315,224 - - - 2,315,224

Community preservation fund surtax - 23,181 23,181

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 3,176,117 - - - 3,176,117

User fees 627,349 - - - 627,349

Departmental and other 2,843,020 - - 31,800 2,874,820

Intergovernmental 1,647,717 - 13,336,719 18,484,084 33,468,520

Loans - - - 45,504 45,504
Tax foreclosures 4,477,310 - - - 4,477,310
Working capital deposit 237,700 - - - 237,700
TOTAL ASSETS $ 79620145 § 56,397,792 §  45190,711 $ 67,404,826 $ 248,613,474
LIABILITIES:

Warrants payable $ 5159516 § 102,115 § 9,577,067 $ 4,405,604 $ 19,244,302

Accrued payroll 14,221,856 108,863 - 1,110,245 15,440,964

Payroll and other liabilities 6,774,069 - 35,726 6,809,795

Unearned revenue - 56,131,254 - 56,131,254

Notes payable - - - 68,000 68,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,155,441 56,342,232 9,577,067 5,619,575 97,694,315
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 14,969,284 - - 14,620,615 29,589,899
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable 237,700 - - 1,885,702 2,123,402

Restricted 1,150 55,560 35,613,644 45,278,934 80,949,288

Committed 6,670,416 - - - 6,670,416

Assigned 3,060,219 - - - 3,060,219

Unassigned 28,525,935 - - - 28,525,935
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 38,495,420 55,560 35,613,644 47,164,636 121,329,260
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 79620145 § 56,397,792 §  45190,711 $ 67,404,826 $ 248,613,474

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the City.
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City of Lowell, Massachusetts
Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2021 (1)

COVID-19 Nonmajor Total
Grant Governmental Governmental
ASSETS General Fund Funds Funds

Cash and cash equivalents $ 71,716,915 $ 20,932,697 $ 48,821,452 $ 141,471,064
Investments - - 3,149,241 3,149,241
Receivables, net of uncollectables:

Real estate and personal property taxes 3,111,135 - - 3,111,135

Tax liens 2,061,652 - - 2,061,652

Community preservation fund surtax - - 12,680 12,680

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 3,047,775 - - 3,047,775

User fees 601,902 - - 601,902

Departmental and other 261,690 - 24,060 285,750

Intergovernmental 2,336,915 - 21,503,408 23,840,323

Loans - - 73,489 73,489
Tax foreclosures 5,222,395 - - 5,222,395
Working capital deposit 237,700 - - 237,700
TOTAL ASSETS $ 88,598,079 $ 20,932,697 $ 73,584,330 $ 183,115,106

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES:

Warrants payable $ 2,832,811 $ 928,508 $ 8428902 $ 12,190,221

Accrued payroll 14,493,903 - 988,548 15,482,451

Payroll and other liabilities 7,033,408 - 69,715 7,103,123

Unearned revenue - 19,948,629 - 19,948,629
TOTAL LIABILITIES 24,360,122 20,877,137 9,487,165 54,724,424
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 15,895,997 - 11,695,475 27,591,472
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable 237,700 - 1,874,954 2,112,654

Restricted 1,150 55,560 50,526,736 50,583,446

Committed 2,998,631 - - 2,998,631

Assigned 9,303,351 - - 9,303,351

Unassigned 35,801,128 - - 35,801,128
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 48,341,960 55,560 52,401,690 100,799,210
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 88,598,079 $ 20,932,697 $ 73,584,330 $ 183,115,106

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the City.
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City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2020 (1)

Nonmajor Total
Gowvernmental Governmental
ASSETS General Funds Funds

Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,969,245 $ 43,908,847 $ 94,878,092
Investments - 2,026,447 2,026,447
Receivables, net of uncollectables:

Real estate and personal property taxes 3,491,785 - 3,491,785

Tax liens 1,715,717 - 1,715,717

Community preservation fund surtax - 27,962 27,962

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 3,698,634 - 3,698,634

User fees 598,716 - 598,716

Departmental and other 527,757 8,200 535,957

Intergovernmental 3,505,375 16,497,646 20,003,021

Loans - 76,165 76,165
Tax foreclosures 5,066,420 - 5,066,420
Working capital deposit 237,700 - 237,700
TOTAL ASSETS $ 69,811,349 $ 62,545,267 $ 132,356,616

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES:

Warrants payable $ 4,807,305 $ 7,775,801 $ 12,583,106

Accrued payroll 14,249,672 840,426 15,090,098

Payroll and other liabilities 5,712,615 - 5,712,615

Notes payable - 582,400 582,400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 24,769,592 9,198,627 33,968,219
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 17,109,962 13,308,335 30,418,297
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 17,109,962 13,308,335 30,418,297
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable - 1,860,648 1,860,648

Restricted 1,150 38,177,657 38,178,807

Committed 4,714,784 - 4,714,784

Assigned 2,868,357 - 2,868,357

Unassigned 20,347,504 - 20,347,504
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 27,931,795 40,038,305 67,970,100
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 69,811,349 $ 62,545,267 $ 132,356,616

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the City.
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CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (1)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

GENERAL FUND
COVID-19 High Nonmajor Total
Grant School Governmental Governmental
General Fund Construction Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tax refunds $ 151,372,848 $ - - $ 151,372,848
Tax liens 653,055 - - 653,055
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 10,200,462 - - 10,200,462
Hotel/motel tax 109,798 - 109,798
Meals tax 1,470,028 - - 1,470,028
Charges for services 3,320,734 - - 3,320,734
Penalties and interest on taxes 1,404,545 - 1,383 1,405,928
Payments in lieu of taxes 440,600 - - 440,600
Fines and forfeitures - - 28,430 28,430
Intergovernmental - state aid 214,995,489 - - 214,995,489
Intergovernmental - School Building Authority 1,192,790 - - 1,192,790
Intergovernmental - Teachers Retirement 26,643,061 - - - 26,643,061
Intergovernmental - other - 8,987,367 31,819,599 68,692,455 109,499,421
Departmental and other 9,884,791 - - 12,336,885 22,221,676
Community preservation taxes - - 844,037 844,037
Contributions and donations - - 574,506 574,506
Investment income 388,200 - - (7,416) 380,784
TOTAL REVENUES 422,076,401 8,987,367 31,819,599 82,470,280 $ 545,353,647
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General Government 11,951,690 2,822,530 606,163 15,380,383
Public Safety 53,880,335 682,294 - 9,718,840 64,281,469
Education 193,157,058 5,273,517 49,626,129 46,249,645 294,306,349
Public works 15,196,217 16,990 - 11,245,374 26,458,581
Human services 5,771,132 371,971 13,834,862 19,977,965
Culture and recreation 4,147,811 - 2,483,410 6,631,221
Pension benefits 26,572,390 - - 26,572,390
Penstion benefits - teachers retirement 26,643,061 - - 26,643,061
Employee benefits 44,034,417 - - 44,034,417
State and County Charges 34,184,770 - - 34,184,770
Debt Service -
Principal 8,197,400 - - 8,197,400
Debt service related to leases, includes interest of $111,148 216,889 - 287,225 504,114
Interest 4,915,071 - - - 4,915,071
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 428,868,241 9,167,302 49,626,129 84,425,519 572,087,191
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (6,791,840) (179,935) (17,806,530) (1,955,239) (26,733,544)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of long term debt - 41,413,620 3,984,431 45,398,051
Issuance of refunding long term debt 4,894,000 - - 4,894,000
Premium from issuance of long term debt - - 356,908 356,908
Premium from issuance of refunding long term debt 811,847 - - 811,847
Payments to refunded bonds escrow agent (5,460,000) - - (5,460,000)
Right to use lease financing 5,126,558 - 2,016,230 7,142,788
Proceeds from the sale of assets - - - 100,000 100,000
Transfers In 1,729,900 179,935 0 3,997,070 5,906,905
Transfers Out (10,157,005) 0 0 (1,729,900) (11,886,905)
Total Other Financing Sources (uses) Net (3,054,700) 179,935 41,413,620 8,724,739 47,263,594
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (9,846,540) 23,607,090 6,769,500 20,530,050
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 48,341,960 55,560 12,006,554 40,395,136 100,799,210
FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS) AT END OF YEAR $38,495,420 $55,560 $35,613,644 $47,164,636 $121,329,260

(1) Extracted from the City's audited financial statements.
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REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,

net of tax refunds
Tax liens
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes
Hotel/motel tax
Meals tax
Charges for services
Penalties and interest on taxes
Payments in lieu of taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental - state aid
Intergovernmental - School Building Authority
Intergovernmental - Teachers Retirement
Intergovernmental - other
Departmental and other
Community preservation taxes
Contributions and donations
Investment income

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public works
Human services
Culture and recreation
Pension benefits
Penstion benefits - teachers retirement
Employee benefits
State and County Charges
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Issuance of bonds

Issuance of refunding bonds

Premium from issuance of bonds

Premium from issuance of refunding bonds
Payments to refunded bonds escrow agent
Proceeds from the sale of assets
Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (uses) Net

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS) AT END OF YEAR

(1) Extracted from the City's audited financial statements.

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (1)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

GENERAL FUND

COVID-19 Nonmajor Total
Grant Governmental Governmental
General Fund Funds Funds
$ 143,373,931 - $ - $ 143,373,931
631,113 - - 631,113
10,649,309 - - 10,649,309
48,093 - - 48,093
1,171,773 - - 1,171,773
3,302,804 - - 3,302,804
1,509,280 - 2,073 1,511,353
467,544 - - 467,544
- - 49,553 49,553
198,491,022 - - 198,491,022
1,192,791 - - 1,192,791
51,082,819 - - 51,082,819
- 26,865,029 87,335,893 114,200,922
8,339,823 - 8,580,669 16,920,492
- - 770,450 770,450
- - 715,926 715,926
570,263 - 154,123 724,386
420,830,565 26,865,029 97,608,687 $ 545,304,281
11,194,467 8,969,485 307,211 20,471,163
50,121,108 1,368,367 14,012,487 65,501,962
163,690,563 13,867,343 57,411,376 234,969,282
12,576,603 1,283,661 20,017,243 33,877,507
3,944,763 851,141 13,911,598 18,707,502
3,424,079 119,218 848,632 4,391,929
26,825,365 - - 26,825,365
51,082,819 - - 51,082,819
38,910,513 420,358 - 39,330,871
29,818,234 - - 29,818,234
7,470,399 - - 7,470,399
3,505,888 - - 3,505,888
402,564,801 26,879,573 106,508,547 535,952,921
18,265,764 (14,544) (8,899,860) 9,351,360
- - 15,012,488 15,012,488
2,134,600 - - 2,134,600
- - 5,883,915 5,883,915
399,723 - - 399,723
(2,410,000) - - (2,410,000)
- - 1,933,206 1,933,206
2,237,078 217,000 4,213 2,458,291
(217,000) (202,456) (2,241,191) (2,660,647)
2,144,401 14,544 20,592,631 22,751,576
20,410,165 - 11,692,771 32,102,936
27,931,795 55,560 40,708,919 68,696,274
$48,341,960 $55,560 $52,401,690 $100,799,210
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CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (1)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
GENERAL FUND

REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,

net of tax refunds
Tax liens
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes
Hotel/motel tax
Meals tax
Urban development corporation tax
Charges for services
Penalties and interest on taxes
Fees and rentals
Payments in lieu of taxes
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental - state aid
Intergovernmental - School Building Authority
Intergovernmental - Teachers Retirement
Intergovernmental - other
Intergovernmental - COVID-19 relief
Intergovernmental - COVID-19 lost revenue replacement
Departmental and other
Community preservation taxes
Community preservation state match
Special assessments
Contributions and donations
Investment income

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public works
Human services
Culture and recreation
COVID-19
Pension benefits
Penstion benefits - teachers retirement
Employee benefits
State and County Charges
Debt Service
Principal
Principal payment on current refunding
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Issuance of bonds

Issuance of refunding bonds

Premium from issuance of bonds

Premium from issuance of refunding bonds
Proceeds from the sale of assets
Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (uses) Net

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS) AT END OF YEAR

(1) Extracted from the City's audited financial statements.

Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental
General Funds Funds
$ 136,818,671 - $ 136,818,671
980,803 - 980,803
8,746,387 - 8,746,387
261,846 - 261,846
1,220,378 - 1,220,378
3,248,846 - 3,248,846
1,091,577 541 1,092,118
546,357 - 546,357
- 26,420 26,420
195,311,720 - 195,311,720
1,192,791 - 1,192,791
44,385,319 - 44,385,319
333,754 50,868,683 51,202,437
- 450,038 450,038
9,481,566 2,067,907 11,549,473
- 684,224 684,224
- 1,226,933 1,226,933
1,209,952 50,424 1,260,376
404,829,967 55,375,170 $ 460,205,137
13,115,826 311,183 13,427,009
51,238,750 5,032,224 56,270,974
167,723,255 44,567,464 212,290,719
12,637,302 10,736,227 23,373,529
3,976,863 9,349,806 13,326,669
3,967,100 764,380 4,731,480
- 450,038 450,038
24,868,598 - 24,868,598
44,385,319 - 44,385,319
42,072,237 - 42,072,237
27,902,381 - 27,902,381
7,377,448 850,000 8,227,448
4,405,000 - 4,405,000
2,283,381 42,007 2,325,388
405,953,460 72,103,329 478,056,789
(1,123,493) (16,728,159) (17,851,652)
- 36,256,049 36,256,049
3,797,500 - 3,797,500
- 2,290,891 2,290,891
652,795 - 652,795
- 250,000 250,000
1,933,109 1,520,000 3,453,109
(1,500,000) (1,933,109) (3,433,109)
4,883,404 38,383,831 43,267,235
3,759,911 21,655,672 25,415,583
24,171,884 18,382,633 42,554,517
$27,931,795 $40,038,305 $67,970,100
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CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (1)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tex refunds
Tax liens
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes
Hotel/motel tax
Meals tax
Charges for services
Penalties and interest on taxes
Payments in lieu of taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental - state aid
Intergovernmental - school buidling authority
Intergovernmental - teachers retirement
Intergovernmental - other
Departmental and other
Contributions and donations
Investment income
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public works
Human services
Culture and recreation
Pension benefits
Penstion benefits - teachers retirement
Employee benefits
State and County Charges
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of bonds

Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (uses) Net

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS) AT END OF YEAR

(1) Extracted from the City's audited financial statements.

GENERAL FUND

Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

General Funds Funds
$ 131,549,594 $ - $ 131,549,594
737,817 - 737,817
9,745,497 - 9,745,497
346,388 - 346,888
1,292,366 - 1,292,366
3,097,008 - 3,097,008
1,247,038 - 1,247,038
465,612 - 465,612
- 68,050 68,050
181,484,487 - 181,484,487
1,192,791 - 1,192,791
35,253,246 - 35,253,246
806,717 55,804,488 56,611,205
9,483,386 3,678,195 13,161,581
- 228,508 228,508
827,813 130,005 957,818
$ 377,530,260 $ 59,909,246 $ 437,439,506
12,978,287 701,958 13,680,245
47,687,333 5,989,914 53,677,247
158,307,594 39,302,548 197,610,142
12,569,761 11,642,415 24,212,176
3,705,026 8,689,532 12,394,558
4,009,598 845,376 4,854,974
23,787,319 - 23,787,319
35,253,246 - 35,253,246
42,836,174 - 42,836,174
25,253,169 - 25,253,169
6,057,000 170,000 6,227,000
3,011,205 26,571 3,037,776
375,455,712 67,368,314 442,824,026
2,074,548 (7,459,068) (5,384,520)
- 16,221,399 16,221,399
3,295,448 837,052 4,132,500
(551,950) (3,360,550) (3,912,500)
2,743,498 13,697,901 16,441,399
4,818,046 6,238,833 11,056,879
19,353,838 12,343,800 31,697,638
$24,171,884 $18,582,633 $42,754,517
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REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tex refunds
Tax liens
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes
Hotel/motel tax
Meals tax
Charges for services
Penalties and interest on taxes
Payments in lieu of taxes
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental - state aid
Intergovernmental - school buidling authority
Intergovernmental - teachers retirement
Intergovernmental - other
Departmental and other
Contributions and donations
Investment income
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public works
Human services
Culture and recreation
Pension benefits
Penstion benefits - teachers retirement
Employee benefits
State and County Charges
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of bonds

Premium from issuance of Bonds
Proceeds from the sale of assets
Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (uses) Net

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS) AT END OF YEAR

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (1)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

GENERAL FUND

Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

General Funds Funds
$ 127,434,916 $ - $ 127,434,916
754,170 - 754,170
9,920,727 - 9,920,727
331,215 - 331,215
1,238,909 - 1,238,909
3,135,830 - 3,135,830
1,348,397 - 1,348,397
433,476 - 433,476
- 76,718 76,718
173,461,315 - 173,461,315
1,192,791 - 1,192,791
36,030,056 - 36,030,056
166,330 50,259,259 50,425,589
8,489,107 4,248,289 12,737,396
- 3,484,642 3,484,642
406,100 59,066 465,166
$ 364,343,339 $ 58,127,974 $ 422,471,313
16,727,497 1,602,559 18,330,056
46,883,810 5,113,501 51,997,311
155,796,694 37,288,212 193,084,906
14,363,568 10,988,933 25,352,501
3,483,799 8,806,381 12,290,180
4,203,854 2,122,072 6,325,926
24,344,417 - 24,344,417
36,030,056 - 36,030,056
43,366,999 - 43,366,999
24,350,905 - 24,350,905
5,883,500 170,000 6,053,500
2,660,768 27,838 2,688,606
378,095,867 66,119,496 444,215,363
(13,752,528) (7,991,522) (21,744,050)
- 10,251,448 10,251,448
- 1,332,225 1,332,225
- 584,665 584,665
10,982,216 2,606,894 13,589,110
(1,587,609) (3,168,659) (4,756,268)
9,394,607 11,606,573 21,001,180
(4,357,921) 3,615,051 (742,870)
23,711,759 8,728,749 32,440,508
$19,353,838 $12,343,800 $31,697,638

(1) Extracted from the City's audited financial statements.
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Unassigned Fund Balance and Free Cash (Uniform System of Accounting)

Under the Massachusetts Uniform System of Accounting an amount known as "free cash" is certified as of the beginning of
each fiscal year by the State Bureau of Accounts and this, together with certain subsequent tax receipts, is used as the
basis for subsequent appropriations from available funds, which are not required to be included in the annual tax levy.
Subject to certain adjustments, free cash is defined as surplus revenue (unreserved fund balance) less uncollected and
overdue property taxes from prior years.

The following table sets forth the City's unassigned general fund balances and free cash at the end of fiscal 2018 through
fiscal 2023.

Fiscal Unassigned General Free

Year Fund Balance Cash

2023 (estimate) $ 22,507,220 $ 10,000,000
2022 28,525,935 7,860,448
2021 35,801,128 17,781,512 (1)
2020 20,347,504 3,976,162
2019 21,937,328 7,462,706
2018 16,286,976 2,513,634

(1) The large increase in free cash at July 1, 2021 is due to a number of factors, including revenue loss/ replacement from ARPA in the
general fund, significant turn backs from departments, and a spending freeze in place by management in FY21.

Stabilization Fund
The City maintains a general purpose stabilization fund accounted for in the General Fund. Under Massachusetts statutes,

funds may be appropriated from the Stabilization Fund for any municipal purposes by the City Council. The following sets
forth the recent trend in the Stabilization Fund:

Fiscal
Year Stabilization
(June 30) Fund

2023 $ 14,318,065
2022 13,930,658
2021 12,863,345
2020 12,283,568
2019 11,794,649

On December 29, 2017, the City received notification from the Department of Revenue (DOR) that the “free cash”
certification as of July 1, 2016 was $4,873,124 for the general fund. On January 9, 2018, upon recommendation of the City
Manager, the Council appropriated $2,458,145 from certified free cash into the stabilization fund. This amount replenished
the $1,458,145 used to set the fiscal 2018 tax rate and added an additional $1 million to the stabilization fund’s balance.
The balance of the free cash certification was appropriated to replenish other special revenue funds.

Utilizing a portion of the certified fiscal 2014 free cash, the City Council voted on December 12, 2014 to create a special
purpose stabilization fund to help mitigate the impact of future debt service payments relative to capital expenditures in the
General Fund. The fund was seeded with $955,290 from fiscal 2014 Free Cash. The following sets forth the balance as of
June 30, 2019 through June 30, 2023 in the special purpose stabilization funds:

Fiscal Pension Salary Capital Debt Equity/Diversity
Year Ended Reserve Fund Service Fund Stabilization Fund SPED Stabilization
June 30, Fund Balance Balance Balance Balance Fund Balance
2023 $ 9,038 $ 810,973 $ 8,661 $ 187,674 $ 2,948,909
2022 9,038 2,000,000 5,491 184,674 2,948,909
2021 9,038 1,000,010 419,254 - 1,388,459
2020 887,988 1,000,009 1,890,688 - -
2019 8,999 1,000,009 716,074 - -
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INDEBTEDNESS
Authorization Of General Obligation Bonds and Notes

Serial bonds and notes are authorized by vote of two-thirds of all the members of the city council (subject to the mayor’s
veto where the mayor has a veto power) or a two-thirds vote of the town meeting. Provision is made in some cities and
towns for a referendum on the borrowing authorization if there is a timely filing of a petition bearing the requisite number of
signatures. Refunding bonds and notes are authorized by the city council, the selectmen or either the prudential committee
or the commissioners of a district if there is no prudential committee. Borrowings for some purposes require State
administrative approval.

When serial bonds or notes have been authorized, bond anticipation notes may be issued by the officers authorized to issue
the serial bonds or notes. Temporary loans in anticipation of revenue of the fiscal year in which the debt is incurred or in
anticipation of authorized federal and state aid generally may be incurred by the Treasurer with the approval of the
selectmen.

Debt Limits

General Debt Limit. The general debt limit of the City consists of a normal debt limit and a double debt limit. The normal
debt limit is 5 percent of the valuation of taxable property as last equalized by the State Department of Revenue. The City
can authorize debt up to this amount without State approval. It can authorize debt up to twice this amount (the double debt
limit) with the approval of the State Municipal Finance Oversight Board.

There are many categories of general obligation debt which are exempt from and do not count against the General Debt Limit
if such debt is authorized by a two-thirds vote of the city or town and such debt is payable within the periods so specified in
Mass. Gen. Laws. c. 44, §8. Among others, these exempt categories include revenue anticipation notes and grant anticipation
notes; emergency loans; loans exempted by special laws; certain school bonds, certain sewer bonds, solid waste disposal
facility bonds and economic development bonds supported by tax increment financing, bonds for water, housing, urban renewal
and economic development (subject to various debt limits), and electric, gas, community antenna television systems, and
telecommunications systems. Revenue bonds are not subject to these debt limits. The General Debt Limit applies at the time
the debt is authorized. The special debt limits generally apply at the time the debt is incurred.

Revenue Anticipation Notes. The amount borrowed in each fiscal year by the issue of revenue anticipation notes is limited
to the tax levy of the prior fiscal year, together with the net receipts in the prior fiscal year from the motor vehicle excise and
certain payments made by the Commonwealth in lieu of taxes. The fiscal year ends on June 30. Notes may mature in the
following fiscal year, and notes may be refunded into the following fiscal year to the extent of the uncollected, unabated
current tax levy and certain other items, including revenue deficits, overlay deficits, final judgments and lawful
unappropriated expenditures, which are to be added to the next tax levy, but excluding deficits arising from a failure to
collect taxes of earlier years. (See “Taxation to Meet Deficits” above.) In any event, the period from an original borrowing
to its final maturity cannot exceed one year.

Types Of Obligations

General Obligations. Massachusetts cities and towns are authorized to issue general obligation indebtedness of these
types:

Serial Bonds and Notes. These are generally required to be payable in annual principal amounts beginning no later than the
end of the next fiscal year commencing after the date of issue and ending within the terms permitted by law. A level debt service
schedule, or a schedule that provides for a more rapid amortization of principal than level debt service, is permitted. The principal
amounts of certain economic development bonds supported by tax increment financing may be payable in equal, diminishing
or increasing amounts beginning within 5 years after the date of issue. The maximum terms of serial bonds and notes vary from
one year to 40 years, depending on the purpose of the issue. The maximum terms permitted are set forth in the statutes. In
addition, for many projects, the maximum term may be determined in accordance with useful life guidelines promulgated by the
State Department of Revenue (“DOR”). Serial bonds and notes may be issued for the purposes set forth in the statutes. In
addition, serial bonds and notes may be issued for any other public work improvement or asset not specifically listed in the
Statutes that has a useful life of at least 5 years. Bonds or notes may be made callable and redeemed prior to their maturity,
and a redemption premium may be paid. Refunding bonds or notes may be issued subject to the maximum applicable term
measured from the date of the original bonds or notes and must produce present value savings over the debt service of the
refunded bonds. Generally, the first required annual payment of principal of the refunding bonds cannot be later than the end
of the fiscal year in which any of the bonds or notes being refunded thereby is payable, however, principal payments made
before the first principal payment of any of the bonds or notes being refunded thereby may be in any amount.
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Serial bonds may be issued as “qualified bonds” with the approval of the state Municipal Finance Oversight Board composed of
the State Treasurer, the State Auditor, the Attorney General and the Director of Accounts, subject to such conditions and
limitations (including restrictions on future indebtedness) as may be required by the Board. Qualified bonds may mature not
less than 10 nor more than 30 years from their dates and are not subject to the amortization requirements described above.
The State Treasurer is required to pay the debt service on qualified bonds and thereafter to withhold the amount of the debt
service paid by the State from state aid or other state payments; administrative costs and any loss of interest income to the
State are to be assessed upon the city or town.

Tax Credit Bonds or Notes. Subject to certain provisions and conditions, the officers authorized to issue bonds or notes may
designate any duly authorized issue of bonds or notes as “tax credit bonds” to the extent such bonds and notes are otherwise
permitted to be issued with federal tax credits or other similar subsidies for all or a portion of the borrowing costs. Tax credit
bonds may be made payable without regard to the annual installments required by any other law, and a sinking fund may be
established for the payment of such bonds. Any investment that is part of such a sinking fund may mature not later than the
date fixed for payment or redemption of the applicable bonds.

Bond Anticipation Notes. These generally must mature within two years of their original dates of issuance but may be
refunded from time to time for a period not to exceed ten years from their original dates of issuance, provided that for each
year that the notes are refunded beyond the second year they must be paid in part from revenue funds in an amount at
least equal to the minimum annual payment that would have been required if the bonds had been issued at the end of the
second year. The maximum term of bonds issued to refund bond anticipation notes is measured from the date of the
original issue of the notes.

Revenue Anticipation Notes. These are issued to meet current expenses in anticipation of taxes and other revenues. They
must mature within one year but, if payable in less than one year, may be refunded from time to time up to one year from
the original date of issue.

Grant Anticipation Notes. These are issued for temporary financing in anticipation of federal grants and state and county
reimbursements for any purpose for which the city or town may incur debt that may be payable over a term of five years or
longer. Generally, they must mature within two years but may be refunded from time to time as long as the municipality
remains entitled to the grant or reimbursement.

Revenue Bonds. Cities and towns may issue revenue bonds for solid waste disposal facilities and for projects financed
under the Commonwealth's Clean Water or Drinking Water Revolving Loan Programs and for certain economic
development projects supported by tax increment financing. In addition to general obligation bonds and notes, cities and
towns which are members of the New England Power Pool may issue electric revenue bonds, and notes in anticipation of
such bonds, subject to the approval of the Department of Public Utilities.

Debt Ratios

The following table sets forth the City's general obligation bonds outstanding, the population, assessed valuation, per capita
debt, and general obligation debt as a percentage of assessed valuation, for the end of the five most recent fiscal years.
This table considers the principal amount of general obligation bonds of the City of Lowell only. (See "Direct Debt
Summary").

General State Debt as a %

Fiscal Obligation Bonds Equalized Per Capita of Equalized
Year End Outstanding Population (1) Valuation (2) Debt Valuation

2023 $ 340,470,239 115,554 $ 11,375,052,400 $ 2,946 2.99 %
2022 312,339,894 115,554 9,848,176,600 2,703 3.17
2021 297,598,932 115,554 9,848,176,600 2,575 3.02
2020 264,438,247 115,554 8,192,976,800 2,288 3.23
2019 209,125,420 115,554 8,192,976,800 1,810 2.55

(1) Based on the 2020 Federal Census.
(2) 2018 equalized valuation is used for fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020; 2020 equalized valuation is used for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2022;
2022 equalized valuation is used for fiscal 2023.
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CITY OF LOWELL
Direct Debt Summary

As of June 30, 2023 (1)
General Obligation Bonds:
Outstanding:
General (2) $ 74,894,380
School (3) 72,083,620
Water (4) 16,200,300
Sewer (5) 32,119,950
MCWT (6) 91,510,239
Parking Garage 53,661,750
Total General Obligation Bonds Outstanding $ 340,470,239
This Issue of State Qualified Bonds to be dated September 28, 2023 (excludes Refunding Bonds) 69,222,719 *
Short Term Debt
Bond Anticipation Notes (7) 21,884,882
Less:
To Be Retired With Bond Proceeds (21,884,882)
Total Short Term Debt Outstanding After This Issue -
Total Direct Debt $ 409,692,958

* Preliminary, subject to change.

(1

Principal amount only. Excludes lease and installment purchase obligations, overlapping debt, unfunded pension liability, and other
post-employment benefits liability.

$295,000 is outside the City’s general debt limit.

$43,235,000 is outside the City's general debt limit.

Self-supporting. Outside the City’s general debt limit.

Self-supporting. $22,275,000 is outside the City's general debt limit.

Massachusetts Clean Water Trust, formerly Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust. $45,182,649 is outside the City’s debt
limit. Sewer services are accounted for in an enterprise fund.

Payable September 29, 2023.

Authorized Unissued Debt

Following delivery of the Bonds, the City will have approximately $367.566 million (excluding authorized refundings) of
authorized unissued debt outstanding, comprised of the following:

$239.105 million total school bond authorized for various school construction and repairs, including $205.204 million school
bonds authorized for construction and reconstruction of a new high school. The total amount authorized for this project will
be reduced to the extent of school building grant funds paid to the City by the Massachusetts School Building Authority
(MSBA). The reimbursement rate will be approximately 80% of reimbursable project costs.

$43.516 million sewer and $31 million water bonds authorized for the reconstruction of water and sewer mains and facility
upgrades throughout the City. The City is aggressively working to maintain and improve its water and sewer infrastructure.
Financing will be through the Massachusetts Clear Water Trust. Rates will be raised to support this debt as it is issued.

Additionally, the City has authorized unissued debt of approximately $53.84 million for various capital improvements.
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Principal Payments by Purpose

The following table sets forth the principal payments by purpose for the City’s outstanding debt as of June 30, 2023. Of the
$340,470,238 total amount outstanding, $99,657,222, or 29.3% of the total outstanding, is to be paid by the end of fiscal
2028, and $185,243,776, or 54.4%, is expected to be paid by the end of fiscal year 2033.

Principal Payments by Purpose
As of June 30, 2023 (1)

Total

Fiscal Outstanding
Year General (2) School (3) Water (4) Sewer (5) MCWT (6) Parking Garage Principal
2024 $ 5554980 $ 1,299,620 $ 924,600 $ 2,042,300 $ 5,917,763 $ 2,933,500 $ 18,672,763
2025 5,920,800 1,799,000 1,046,200 2,139,000 6,049,238 3,330,000 20,284,238
2026 5,668,100 2,329,500 866,800 2,172,100 5,638,464 3,343,500 20,018,464
2027 5,781,700 2,414,000 872,500 2,188,300 5,475,150 3,513,500 20,245,150
2028 5,790,500 2,428,000 896,000 2,207,250 5,441,607 3,673,250 20,436,607
2029 5,617,000 2,543,000 832,600 2,007,400 5,349,714 1,915,000 18,264,714
2030 5,577,900 2,501,500 848,100 1,874,500 5,363,363 2,013,000 18,178,363
2031 4,472,900 2,519,500 823,500 1,714,100 5,486,153 2,095,000 17,111,153
2032 4,090,500 2,634,500 795,000 1,395,000 5,124,335 2,180,000 16,219,335
2033 3,565,000 2,700,000 805,000 1,240,000 5,242,990 2,260,000 15,812,990
2034 3,065,000 2,725,000 770,000 1,260,000 5,046,333 2,135,000 15,001,333
2035 3,085,000 2,715,000 765,000 1,015,000 5,163,659 2,205,000 14,948,659
2036 2,750,000 2,800,000 785,000 1,030,000 5,174,027 2,270,000 14,809,027
2037 1,855,000 2,795,000 440,000 1,050,000 5,081,266 1,855,000 13,076,266
2038 1,755,000 2,860,000 450,000 1,060,000 4,266,437 1,910,000 12,301,437
2039 1,530,000 2,935,000 470,000 655,000 4,367,137 1,970,000 11,927,137
2040 1,590,000 3,010,000 480,000 685,000 3,269,530 2,025,000 11,059,530
2041 1,025,000 2,690,000 360,000 690,000 1,864,815 2,090,000 8,719,815
2042 840,000 2,685,000 350,000 710,000 1,080,802 2,150,000 7,815,802
2043 655,000 2,750,000 355,000 650,000 1,107,456 2,220,000 7,737,456
2044 675,000 2,825,000 370,000 665,000 - 2,285,000 6,820,000
2045 690,000 2,910,000 385,000 690,000 - 2,355,000 7,030,000
2046 705,000 2,995,000 400,000 700,000 - 300,000 5,100,000
2047 720,000 3,085,000 415,000 725,000 - 310,000 5,255,000
2048 745,000 3,180,000 425,000 745,000 - 325,000 5,420,000
2049 525,000 1,915,000 90,000 280,000 - - 2,810,000
2050 540,000 1,965,000 90,000 285,000 - - 2,880,000
2051 105,000 1,025,000 90,000 245,000 - - 1,465,000
2052 - 1,050,000 - - - - 1,050,000

Total $ 74,894,380 $ 72,083,620 $ 16,200,300 $ 32,119,950 $ 91,510,239 $ 53,661,750 § 340,470,239

(1) Principal amount only. Excludes lease and installment purchase obligations, overlapping debt, unfunded pension liability, and other
post-employment benefits liability.
) $295,000 is outside the City’s general debt limit.

) $43,235,000 is outside the City’s general debt limit.
(4) Self-supporting. Outside the City’s general debt limit.

) Self-supporting. $22,275,000 is outside the City's general debt limit.

) Massachusetts Clean Water Trust, formerly Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust. $45,182,649 is outside the City’s debt
limit. Sewer services are accounted for in an enterprise fund.
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Debt Service Requirements

The following table sets forth the required principal and interest payments on the City's outstanding general obligation bonds
and expected subsidies to be received by the City from the Massachusetts Clean Water Trust to pay certain debt service
as of June 30, 2023.

Debt Service Requirements
As of June 30, 2023

Fiscal Currently Outstanding QECB (1) MCWT (2) Net

Year Principal Interest Subsidy Subsidy Debt Service
2024 % 18,672,763 $ 12,051,086 $ (37,167) $ (59,132) $ 30,627,551
2025 20,284,238 10,320,479 (32,139) (45,521) 30,527,057
2026 20,018,464 9,521,220 (27,112) - 29,512,572
2027 20,245,150 8,707,711 (22,085) - 28,930,776
2028 20,436,607 7,879,836 (17,057) - 28,299,386
2029 18,264,714 7,106,889 (12,120) - 25,359,483
2030 18,178,363 6,397,086 (7,272) - 24,568,177
2031 17,111,153 5,713,468 (2,424) - 22,822,197
2032 16,219,335 5,127,367 - - 21,346,702
2033 15,812,990 4,587,358 - - 20,400,348
2034 15,001,333 4,089,600 - - 19,090,934
2035 14,948,659 3,642,874 - - 18,591,533
2036 14,809,027 3,223,925 - - 18,032,952
2037 13,076,266 2,856,273 - - 15,932,540
2038 12,301,437 2,524,501 - - 14,825,937
2039 11,927,137 2,196,696 - - 14,123,833
2040 11,059,530 1,897,188 - - 12,956,718
2041 8,719,815 1,635,618 - - 10,355,433
2042 7,815,802 1,411,417 - - 9,227,219
2043 7,737,456 1,194,976 - - 8,932,432
2044 6,820,000 982,940 - - 7,802,940
2045 7,030,000 778,696 - - 7,808,696
2046 5,100,000 596,918 - - 5,696,918
2047 5,255,000 438,374 - - 5,693,374
2048 5,420,000 274,620 - - 5,694,620
2049 2,810,000 158,897 - - 2,968,897
2050 2,880,000 93,056 - - 2,973,056
2051 1,465,000 42,334 - - 1,507,334
2052 1,050,000 12,469 - - 1,062,469

$ 340470239 $ 105463873 $  (157,376) $  (104,653) $ 445672084

(1) Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds.
(2) Massachusetts Clean Water Trust, formerly Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust.
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Coverage of Qualified Debt Service

The following table presents qualified debt service, projected state aid and the coverage ratio of total state aid to the City’s
outstanding State Qualified Bonds debt service. The table does not include debt of the Commonwealth.

Coverage Ratio:

Total State Aid

Fiscal Qualified Total to Qualified
Year Debt Service (1) State Aid (2) Debt Service
2024 $ 22,839,947 $ 272,093,696 11.91
2025 22,736,184 277,535,570 12.21
2026 22,201,721 283,086,281 12.75
2027 21,897,821 288,748,007 13.19
2028 21,412,796 294,522,967 13.75
2029 18,676,659 300,413,426 16.08
2030 17,983,103 306,421,695 17.04
2031 16,227,321 312,550,129 19.26
2032 15,226,897 318,801,131 20.94
2033 14,275,368 325,177,154 22.78
2034 13,277,428 331,680,697 24 .98
2035 12,773,140 338,314,311 26.49
2036 12,319,259 345,080,597 28.01
2037 10,427,171 351,982,209 33.76
2038 10,245,984 359,021,853 35.04
2039 9,540,215 366,202,291 38.39
2040 9,555,515 373,526,336 39.09
2041 8,416,415 380,996,863 45.27
2042 8,106,290 388,616,800 47.94
2043 7,809,809 396,389,136 50.76
2044 7,802,940 404,316,919 51.82
2045 7,808,696 412,403,257 52.81
2046 5,696,918 380,996,863 66.88
2047 5,693,374 388,616,800 68.26
2048 5,694,620 396,389,136 69.61
2049 2,968,897 404,316,919 136.18
2050 2,973,056 412,403,257 138.71
2051 1,507,334 420,651,323 279.07
2052 1,062,469 388,616,300 365.77
Total $ 337,157,348 $ 10,615,873,492

(1) Reflects gross debt service; does not include the QECB Federal Subsidies. As of June 30, 2023.

(2) Includes total state aid available for coverage. State aid is taken from the estimated fiscal 2024 Cherry Sheet and is increased at a
rate of 2% each year thereafter. The State aid figures above no longer reflect school building assistance grants as such grants are
no longer paid by the Commonwealth; they are now paid by the Massachusetts School Building Authority. Therefore, such payments
no longer constitute “distributable aid” of the Commonwealth under the Qualified Bond Act.
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Overlapping Debt

The City of Lowell is a member of the Lowell Regional Transit Authority and the Greater Lowell Regional Vocational
Technical High School District. The following table sets forth the outstanding bonded debt, exclusive of temporary loans in
anticipation of bonds or current revenue of the Lowell Regional Transit Authority and the Greater Lowell Regional Vocational
Technical High School District, and the City of Lowell's fiscal 2024 dollar assessment for each.

2024 Dollar
Overlapping Entity Assessment(1)
Lowell Regional Transit Authority(2) $ 1,124,639
Greater Lowell Regional
Vocational Technical High School District(3) 10,360,755

(1) Estimated dollar assessment based upon total net operating expenses, inclusive (where applicable) of debt service.

(2) SOURCE: Lowell Regional Transit Authority.

(3) SOURCE: Greater Lowell Regional Vocational Technical High School District. Pursuant to special laws a number of cities may
participate in regional school districts, primarily for vocational education. The operating expenses and debt service of regional school
districts are apportioned among the member municipalities in accordance with the agreements establishing the District. The District
recently authorized approximately $65 million school construction bonds, the local share of which is estimated at approximately $15
million.

Contractual Obligations

Municipal contracts are generally limited to currently available appropriations. A city or town generally has authority to enter
into contracts for the exercise of any of its corporate powers for any period of time deemed to serve its best interest, but
only when funds are available for the first fiscal year. Obligations for succeeding fiscal years generally are expressly subject
to availability and appropriation of funds. Municipalities have specific authority in relatively few cases to enter long-term
contractual obligations that are not subject to annual appropriations, including contracts for refuse disposal and sewerage
treatment and disposal. Municipalities may also enter into long-term contracts in aid of housing and renewal projects. There
may be implied authority to make other long-term contracts required to carry out authorized municipal functions, such as
contracts to purchase water from private water companies.

Municipal contracts relating to solid waste disposal facilities may contain provisions requiring the delivery of minimum
amounts of waste and payments based thereon and requiring payments in certain circumstances without regard to the
operational status of the facilities.

Municipal electric departments have statutory power to enter into long-term contracts for joint ownership and operation of
generating and transmission facilities and for the purchase or sale of capacity, including contracts requiring payments
without regard to the operational status of the facilities.

Pursuant to the Home Rule Amendment to the Massachusetts Constitution, cities and towns may also be empowered to
make other contracts and leases.

The City has several contractual obligations of significance which are described below.

Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2024

Purpose Vendor Expiration Actual Budget
Mgmt - LMA Lowell Management Group 6/30/2026 $ 200,000 $ 200,000
SPED Student Transportation Collaborative for Regional Education 6/30/2024 1,198,555 2,000,000
Mgmt - City Parking Garages LAZ KARP Associates LLC 12/31/2024 1,936,400 2,007,400
School Bus Transporation - regular NRT Bus, Inc. 6/30/2026 3,799,979 4,851,100
Trash Disposal Wheelabrator North Andover, Inc. 12/31/2025 2,031,834 3,168,000
Sludge Disposal Casella Organics 12/31/2023 3,787,020 3,787,020
Trash Collection Waste Management - Londonderry 12/31/2024 4,894,481 5,269,918
School Bus Transporation - sped PrideStar Student Transportation, Inc. 6/30/2025 4,090,236 4,300,380
School Food Services Aramark Receivables, LLC 6/30/2024 6,317,180 6,400,000
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RETIREMENT PLAN
General

The Massachusetts General Laws provide for the establishment of contributory retirement systems for state employees, for
teachers and for county, city and town employees other than teachers. Teachers are assigned to a separate statewide teachers’
system and not to the city and town systems. For all employees other than teachers, this law is subject to acceptance in each
city and town. Substantially all employees of an accepting city or town are covered. If a town has a population of less than
10,000 when it accepts the statute, its non-teacher employees participate through the county system and its share of the county
cost is proportionate to the aggregate annual rate of regular compensation of its covered employees. In addition to the
contributory systems, cities and towns provide non-contributory pensions to a limited number of employees, primarily persons
who entered service prior to July 1, 1937 and their dependents. The Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission
(“PERAC”) provides oversight and guidance for and regulates all state and local retirement systems.

The obligations of a city or town, whether direct or through a county system, are contractual legal obligations and are required
to be included in the annual tax levy. If a city or town, or the county system of which it is a member, has not established a
retirement system funding schedule as described below, the city or town is required to provide for the payment of the portion of
its current pension obligations which is not otherwise covered by employee contributions and investment income. “Excess
earnings,” or earnings on individual employees’ retirement accounts in excess of a predetermined rate, are required to be set
aside in a pension reserve fund for future, not current, pension liabilities. Cities and towns may voluntarily appropriate to their
system’s pension reserve fund in any given year up to five percent of the preceding year’s tax levy. The aggregate amount in
the fund may not exceed ten percent of the equalized valuation of the city or town.

If a city or town, or each member city and town of a county retirement system, has accepted the applicable law, it is required to
annually appropriate an amount sufficient to pay not only its current pension obligations, but also a portion of its future pension
liability. The portion of each such annual payment allocable to future pension obligations is required to be deposited in the
pension reserve fund. The amount of the annual city or town appropriation for each such system is prescribed by a retirement
system funding schedule which is periodically reviewed and approved by PERAC. A system (other than the state employees’
retirement system and the teachers’ retirement system) which conducts an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2009, or later,
may establish a revised schedule which reduces the unfunded actuarial liability to zero by not later than June 30, 2040, subject
to certain conditions. If the schedule is so extended under such provisions and a later updated valuation allows for the
development of a revised schedule with reduced payments, the revised schedule shall be adjusted to provide that the
appropriation for each year shall not be less than that for such year under the prior schedule, thus providing for a shorter
schedule rather than reduced payments.

City, town and county systems may choose to participate in the Pension Reserves Investment Trust Fund (the “PRIT Fund”),
which receives additional state funds to offset future pension costs of participating state and local systems. If a local system
participates in the PRIT Fund, it must transfer ownership and control of all assets of its system to the Pension Reserves
Investment Management Board, which manages the investment and reinvestment of the PRIT Fund. Cities and towns with
systems participating in the PRIT Fund continue to be obligated to fund their pension obligations in the manner described above.
The additional state appropriations to offset future pension liabilities of state and local systems participating in the PRIT Fund
are required to total at least 1.3 percent of state payroll. Such additional state appropriations are deposited in the PRIT Fund
and shared by all participating systems in proportion to their interests in the assets of the PRIT Fund as of July 1 for each fiscal
year.

Cost-of-living increases for each local retirement system may be granted and funded only by the local system, and only if it has
established a funding schedule. Those statutory provisions are subject to acceptance by the local retirement board and approval
by the local legislative body, which acceptance may not be revoked.

Plan Description
The City contributes to the Lowell Retirement System (the "System"). Public school teachers are covered by The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts Retirement System (TRS) to which the City of Lowell does not contribute. The System

and the TRS are contributory defined benefit plans covering all City employees and teachers deemed eligible and include
the Lowell Regional Transit Authority and the Lowell Housing Authority.
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The City pays the entire retirement allowance for certain retirees who are eligible for non-contributory benefits and are not
members of the System. The annual contributions of the City towards non-contributory benefits are shown in the table
below.

Fiscal Non-
Year Contributory

Ending Contribution
2024  (budgeted) $ 25,000
2023 23,509
2022 23,523
2021 23,483
2020 23,612

Instituted in 1937, the System is a member of the Massachusetts Contributory System and is governed by Chapter 32 of
the Massachusetts General Laws. Membership in the System is mandatory immediately upon the commencement of
employment for all permanent, full-time employees. Both the System and TRS provide for retirement allowance benefits up
to a maximum of 80% of a member's highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. Benefit payments
are based upon a member's age, length of creditable service, level of compensation and group classification.

Members of the System and TRS become vested after 10 years of creditable service. A retirement allowance may be
received upon reaching age 65 or upon attaining twenty years of service. The systems also provide for early retirement at
age 55 if a participant (1) has a record of 10 years of creditable service, (2) was on the City payroll on January 1, 1978, (3)
voluntarily left City employment on or after that date, and (4) left accumulated annuity deductions in the fund. Active
members contribute from 5% to 11% of their gross regular compensation depending on the date upon which their
membership began.

The systems provide death and disability benefits. In addition to these benefits provided by the System and TRS, the City
provides other benefits to retirees and survivors, most notably, health insurance coverage. (See “Other Post-Employment
Benefits” below, and Appendix A).

Funding Status and Progress

The amount shown below as the "pension benefit obligation" is a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of
pension benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected salary increases and step-rate benefits, estimated to be payable in
the future as a result of employee service to date. The measure is intended to help users assess the funding status of the
System on a going-concern basis, assess progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due and
make comparisons among employers. The measure is the actuarial present value of credited projected benefits and is
independent of the funding method used to determine contributions to the System.

The last full actuarial study was done by KMS Actuaries, LLC as of January 1, 2021. The total actuarial accrued liability at
that time was $757,448,996, its actuarial value of assets were $444,961,961, resulting in an estimated unfunded pension
benefit obligation was $312,487,035, assuming a 7.10% investment rate of return; the funded ratio was 58.7%. As of 2021,
the City’s funding schedule was extended to 2037.
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The amortization of the City’s unfunded pension benefit obligation is shown below.

Increase Unfunded
Fiscal over Actuarial
Year Employer Amortization Net 3(8)(c) Total Employer  Prior Accrued
Ending Normal Cost Paymentof UAL  Transfers Cost Year Liability

2022 $9,102,263 $21,823,175 $850,000 $31,775,438 $312,487,035
2023 9,420,843 23,156,918 850,000 33,427,761 5.20% 312,089,002
2024 9,750,573 24,565,431 850,000 35,166,004 5.20% 310,282,429
2025 10,091,843 26,052,793 850,000 36,994,636 5.20% 306,889,931
2026 10,445,057 27,623,300 850,000 38,918,357 5.20% 301,717,307
2027 10,810,635 29,281,477 850,000 40,942,112 5.20% 294,552,123
2028 11,189,007 31,032,095 850,000 43,071,102 5.20% 285,162,178
2029 11,580,622 32,880,177 850,000 45,310,799 5.20% 273,293,847
2030 11,985,943 34,831,018 850,000 47,666,961 5.20% 258,670,301
2031 12,405,451 36,890,193 850,000 50,145,644 5.20% 240,989,575
2032 12,839,642 39,063,574 850,000 52,753,216 5.20% 219,922,495
2033 13,289,029 41,357,355 850,000 55,496,384 5.20% 195,110,439
2034 13,754,145 43,778,050 850,000 58,382,195 5.20% 166,162,914
2035 14,235,540 46,332,528 850,000 61,418,068 5.20% 132,654,957
2036 14,733,785 49,028,025 850,000 64,611,810 5.20% 94,124,328
2037 15,249,467 51,815,433 850,000 67,914,900 5.11% 50,068,479
2038 15,783,199 850,000 16,633,199 -75.51%

2039 16,335,610 850,000 17,185,610 3.32%

2040 16,907,357 850,000 17,757,357 3.33%

2041 17,499,114 850,000 18,349,114 3.33%

2042 18,111,583 850,000 18,961,583 3.34%

2043 18,745,488 850,000 19,595,488 3.34%

2044 19,401,580 850,000 20,251,580 3.35%

2045 20,080,635 850,000 20,930,635 3.35%

2046 20,783,457 850,000 21,633,457 3.36%

2047 21,510,878 850,000 22,360,878 3.36%

2048 22,263,758 850,000 23,113,758 3.37%

2049 23,042,990 850,000 23,892,990 3.37%

2050 23,849,495 850,000 24,699,495 3.38%

2051 24,684,227 850,000 25,534,227 3.38%

SOURCE: January 1, 2021 Actuarial Valuation of the Lowell Contributory Retirement System, KMS Actuaries, LLC.
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Contribution Requirements

The City is required to contribute in each fiscal year an amount approximating the pension benefits (less certain interest
credits) expected to be paid during the year.

The City's contributions to the System for the following fiscal years were:

Fiscal Year Contribution
2024 (budgeted) $32,855,598
2023 31,662,775
2022 30,084,564
2021 28,713,596
2020 27,216,044
2019 25,903,196

See Appendix A, the City's audited financial statements, for additional information on the City's retirement system.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

In addition to pension benefits, cities and towns may provide retired employees with health care and life insurance benefits.
The portion of the cost of such benefits paid by cities or towns is generally provided on a pay-as-you-go basis. The following

table shows the pay-as-you-go cost to the City for health and dental insurance provided to retirees:

Fiscal Pay-As-You-Go
Year Cost

2024 (budgeted) $ 18,040,000

2023 17,190,973
2022 16,437,631
2021 15,958,865
2020 14,914,712
2019 15,179,775

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) promulgated accounting standards that require public sector entities
to report the future costs of these non-pension, post-employment benefits in their financial statements. These accounting
standards do not require pre-funding the payment of these costs as the liability for such costs accrues, but the basis applied by
the standards for measurement of costs and liabilities for these benefits is conservative if they continue to be funded on a pay-
as-you-go basis and will result in larger yearly cost and liability accruals than if the cost of such benefits were pre-funded in a
trust fund in the same manner as traditional pension benefits. Cities and towns that choose to self-insure all or a portion of the
cost of the health care benefits they provide to employees and retirees may establish a trust fund for the purpose of paying
claims. In addition, cities and towns may establish a trust fund for the purpose of pre-funding other post-employment benefits
liability in the same manner as traditional pension benefits.

The City was required to implement the GASB reporting requirements for other post-employment benefits beginning in its fiscal
year 2008 audit. The City selected Aquarius Capital Solutions Group, LLC to perform an actuarial valuation of its non-pension,
post-employment benefit liability. As of June 30, 2022, the total OPEB liability for benefits was $ 656,404,341 and the fiduciary
net position was $12,529,914, resulting in a net OPEB liability of $ 643,874,427, assuming a 3.77% discount rate. The actuarial
determined contribution (ADC) is an amount determined by the actuary pursuant to GASB Statement No. 74/75 which
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the service cost each year and amortize any
unfunded actuarial liabilities. As of June 30, 2022, the ADC was $61,438,657. On September 27, 2013 the City made a $7.8
million contribution to the OPEB Trust Fund with funds freed up from its Health Trust Fund upon joining the State GIC, which is
expected to reduce the unfunded OPEB liability by approximately $32 million. The balance in the OPEB Trust Fund as of June
30, 2023 was $13,693,011. (See Appendix A — Required Supplementary Information: OPEB actuarial methods and
assumptions). The City also established an OPEB Liability Funding Strategy policy in fiscal 2019, which was adopted by City
Council.

Projections of benefits are based on the plan as understood by the City and the plan members, and include the types of benefits
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing the benefit costs between the City and plan members
to that point. As such, any changes in benefits offered, cost sharing and the like, will have an impact upon the total amount of
the City’s actuarial liability for postemployment benefits, other than pensions.
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EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

The City employs approximately 3,225 full and part-time employees, 2,239 of whom are employed by the Lowell Public
School Department, 83 by the public works department (DPW Clerical, Lands & Building, Streets, Electrical, Engineering,
Parks, Recreation, Cemeteries), 206 by the fire department, 329 by the police department, 85 by the water, sewer, and
parking enterprise fund departments and the balance of 283 regular full time and part-time employees by various other
departments of the City. Approximately 2,969 employees are represented by unions including teachers and administrators.

The following is a summary of the approximate number of employees represented by each union:

(1) Expired contracts are currently in negotiations.

Number of Contract
Union Employees  Expiration Date (1)

UTL Teachers 1,217 6/30/2024
UTL Paraprofessionals 468 6/30/2024
LSAA Administrators 231 6/30/2023
SEIU Clerks 75 6/30/2023
UTL Cafeteria Workers 50 6/30/2024
UTL Custodians 108 6/30/2024
Subtotal School Union Employees: 2,149

Number of Contract

Union Employees Expiration Date
Firefighters IAFF 198 6/30/2024
Police Patrolmen 184 6/30/2024
Police Superiors 53 6/30/2024
MVEA Wastewater 41 6/30/2024
MVEA C 30 6/30/2024
MVEA D 12 6/30/2024
MVEA Inspectors 14 6/30/2024
AFSCME 1705 167 6/30/2024
AFSCME 2532 57 6/30/2024
AFSCME 1705A 29 6/30/2024
Traffic Supervisors 24 6/30/2024
Engineers 3 6/30/2024
SEIU 888 Wastewater 5 6/30/2024
SEIU 888 Water 3 6/30/2024
Subtotal City Union Employees: 820
Total School and City Union Employees: 2,969
LITIGATION

Various legal action and claims are pending against the City. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome
of individual litigated matters is not always predictable. Although the amount of liability, if any, cannot be ascertained,
management believes any resulting liability should not materially affect the financial position of the City.

August 30, 2023

79

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS
/s/ Theodoros Panagiotopoulos, Treasurer



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



v

Powers &

Sullivan, LLc

CPAs AND ADVISORS

APPENDIX A

CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS

REPORT ON EXAMINATION OF
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022



CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS

REPORT ON EXAMINATION OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TaTol=T oT=T oo =T o1 N W o [} (o] =Tl m=ToTo] o (PP A-1
Management’s DiSCUSSION @Nd ANGIYSIS .......oiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt e e et e e e sttt e e e sttt e e e santeeeeeanbeeeesanbeeeeeanbeeeaens A-4
Basic FInancial STateMENTS .........ooi ettt e e e b e e e rb bt e e s sbbe e e e abbe e e e anreeeeaan A-16
Statement Of NEL POSITION ... et e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnaeeeeaeeeeaansnneeas A-17
StAtEMENT OF ACHVIIES ...ttt a e et e b b e e s bt e e sab e e sabe e e aabeeebeeennneas A-18
Governmental funds — balanCe SN ...........ooiii e A-20
Reconciliation of the governmental funds balance sheet total fund balances to the statement of net position ........ A-21
Governmental funds — statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances.............cccccccoeeevnnnneen. A-22

Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances of governmental

funds to the statement Of ACHVIEIES.......ooi i e e e e e e e e e s A-23
Proprietary funds — statement of Net POSItION ... ... e e e A-24
Proprietary funds — statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position ..............cocccoiiiiiii . A-25
Proprietary funds — statement of Cash fIOWS .........oeiiiii e A-26
Fiduciary funds — statement of fiduciary Net POSItION............c..viiiiiii i A-27
Fiduciary funds — statement of changes in fiduciary Net POSItioN ...........cccuviiiiiiii i A-28
Notes to basic financial StatEMENTS ...........oieiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e et eeaae s A-29

Required Supplementary INfOrmMation........ ..o et e s e e e e A-73
General fund — statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance — budget and actual................ A-74
Pension Plan Schedules — Retirement SYSIEM .........oooi e A-75

Schedule of changes in the net pension liability and related ratios ............ccccvviiiiiii e A-76

S Tod g =Y 0] N0 i oo ] a1 {010 oo <R A-78

Schedule Of INVESIMENT FEIUMNS..........ii e eb et e st e sre e e nneee e A-79
Pension Plan SChedUIES = Cily..........ueiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e saabaaeeeaeeesesnnreneeeas A-80

Schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability .............ooocciiiii e A-81

Schedule of the City’s CONIDULIONS ........coiiiiiiie et e et e e e e e s eaneeee s A-82

Schedule of the special fuNdiNG @MOUNES .........coiiiiii e A-83
Other Postemployment Benefit Plan SChedUIES ............cooo i A-84

Schedule of changes in the City’s net other postemployment benefit liability and related ratios .............c..cc........ A-85

Schedule of the City’s CONIDULIONS ........coiiiiiiie et e e st e e e sttt e e e ssseeeesnsaeeesanneeeean A-86

Schedule Of INVESIMENT FEIUMNS..........ii ettt e st eennre e A-87

Notes to Required Supplementary INfOrmation............oooo i e a e e e e s e A-88



100 Quannapowitt Parkway, Suite 101

Powers & Su“ivan' LLC Wakefield, Massachusetts 01880

T. 781.914.1700 | F. 781.914.1701
CPAs AND ADVISORS info@pas.cpa | www.pas.cpa

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts, as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2022 (except for the Lowell Contributory Retirement system which is as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2021), and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Lowell, Massachusetts’ basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts, as of June 30, 2022 (except for the Lowell
Contributory Retirement System which is as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021), and the respective
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 6 to the financial statements, during the year ending June 30, 2022, the City adopted new
accounting guidance, Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases. Our opinions
are not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation,

and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Lowell, Massachusetts’ ability to
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing
Standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts’ internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the City of Lowell, Massachusetts’ ability to continue as a going concern for
a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
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required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 29, 2023, on
our consideration of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts’ internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Lowell, Massachusetts’ internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Lowell,
Massachusetts’ internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

TRuwed QLMM) LLC

March 29, 2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Lowell (the “City”), we offer readers of these basic financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2022. We encourage
readers to consider the information presented in this report.

Financial Highlights
Government-wide

e The City’s overall liabilities and deferred inflows of resources exceeded its assets and deferred outflows
of resources by $530.7 million, at the close of 2022, an overall increase of $28.6 million from the prior
year.

e Governmental net position increased by $36.2 million. The increase is attributable to the receipt of $42.3
million in capital grants mostly related to Massachusetts School Business Administration grants related to
the high school project, a decrease in the net pension liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows
of $23.6 million. These increases were offset by a $24.7 million increase in the other postemployment
benefits liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows, and a $4.1 million increase in the
compensated absence accrual.

e Business-type activities experienced a combined $7.5 million decrease in net position, primarily due to
the $12.1 million increase of the net pension liability and its associated deferred outflows/inflows, offset by
the receipt of $6.0 million of transfers in from the general fund.

e Overall governmental long-term debt increased by $36.4 million and business-type long-term debt
decreased by $11.6 million, net of premiums. See Note 8 for more information on the City’s long-term
debt.

o The City implemented GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, during the year. This statement redefines a
lease as a right to use another entity’s asset over a definitive period of time and required the City to
record leases that were previously classified as operating leases in the amount of approximately $6.7
million. No restatement of beginning net position was required. See Note 6 for more information.

Fund Financial Statements

e As of the close of the current year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balance
of $121.3 million, an increase of $20.5 million in comparison with the prior year.

e In order to take advantage of favorable interest rates, the City issued $3.9 million of general obligation
state qualified refunding bonds on December 16, 2021, and $2.6 million of general obligation refunding
bonds on September 15, 2021. See Note 8 for more information.

e The City issued $43.6 million of general obligation bonds on July 20, 2022, $23.1 million related to bond
anticipation notes outstanding at year end. As such, the City has recognized bond proceeds in the
governmental funds. See Note 8 for more information.

e The City incurred $9.2 million of expenses related to the COVID-19 pandemic, which will be funded by

grants from the State and Federal Government. These expenditures can be seen within the COVID-19
Grant major fund.
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Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. These
basic financial statements comprise of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements - The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the financial position of the City.

The government-wide financial statements are presented using the accrual basis of accounting, which presents a
view of the City’s financial position in a manner similar to private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two
reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of
whether the financial position is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the year. All
changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items
that will only result in cash flows in future periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are principally supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a
significant portion of their costs through user fees or charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities include general government, public safety, education, public works, human services, culture and
recreation, and interest. The business type activities include costs relating to the water, sewer, and parking
activities.

The financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also a legally
separate public employee retirement system for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for
this component unit is reported within the fiduciary fund statements.

Fund financial statements - A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Fund accounting is used to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds can be divided into three
categories: governmental funds, proprietary and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year. Such information may
be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. Because the focus of governmental
funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information
presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the
government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental
fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains approximately 610 individual governmental funds. Information for the general fund is
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of
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revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. Data from the other funds, except the major special
revenue and capital project funds, are combined into a single, aggregate presentation under the caption nonmajor
governmental funds. The general fund, COVID-19 grant fund, and the high school construction fund are the major
governmental funds reported.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison schedule has been
provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

Proprietary funds — The City maintains two types of proprietary funds.

Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-
wide financial statements. The City uses the enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, and parking
operations.

Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among various
functions. The City uses internal service funds to account for health insurance activities. Because these services
primarily benefit governmental rather than business-type activities, they have been included within governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City’s health insurance activities are premium based
through the Group Insurance Commission since 2013. The City is working to determine the best way to spend
down this fund for health-related costs.

Fiduciary funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources
of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs.

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary fund category is split
into two classifications: pension and other employee benefits trust funds, and the private purpose trust fund. The
private purpose trust fund is used to account for trust arrangements that benefit individuals, private organizations,
or other governments.

The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension plan. The City’s fiduciary activities are reported in
the statement of fiduciary net position and statement of changes in fiduciary net position. These activities are
excluded from the City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to
finance its operations.

The City established an OPEB trust fund to account for funds set aside to help offset future postemployment
benefits for retirees. The current year additions included the City’s contribution and investment income. These
activities are excluded from the City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these
assets to finance its operations.

Notes to the basic financial statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Analysis
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The
City’s overall liabilities and deferred inflows of resources exceeded assets and deferred outflows of resources by

$530.7 million at the close of 2022, an overall increase of $28.6 million from the prior year.

Net position of $365.2 million reflects its net investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, infrastructure,
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machinery, and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The City
uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the investment in its capital assets is reported net of its related debt, it should be noted that
the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net position, $30.8 million, represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, a deficit of $926.7
million, reflects the impact of the $643.9 million net other postemployment benefit liability and the $223.9 million
net pension liability.

Details related to the City’s governmental and business-type activities follow.
Governmental Activities
At the end of the current year, the City is able to report positive balances in two out of three categories of net

position. The governmental activities liabilities and deferred inflows of resources exceeded assets and deferred
outflows by $573.6 million at the close of 2022.

2022 2021
Assets:
CUurrent @sSetS.......cuvviiiiiiii i $ 251,736,613 $ 185,069,790
Noncurrent assets (excluding capital)................. - 1,168,455
Capital assets, non depreciable........................ 149,558,132 101,442,351
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation... 268,735,252 255,415,035
Total assets......ccccveviiiiiiiiiiiiiccre e, 670,029,997 543,095,631
Deferred outflows of resources...........c.ccvvvveenennt 152,527,007 200,950,119
Liabilities:
Current liabilities (excluding debt)...................... 109,893,133 65,593,279
Noncurrent liabilities (excluding debt)................. 844,620,899 1,137,851,845
Currentdebt.........coooiiiiiiii 10,134,468 9,621,495
Noncurrent debt...........ccoiiiiiii 157,023,748 114,314,769
Total liabilities.........ccocvvvieiiiiririiierireens 1,121,672,248 1,327,381,388
Deferred inflows of resources...........ccceevevvnvnnnn 274,527,931 26,492,297
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets........................ 285,953,437 255,466,687
Restricted. ..o 30,777,847 24,462,992
Unrestricted..........oiiiiiii (890,374,459) (889,757,614)
Total net position..........cccocieiiiiiiiiiininnns, $ (573,643,175) $  (609,827,935)

A significant portion of the City’s governmental activities net position, $286.0 million, reflects its investment in
capital assets less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these
capital assets to provide services to citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future spending.
Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the
resources to repay debt must be provided from other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities.
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An additional portion of the net position of $30.8 million represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The deficit balance of unrestricted net position in the amount of $890.4
million is due to the recognition of the net pension liability of $197.7 million and the net OPEB liability of $626.5

million.

Governmental activity liabilities include $160.3 million in general obligation bonds, $20.5 million in liabilities for
unused vacation, special leave, and enhanced longevity benefits; $5.7 million in future workers’ compensation
benefits, $6.7 million in right to use lease liabilities, and a $5 million reserve for future legal settlements.

The key elements of governmental activities are as follows:

2022 2021
Program Revenues:
Charges for SerniCes...........ouvveviiniineennennns $ 20,954,016 18,279,922
Operating grants and contributions............... 287,164,081 294,462,326
Capital grants and contributions................... 42,272,360 42,431,088
General Revenues:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tax refunds payable...................... 151,657,267 143,676,056
Tax and other liens............ccovveiiiiiiiiiiiinnns, 380,237 912,703
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes............ 10,328,804 9,998,448
Hotel/motel tax...........ccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiiine, 109,798 48,093
Meals tax......cooveeiniiiiieie e 1,470,028 1,171,773
Community preservation tax........ 854,538 755,168
Penalties and interest on taxes... 1,405,928 1,511,353
Payments in lieu of taxes.............ccooeeenneeen. 440,600 467,544
Grants and contributions not restricted to
SPeCific Programs...........ccoeeveeuveiiinnennnen. 29,497,708 27,701,308
Unrestricted investment income................... 380,784 724,386
Gainonsaleofassets...............ccoeeeiiinnn. 100,000 1,933,206
Miscellaneous...........cc.coooeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiens 435,925 337,288
Total revenues........ccceevvvviviirirnnnnnnans 547,452,074 544,410,662
Expenses:
General government............c.cooeeviniinnnnnnen. 19,517,481 31,023,379
Public safety 79,449,946 103,765,394
Education......... 359,937,758 366,243,384
Public works 19,600,695 20,262,012
Human Semices..........ccoveviieiiiiiiiieieene. 16,567,660 19,517,128
Culture and recreation..............cccoeevvinennns. 7,015,070 8,033,677
Interest.................... 3,198,704 3,010,391
Total expenses. 505,287,314 551,855,365
Excess (Deficiency) before transfers.............. 42,164,760 (7,444,703)
Transfers.......ccovvvviiiiiiiiiiin (5,980,000) (202,356)
Change in net position...........c.ccoeuvieiieiiennen. 36,184,760 (7,647,059)
Net position, beginning of year.................... (609,827,935) (602,180,876)
Net position, end of year............ccccevuueennnn. $ (573,643,175) $ (609,827,935)

The $36.2 million increase in net position is attributable to the receipt of $42.3 million in capital grants mostly
related to Massachusetts School Business Administration grants related to the high school project, a decrease in
the net pension liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows of $23.6 million. These increases were offset
by a $24.7 million increase in the other postemployment benefits liability and its associated deferred
inflows/outflows, and a $4.1 million increase in the compensated absence accrual.
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Revenues increased $3.0 million over the prior year, primarily due to real estate and personal property taxes
which was in line with the City’s budget. Operating grants and contributions decreased $7.3 million as the State’s
on behalf payment to Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System (MTRS) decreased $24.4 million, while State
aid for education increased $11.6 million

Expenditures decreased $46.6 million, $24.4 million of which related to the MTRS on-behalf payment. Other
decreases related to one-time grants provided in fiscal year 2021 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as
CARE'’s.

Business-type Activities

The following summarizes the key financial components of the City’s business-type activities:

2022 2021
Assets:
Current @SSetS.......vviviieiii $ 32,953,459 $ 34,161,178
Capital assets, non depreciable......................... 9,365,469 37,155,120
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation.... 258,418,910 234,410,829
Total assets......cccvevirireriririrircrerrer e, 300,737,838 305,727,127
Deferred outflows of resources...........ccccecvuennenen. 7,029,347 6,973,513
Liabilities:
Current liabilities (excluding debt)....................... 5,266,524 5,188,618
Noncurrent liabilities (excluding debt).................. 43,942,713 42,545,708
Currentdebt........cooiiiiiii 16,875,473 12,825,438
Noncurrent debt..........coooiiiiiii s 177,674,003 189,297,153
Total liabilities.........cococvevviiiiiiiiins 243,758,713 249,856,917
Deferred inflows of resources...........ccccvvvvnvnnnn.., 21,060,818 12,349,220
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets........................ 79,256,219 74,417,763
Unrestricted.........ooooiiii (36,308,565) (23,923,260)
Total net position.........c.cocvviiiiiiiiiiiiecnnns $ 42,947,654 $ 50,494,503

Business type activities assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources by $42.9 million at the close of 2022.

Net position of $79.3 million reflects its net investment in capital assets less any debt used to acquire those

assets that are still outstanding. The deficit balance of unrestricted net position of $36.3 million is due to the net
pension liability of $26.2 million and the net OPEB liability of $17.4 million.
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2022 2021

Program Revenues:

Charges for services..............cccceeeeeiiniinnns $ 44,802,070 $ 43,917,566
Capital grants and contributions................... 271,149 1,200,417
Total revenues........cocevevviviviviereenannnn. 45,073,219 45,117,983
Expenses:
Water.. ..o 16,868,607 14,054,731
SEBWEN. ... 32,377,677 13,157,825
Parking......ocoeiii 9,353,784 7,489,465
Total expenses........ccceeeviiiiriiirannnnns, 58,600,068 34,702,021
Excess (Deficiency) before transfers.............. (13,526,849) 10,415,962
Transfers.....c.oovoiioiiiiiic i 5,980,000 202,356
Change in net position...........c.cccoevveienenennnn, (7,546,849) 10,618,318
Net position, beginning of year..................... 50,494,503 39,876,185
Net position, end of year..............ccccoeeuneennnnns $ 42,947,654 $ 50,494,503

The water enterprise fund net position decreased by $2.7 million. The change is primarily due to the $2.9 million
increase in the net pension liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows, an increase in the indirect costs
assessed to the fund, offset by the receipt of a $2.0 million transfer in from the general fund.

The sewer enterprise fund net position decreased by $5.7 million. The change is primarily due to the $8.8 million
increase in the net pension liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows as the fund received a larger
pension allocation to represent employees counts more accurately within the department, this also resulted in an
increase in the indirect costs charged to the sewer fund. These increases were offset by the receipt of a $1.0
million transfer in from the general fund.

The parking enterprise fund net position increased by $870,000 in the current year. The change is primarily due to
an increase in parking fee revenues, as revenues decreased substantially in prior years due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Further, the parking fund received a $3.0 million transfer in from the general fund. These increases
were offset by the $349,000 increase in the net pension liability and its associated deferred inflows/outflows, an
increase in the indirect costs charged to the fund, and an overall increase in contractor and repair expenses.

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds - The focus of governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows,
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing financing requirements. In
particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for
spending at the end of the year.

As of the end of the year, governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $121.3 million, an

increase of $20.5 million in comparison with the prior year. The increase is primarily attributable to the timing
difference between the issuance of bonds and receipt of grant funds and the actual expenditure of such funds.
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The general fund is the chief operating fund. At the end of the current year, unassigned fund balance of the
general fund equaled $28.5 million (which includes $13.9 million set aside as general stabilization), while total
fund balance was $38.5 million. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both
unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned and total fund balance
represents 6.7% and 9.1% of general fund expenditures, respectively.

The general fund decreased by $9.8 million during 2022. This was due to deficit budgetary results due to use of
free cash to balance the budget.

General fund revenues and other financing sources totaled $434.6 million for 2022, an increase of $9.0 million
compared to the previous year. The increase primarily relates to budgeted increases in real estate and personal
property taxes of $8.0 million, intergovernmental State aid of $16.5 million, $5.1 million of lease financing and a
$1.5 million increase in departmental fees and permit revenues, while the teachers’ retirement pension benefits
paid by the State on behalf of the City decreased $24.4 million.

Total general fund expenditures and other financing uses totaled $444.5 million, an increase of $39.3 million over
the previous year. The increase in expenditures primarily relates to education, employee benefits and transfers
out.

The COVID-19 grants fund represents expenditures of Federal and State grants received in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. The fund reported an ending fund balance of $55,600, and unearned revenue of $56.1
million for ARPA funds received from the Federal government, but not obligated as of yearend. The City
expended $9.2 million in response to the pandemic for: public health related equipment and services, negative
economic impacts, infrastructure improvements, remote learning for students, and safe school reopening.

The high school construction fund represents expenditures for the renovation and construction of the Lowell High
School. The fund issued $41.4 million of long-term debt in fiscal year 2022 and received reimbursements of $31.8
million from the Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA). Under agreement with the MSBA, they will
reimburse approved construction costs up to 80% over the life of the project. At year end the balance of the fund
was $35.6 million, a $23.6 million increase from the prior year, which is related to the timing of the receipt and
expenditure of bond proceeds.

Nonmajor governmental funds increased $6.8 million which can be attributed to the $4.3 million issuance of bonds
and related premiums, and $3.9 million of transfers in from the general fund.

The internal service fund had an ending net position of $3.1 million, with no change from the prior year. The
balance relates to the City’s agreement with the Lowell Public Employee Committee for the distribution of the
employee share of the health benefits trust fund. In July of 2012, the City entered the Group Insurance
Commission (GIC) and its health insurance activities are now premium based within the general fund. The City is
now working to use the remaining balance in the internal service fund for health insurance related costs, when
requested.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The difference between the original budget of $419.3 million and the final amended budget of $438.0 million
amounted to a net increase of $18.7 million. During 2022, the Council approved transfers from free cash which
included $6.8 million to the stabilization funds, $6.0 million to the enterprise funds, $3.7 million to capital funds for
paving and sidewalks, and for the fire department ladder truck, $350,000 for the general fund, $87,000 for special
revenue funds and $889,000 to the OPEB trust fund. The Council also approved various supplemental
appropriations from other available funds, as well as transfers between departments representing minor increases
and decreases in various budget line items.

Revenues came in higher than budgeted by $4.0 million while expenditures came in $6.3 million lower than
budgeted after carryforwards. The largest revenue surplus related to departmental and other of $2.3 million. The
largest departmental turn back related to general government salaries.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets - The City’s investment in capital assets for governmental activities as of June 30, 2022, amounts
to $418.3 million, net of accumulated depreciation. The investment in capital assets includes land, buildings,
improvements, infrastructure, vehicles, machinery and equipment, books, and software. Major governmental
additions included High school construction, Right to use leased buildings, Lord overpass construction, parks and
playground improvements, and roadway improvements.

Due to the implementation of GASB 87 Leases, $7.1 million of leases previously considered to be operating were
capitalized, which included various buildings used by the City and school department. The City recorded the
associated right to use assets.

The City’s investment in capital assets for business-type activities as of June 30, 2022, amounts to $267.8 million,
net of accumulated depreciation. The investment in capital assets for the business-type activities relates to sewer
and water infrastructure and systems as well as the various parking garage facilities. Major current year additions
included Duck Island facility upgrades, the HCID parking garage, HVAC upgrades, and other various water and
sewer improvements.

Additional information on the City’s capital assets may be found in Note 4 to the basic financial statements.

Long-term debt — At June 30, 2022, the City had total governmental bonded debt of $160.3 million. The City
issued governmental general obligation bonds totaling $45.4 million during fiscal year 2022. Currently, the City
has $318.0 million in authorized and unissued long-term debt relating to the City’s High School construction
project.

The water enterprise fund had $34.5 million in long-term debt that is supported by the water rates and future
MCWT principal and interest subsidies.

The sewer enterprise fund had $103.0 million in long-term debt that is supported by the sewer rates and future
MCWT principal and interest subsidies. The fund issued general obligation bonds of $939,000 and $4.1 million of
BANS during fiscal year 2022.

The parking enterprise fund had $53.0 million in long-term debt that is supported by parking fees.

In order to take advantage of favorable interest rates, the City issued $2.6 million of general obligation refunding

bonds on September 15, 2021, as part of a $39.3 million issuance. Of the refunding bonds, $964,000 was
governmental and $1.7 million was for the sewer enterprise fund. The proceeds of the refunding bonds were used
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to complete a current refunding of existing debt. The refunded bonds totaled $3.2 million and became callable on
November 15, 2021. As a result of the transaction, the refunded bonds were paid down on the call date and the
liability has been removed from the statement of net position. The transaction resulted in an economic gain of
$377,000 and a reduction of $412,000 in future debt service payments.

In order to take advantage of favorable interest rates, the City issued $3.9 million of general obligation state
qualified refunding bonds on December 16, 2021. The governmental fund bond was for the prior recovery zone
economic development issuance. The proceeds of the refunding bonds were used to complete a current
refunding of existing debt. The refunded bonds totaled $4.3 million and became callable on January 15, 2022. As
a result of the transaction, the refunded bonds were paid down on the call date and the liability has been removed
from the statement of net position. The transaction resulted in an economic gain of $390,000 and a reduction of
$402,000 in future debt service payments.

Please see Notes 6 and 7 for more information related to debt activity.
Next Year’s Budget

Mayor Sokhary Chau and the Members of the Lowell City Council approved the City Manager’s proposed Fiscal

Year 2023 general fund operating budget of $406.4 million on June 14th, 2022, after a public hearing in the City

Council Chambers at Lowell City Hall. The budget was adopted on roll call, and approved by a vote of 8 yeas, 2

nays (C. Gitschier, C. Nuon), and 1 absent (C. Leahy), and approved by City Manager Thomas A. Golden, Jr. on
June 15, 2022.

The total increase in general fund appropriations in the original budget, as compared to the fiscal year 2022 tax
rate recapitulation, was $33.1 million, not including state assessments. Notable drivers of increased expenditures,
on the City-side, were fixed costs such as a $1.6 million increase in the pension assessment from PERAC, a
$380,000 increase in the budget for costs associated with solid waste/ recycling collection and disposal, and a
6.2% overall increase in the budget for employee health insurance, with the state’s group insurance commission
(“GIC”). The FY2023 appropriation order also included a $1.1 million provision for abatements and exemptions
(i.e. overlay). There was also an increase of $4.8 million in the FY2023 assessments to Lowell for charter school
pupils who reside in Lowell.

The FY2023 budget included a $19.9 million increase in education spending, including both the Lowell Public
School District and the assessment from the Greater Lowell Regional Technical High School. Of the total $213.7
million appropriated by the City Council to the Lowell Public Schools, 94%, is from the Commonwealth’s Chapter
70 education aid and the balance of $12.7 million is funded through the tax levy in direct cash support. To balance
the 2023 budget, the City Manager had to close an approximately $10.2 million gap. This was achieved through
cuts to departmental requests and through an increase to the planned increase to the tax levy to 5.5%, as well as
the inclusion of certain available funds to balance the budget.

In addition to the FY2023 budget for the general fund, the City Council approved the City Manager’s proposed
budgets for city’s three enterprise funds for water, sewer, and parking in the amounts of $11.3 million, $22.9
million, and $9.8 million, respectively. In FY2023, the amount budgeted to reimburse the general fund for
administrative overhead in all of the enterprise funds was $11.4 million.

Aside from the major challenges found in FY2023, the City Administration was able to make several investments
in key priority areas in the budget. Highlights and initiatives include the appropriation of $2.08 million in pay-as-
you-go (PAYGO) investment in the operating budget to address capital needs in city and school buildings, streets,
sidewalks, etc., which will save money on interest/ borrowing costs. Also included in the budget was an
appropriation of $1.6 million to fund a pay and class study and the resulting schedules for city employees to
address a significant operational challenge to fill vacancies in the public works department (“DPW”) and other
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departments. The FY2023 budget also added new positions to address City Council priorities areas, including the
creation of an Assistant Fire Chief in the Lowell Fire Department to manage a new policy to keep all fire
companies open to maximize public safety in Lowell.

Several targeted capital investments were also incorporated by the City Manager into the FY2023 operating
budget to support the priorities of the City Council, such as public safety and economic development. Concurrent
with the FY2023 operating budget, the City Council approved, by a roll call vote of 10-1 (C. Gitschier), approved
the City Manager’s proposed update to the city’s comprehensive five-year capital improvement plan (“CIP”) and a
loan order in the amount of $12,913,500 was approved to finance strategic investments in the general fund. The
loan order included funding for the city-wide paving program ($3 million), infrastructure projects for the various
bridges across the city, including the Central Street Bridge project ($2 million), acquisition of body cameras for the
Lowell Police Officers $725,000, and a $2.3 million investment in school building improvements, among other
projects.

The new management team has made strides towards improving internal controls and strengthening the overall
financial management of the City in FY2022 and into FY2023. These include the implementation of bi-weekly
payroll throughout the City in FY2023, and better utilization of the MUNIS financial system’s payroll and HR
modules, such as the applicant tracking program to better manage the HR process and work towards better
position control. The City also has continued to manage the $75.9 million in federal funding allocated to Lowell via
the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”). An ARPA finance manager and grant staff were added in FY2023 to
manage the various compliance and reporting requirements to the US Treasury.

In a report issued by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) in connection with a $46.59 million, general obligation state
qualified bond issue in July of 2022, the rating agency commented on Lowell’s “very strong management”, “very
strong liquidity”, and “strong institutional framework score”. In the report, S&P cited the City’s strong financial
policies and practices under the S&P Financial Management Assessment (“FMA”) methodology and a strong
institutional framework score and stable budgetary performance and strong budgetary reserves and liquidity
heading into fiscal year 2023. Further, the rating agencies noted the City’s “well-grounded budgetary assumptions
and continued emphasis on financial monitoring and planning highlight its financial management practices and
procedures.” The report notes that City officials are conservative with revenue and expenditure assumptions and
consider historical trends when developing the budget. S&P noted that Lowell has the flexibility to amend the
budget as needed, and management monitors performance regularly and makes monthly reports on budget-to-
actual results to the City council, while also regularly performing formal financial forecasting and maintaining a

five-year capital improvement plan it updates annually.

The fiscal year 2023 tax rate was approved by the Department of Revenue on December 15, 2022, at a levy of
$164.4 million. Total appropriations in all funds including the general fund and enterprise funds totaled $516.3
million, including $41.2 million in “cherry sheet” charges and a $1.1 million allowance for abatements and
exemptions (“overlay”). The total estimated receipts and other revenue sources raised to support those
appropriated and other unappropriated expenses totaled $351.9 million. Of that total, $243.7 million came from
local aid from the Commonwealth (Chapter 70, UGGA, and other “cherry sheet” receipts), $1.2 million from MSBA
reimbursements for completed projects, and $25 million in local receipts. Finally, $51.1 million of the total amount
raised was from the City’s enterprise funds, $3.4 million from Community Preservation Funds and $9.6 million
was appropriated by the Lowell City Council in other available funds to support the budget.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Lowell’s finances for all those with an
interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for

additional financial information should be addressed to the City Auditor, City Hall 375 Merrimack Street, Lowell,
MA 01852.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022

Primary Government

ASSETS
CURRENT:

Cash and cash equivalents......................

Investments

Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibl
Real estate and personal property taxes.

Tax liens

Community preservation fund surtax.
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes

User fees..
Departmental and other.
Intergovernmental

Working capital deposi

Total current assets........................

NONCURRENT:
Capital assets, nondepreciable...

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets..

TOTALASSETS......ooiiiiiiiiiiiciii e

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions
Deferred outflows related to other postemployment benefits.

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES

CURRENT:
Warrants payable.
Accrued payroll.
Accrued interest
Payroll and other lial
Unearned revenue...
Right to use lease liabilities
Compensated absences.
Workers' compensation.
Notes payable
Long-term debt payable.

Total current liabilities.....................

NONCURRENT:
Legal settlement reserve
Right to use lease liabilitie:
Compensated absences.
Workers' compensatio
Net pension liability....

Net other postemployment benefits liabilit

Long-term debt payable.

Total noncurrent liabilities.................

TOTAL LIABILITIES........cooiiiiiii
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pensions..

Deferred inflows related to other postemployment benefits

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES..

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets....................

Restricted for:
Chapter 17 special reserve

Permanent funds:
Expendable
Nonexpendable

Gifts and grants...

Community preservation

Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiis

See notes to basic financial statements.

City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
.............................. $ 198,847,227 $ 22,105,105 $ 220,952,332
2,210,260 - 2,210,260
3,433,401 - 3,433,401
2,315,224 179,862 2,495,086
23,181 - 23,181
3,176,117 - 3,176,117
627,349 9,759,066 10,386,415
2,874,820 909,426 3,784,246
33,468,520 - 33,468,520
45,504 - 45,504
4,477,310 - 4,477,310
237,700 - 237,700
.............................. 251,736,613 32,953,459 284,690,072
149,558,132 9,365,469 158,923,601
268,735,252 258,418,910 527,154,162
418,293,384 267,784,379 686,077,763
.............................. 670,029,997 300,737,838 970,767,835
28,830,762 3,816,679 32,647,441
123,696,245 3,212,668 126,908,913
....................... 152,527,007 7,029,347 159,556,354
19,244,302 2,559,570 21,803,872
15,440,964 92,741 15,533,705
1,500,449 2,062,786 3,563,235
6,809,795 - 6,809,795
56,131,254 - 56,131,254
1,102,445 - 1,102,445
9,183,369 551,427 9,734,796
1,583,000 - 1,583,000
68,000 4,121,168 4,189,168
8,964,023 12,754,305 21,718,328
.............................. 120,027,601 22,141,997 142,169,598
5,000,000 - 5,000,000
5,647,377 - 5,647,377
11,290,157 384,566 11,674,723
4,129,000 - 4,129,000
197,711,925 26,173,537 223,885,462
626,489,817 17,384,610 643,874,427
151,376,371 177,674,003 329,050,374
............................. 1,001,644,647 221,616,716 1,223,261,363
.............................. 1,121,672,248 243,758,713 1,365,430,961
52,771,904 6,986,061 59,757,965
221,756,027 14,074,757 235,830,784
274,527,931 21,060,818 295,588,749
.............................. 285,953,437 79,256,219 365,209,656
1,150 - 1,150
3,325,314 - 3,325,314
8,752,439 - 8,752,439
45,504 - 45,504
349,536 - 349,536
1,885,702 - 1,885,702
13,537,518 - 13,537,518
2,880,684 - 2,880,684
(890,374,459) (36,308,565) (926,683,024)
............................. $ (573,643,175) $ 42,947,654 $ (530,695,521)
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Net (Expense)
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
General government.................... $ 19,517,481 $ 5,088,212 $ 1,280,158 $ 149,599 $ (12,999,512)
Public safety...........cocooeviininn. 79,449,946 9,400,964 3,183,500 - (66,865,482)
Education............cooviviiiiiinnnn. 359,937,758 1,063,437 264,832,265 31,843,933 (62,198,123)
Publicworks..........ccocoveviiiiinenn. 19,600,695 4,110,236 1,230,956 9,059,653 (5,199,850)
Human services.............cc..ceeuvenn.. 16,567,660 407,516 15,958,189 1,219,175 1,017,220
Culture and recreation.................. 7,015,070 883,651 679,013 - (5,452,406)
Interest..........ooviiiiiiiiin 3,198,704 - - - (3,198,704)
Total Governmental Activities...... 505,287,314 20,954,016 287,164,081 42,272,360 (154,896,857)
Business-Type Activities:
Water......coovveviiiiiii 16,868,607 12,146,525 - 31,941 (4,690,141)
SEWEN ...t 32,377,677 25,494,663 - 156,534 (6,726,480)
Parking......coooveveiiiiiiiii 9,353,784 7,160,882 - 82,674 (2,110,228)
Total Business-Type Activities..... 58,600,068 44,802,070 - 271,149 (13,526,849)
Total Primary Government.......... $ 563,887,382 $ 65,756,086 $§ 287,164,081 $ 42543509 $ (168,423,706)

(Continued)
See notes to basic financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Changes in net position:
Net (expense) revenue from previous page...... $ (154,896,857) $ (13,526,849) $ (168,423,706)
General revenues:
Real estate and personal property taxes,

net of tax refunds payable....................... 151,657,267 - 151,657,267
Taxand otherliens...........ccooeviiiiiiiinnnn. 380,237 - 380,237
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes........... 10,328,804 - 10,328,804
Hotel/motel tax.........ccooviiiiiiiiies 109,798 - 109,798
Meals taX......coovvniiiii 1,470,028 - 1,470,028
Community preservation tax...................... 854,538 - 854,538
Penalties and interest on taxes.................. 1,405,928 - 1,405,928
Payments in lieu of taxes.......................... 440,600 - 440,600
Grants and contributions not restricted to

specific programs...........ccoovviiiiiiiinans 29,497,708 - 29,497,708
Unrestricted investment income................. 380,784 - 380,784
Gainonsaleofassets..........cccoovvviiiinnnn. 100,000 - 100,000
Miscellaneous..........ccoovviiiiiiiiie 435,925 - 435,925

Transfers, Net...........c.ceveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiianannn, (5,980,000) 5,980,000 -
Total general revenues and transfers.............. 191,081,617 5,980,000 197,061,617
Change in net position.....................o.. 36,184,760 (7,546,849) 28,637,911
Net position:
Beginningof year............coooiiiiiiiiiiinn, (609,827,935) 50,494,503 (559,333,432)
Endofyear.....c.cooviiiiiiii $ (573,643,175) $ 42947654 $ (530,695,521)
(Concluded)

See notes to basic financial statements.
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET

JUNE 30, 2022

COVID-19 High Nonmajor Total
Grant School Governmental Governmental
General Fund Construction Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents...................cccccuvvennn. $ 60,862,307 $ 56,397,792 $ 31,853,992 $ 46,609,997 $ 195,724,088
Investments..........cooiiiiiii - - - 2,210,260 2,210,260
Receivables, net of uncollectibles:

Real estate and personal property taxes.............. 3,433,401 - - - 3,433,401

TaX eNS. .. e 2,315,224 - - - 2,315,224

Community preservation fund surtax. - - - 23,181 23,181

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 3,176,117 - - - 3,176,117

USErfees......iiiiiiii 627,349 - - - 627,349

Departmental and other. 2,843,020 - - 31,800 2,874,820

Intergovernmental..... 1,647,717 - 13,336,719 18,484,084 33,468,520

Loans................ - - - 45,504 45,504
Tax foreclosures...... 4,477,310 - - - 4,477,310
Working capital deposit..............ccoveviiiiiiiiiininnn. 237,700 - - - 237,700
TOTAL ASSETS. ...t $ 79,620,145 $ 56,397,792 $ 45190,711 $ 67,404,826 $ 248,613,474
LIABILITIES

Warrants payable................ccooeiiiiiiiiiiinei, $ 5,159,516 $ 102,115 $ 9,677,067 $ 4,405,604 $ 19,244,302

Accrued payroll...........c.ccooieiiiiiiiii 14,221,856 108,863 - 1,110,245 15,440,964

Payroll and other liabilities 6,774,069 - - 35,726 6,809,795

Unearned revenue....... - 56,131,254 - - 56,131,254

Notes payable............ccooooiiiiiiii - - - 68,000 68,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES.....ouiiiiiiicie e 26,155,441 56,342,232 9,577,067 5,619,575 97,694,315
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue.................ccooeeiiiiiiiiinl. 14,969,284 - - 14,620,615 29,589,899
FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable..............cooviiiiiiiiiiiii 237,700 - - 1,885,702 2,123,402

Restricted . 1,150 55,560 35,613,644 45,278,934 80,949,288

Committed.......coooiiiiiii 6,670,416 - - - 6,670,416

ASSIGNEA. ... 3,060,219 - - - 3,060,219

Unassigned........cc.ovveiiiiiiiiii 28,525,935 - - - 28,525,935
TOTAL FUND BALANCES.........oooiiiiiiiieic 38,495,420 55,560 35,613,644 47,164,636 121,329,260
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES............... $ 79,620,145 $ 56,397,792 $ 45190,711 $ 67,404,826 $ 248,613,474

See notes to basic financial statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TOTAL FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022

Total governmental fund balanCes.............cooviiiiiii $ 121,329,260

Capital assets (net) used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported inthe funds..............ooooiii 418,293,384

Accounts receivable are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and, therefore, are unavailable in the funds.........................col 29,589,899

The statement of net position includes certain deferred inflows of resources
and deferred outflows of resources that will be amortized over future periods.
In governmental funds, these amounts are not reported...................ocoeviiienn.n. (122,000,924)

The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
the governmental activities in the statement of net position................................. 3,123,139

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding long-term debt,
whereas in governmental funds interest is not reported until due.......................... (1,500,449)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,
are not reported in the governmental funds:

Long-term debt payable............ooouiiiii s (160,340,394)
Net pension iability...........oooiri (197,711,925)
Net other postemployment benefits liability...................cooiii, (626,489,817)
Legal settlement reServe. ........c.ovniuiii i (5,000,000)
Lease labilities. .......c.ouiiii e (6,749,822)
Workers' COMPENSAtION. ... . ..o (5,712,000)
Compensated @DSENCES. .........cuuieiiiii et (20,473,526)
Net effect of reporting long-term liabilities...............c..oooviiiiiiiiiii, (1,022,477,484)
Net position of governmental activities..............ooooiiiiiii $ (573,643,175)

See notes to basic financial statements.
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

COVID-19 High Nonmajor Total
Grant School Governmental Governmental
General Fund Construction Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tax refunds... 151,372,848 § -8 - 8 - 8 151,372,848
Tax liens 653,055 - - - 653,055
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes...............ccoooeiiiiiiiiniinn. 10,200,462 - - - 10,200,462
Hotel/motel tax 109,798 - - - 109,798
MEAIS 8X. ettt 1,470,028 - - - 1,470,028
Charges for SEIVICES. ... ...uiuniiiii e 3,320,734 - - - 3,320,734
Penalties and interest on taxes. 1,404,545 - - 1,383 1,405,928
Payments in lieu of taxes...........covviiiiiiiiiii e 440,600 - - - 440,600
Fines and forfeitures...............ooooiiiiiiiiii - - - 28,430 28,430
Intergovernmental - state aid. 214,995,489 - - - 214,995,489
Intergovernmental - School Building Authority. 1,192,790 - - - 1,192,790
Intergovernmental - Teachers Retirement.... 26,643,061 - - - 26,643,061
Intergovernmental - other................... - 8,987,367 31,819,599 68,692,455 109,499,421
Departmental and other..... . 9,884,791 - - 12,336,885 22,221,676
Community preservation taxes. . - - - 844,037 844,037
Contributions and donations. ..............cccoceiiiiiiiiiiin - - - 574,506 574,506
Investment iNCOME/(10SS)......ucvuiiniiiiiei e 388,200 - - (7,416) 380,784
TOTAL REVENUES........ciiiiiiiiiiiiiecciii e 422,076,401 8,987,367 31,819,599 82,470,280 545,353,647
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General gOVErNMENL.........couuiitiiiiiiiie e 11,951,690 2,822,530 - 606,163 15,380,383
Public safety....... . 53,880,335 682,294 - 9,718,840 64,281,469
Education.. 193,157,058 5,273,517 49,626,129 46,249,645 294,306,349
Public works. 15,196,217 16,990 - 11,245,374 26,458,581
HUMEIN SEIVICES. .....uiiiiiiiiiie e 5,771,132 371,971 - 13,834,862 19,977,965
Culture and recreation.............ccooeveiiiiiiiiiiii 4,147,811 - - 2,483,410 6,631,221
Pension benefits . 26,572,390 - - - 26,572,390
Pension benefits - Teachers Retirement...................cco.ce 26,643,061 - - - 26,643,061
Employee benefits 44,034,417 - - - 44,034,417
State and county charges 34,184,770 - - - 34,184,770
Debt service:
PriNCIPAL. ... 8,197,400 - - - 8,197,400
Debt service related to leases, includes interest of $111,148..... 216,889 - - 287,225 504,114
Interest 4,915,071 - - - 4,915,071
TOTAL EXPENDITURES........ouuiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeiiiiie e 428,868,241 9,167,302 49,626,129 84,425,519 572,087,191
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES.........ccoooiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiiieeeees (6,791,840) (179,935) (17,806,530) (1,955,239) (26,733,544)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Issuance of long-termdebt............c.ooiiiiiiii - - 41,413,620 3,984,431 45,398,051
Issuance of refunding long-term debt..............c.ooooiiiiiiil 4,894,000 - - - 4,894,000
Premium from issuance of long-term debt - - - 356,908 356,908
Premium from issuance of refunding long-term debt.................... 811,847 - - - 811,847
Payments to refunded bond escrow agent. (5,460,000) - - - (5,460,000)
Right to use lease financing................ 5,126,558 - - 2,016,230 7,142,788
Proceeds from the sale of assets. - - - 100,000 100,000
Transfers in 1,729,900 179,935 - 3,997,070 5,906,905
Transfers out (10,157,005) - - (1,729,900) (11,886,905)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)............... (3,054,700) 179,935 41,413,620 8,724,739 47,263,594
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES..........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeccee, (9,846,540) - 23,607,090 6,769,500 20,530,050
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR...........coveeiiiiiiiiienen, 48,341,960 55,560 12,006,554 40,395,136 100,799,210
FUND BALANCES AT END OF YEAR.......ccciiiiiiiiiaaeiiiiiia e $ 38,495,420 $ 55,560 $ 35,613,644 $ 47,164,636 $ 121,329,260

See notes to basic financial statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds.................cooiiiiiiii

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Capital OULIAY . ... . e
Depreciation EXPENSE. ... ... e

Net effect of reporting capital @ssets............cocooiiiiii

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial
resources are unavailable in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances. Therefore, the recognition of revenue for various
types of accounts receivable differ between the two statements. This amount

represents the net change in unavailable revenue..................cooiiii

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental
funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction has any effect
on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums,
discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts
are unavailable and amortized in the Statement of Activities.

Principal payments on right {0 US€ 1€8SeS.............ocuiiiiiiiii
Issuance of long-term debt........ ... s

Issuance of refunding long-term debt.....

Premium from issuance of long-term debt...............coii
Premium from issuance of refunding long-term debt.................cocoiiiiiiii
Payments to refunded bond escrow agent..............cooiiiiiiii i
Right to use 1ease fiNaNCING......... oo
Net amortization of premium from issuance of long-term debt.......................c
Debt service prinCipal PaYMENTS. ........cuiuiiiii

Net effect of reporting long-term debt.............c.cooiii

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures
in the governmental funds.

Net change in compensated absences accrual................cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii

Net change in accrued interest on long-term debt............................

Net change in deferred outflow/(inflow) of resources related to pensions.........................
Net change in net pension liability..............oooiiiii
Net change in deferred outflow/(inflow) of resources related to other postemployment benefits
Net change in net other postemployment benefits liability..................coocoiii,
Net change in workers' compensation liability..................coooiiiii

Net effect of recording long-term liabilities. ...

Change in net position of governmental activities..............cocooiiiiiiii

See notes to basic financial statements.
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............. $ 20,530,050

............. 75,598,858
............. (14,162,860)

............. 61,435,998

............. 1,998,427

............. 392,966
............. (45,398,051)

(4,894,000)

............. (356,908)
............. (811,847)
............. 5,460,000
............. (7,142,788)
............. 1,399,276
............. 8,197,400

............. (43,153,952)

.............. (4,096,935)

428,239

............. (38,886,439)
............. 62,462,991
......... (257,572,307)
............. 232,877,888
............. 160,800

............ (4,625,763)

............. $ 36,184,760
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022

ASSETS
CURRENT:
Cash and cash equivalents.................ccoooiiiiiiiiin
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:
User fees
Liens - user fees
Departmental and other..............cooiiiiiiiiiiin

Total current assets..............ooooiiiiiiii

NONCURRENT:
Capital assets, non depreciable...............ccoooiiiiiiiiinn.
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation.....................

Total noncurrent @assets..............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnn,
TOTAL ASSETS ..ttt

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions..............ccccocoieeiineennnn.
Deferred outflows related to other postemployment benefits.....

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES..................

LIABILITIES

CURRENT:
Warrants payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued interest
Compensated absences
Notes payable
Bonds payable

Total current liabilities................ccooooiiiiii

NONCURRENT:
Compensated abSENCES. .........ccuiiuiiiiiiiiiiiaie e
Net pension liability
Net other postemployment benefits liability...........................
Bonds payable............oiiiiiiiii

Total noncurrent liabilities..................ccccooeeiiiin.
TOTAL LIABILITIES.....oniiiiee e
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions..............c..coooiiiiiiiinians
Deferred inflows related to other postemployment benefits.......
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES....................
NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION. ..ot

See notes to basic financial statements.

City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -

Internal Service

Water Sewer Parking Total Fund
$ 5,537,184 $ 11,693,358 $ 4,874,563 $ 22,105,105 $ 3,123,139
3,690,132 6,068,934 - 9,759,066 -
105,891 73,971 - 179,862 -
- - 909,426 909,426 -
9,333,207 17,836,263 5,783,989 32,953,459 3,123,139
746,856 7,756,847 861,766 9,365,469 -
42,558,857 147,324,777 68,535,276 258,418,910 -
43,305,713 155,081,624 69,397,042 267,784,379 -
52,638,920 172,917,887 75,181,031 300,737,838 3,123,139
1,580,646 1,889,063 346,970 3,816,679 -
1,320,763 1,653,929 237,976 3,212,668 -
2,901,409 3,542,992 584,946 7,029,347 -
248,195 993,044 1,318,331 2,559,570 -
36,506 50,431 5,804 92,741 -
307,265 1,139,211 616,310 2,062,786 -
199,431 321,699 30,297 551,427 -
- 4,121,168 - 4,121,168 -
3,164,052 6,163,584 3,426,669 12,754,305 -
3,955,449 12,789,137 5,397,411 22,141,997 -
150,790 218,283 15,493 384,566 -
10,839,550 12,954,577 2,379,410 26,173,537 -
7,147,006 8,949,855 1,287,749 17,384,610 -
31,327,098 96,787,029 49,559,876 177,674,003 -
49,464,444 118,909,744 53,242,528 221,616,716 -
53,419,893 131,698,881 58,639,939 243,758,713 -
2,893,218 3,457,747 635,096 6,986,061 -
2,529,796 11,089,142 455,819 14,074,757 -
5,423,014 14,546,889 1,090,915 21,060,818 -
9,612,914 53,040,557 16,602,748 79,256,219 -
(12,915,492) (22,825,448) (567,625) (36,308,565) 3,123,139
$ (3,302,578) $ 30,215,109 $ 16,035,123 $ 42,947,654 $ 3,123,139

A-24
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -
Internal Service
Water Sewer Parking Total Fund
OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for ServiCes. .........couuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiii e $ 12,102,007 $ 25,222,282 $ 7,160,882 $ 44485171 $ -
Other operating revenues. 44 518 272,381 - 316,899 -
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES ........cccoviiiiiiiiieiiinnnn 12,146,525 25,494,663 7,160,882 44,802,070 -
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Cost of services and administration.................cccccooeevinnei, 13,280,101 25,029,576 5,458,625 43,768,302 -
DEPreciation............ociiuuie e 2,765,514 4,896,528 2,335,644 9,997,686 -
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES........cccvviiiiiiieeeiinnnns 16,045,615 29,926,104 7,794,269 53,765,988 -
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)....cccvvueiiiinaaiiiiiaeeiiins (3,899,090) (4,431,441) (633,387) (8,963,918) -
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
INtEreSt EXPENSE. . .evuiiiiiii i (822,992) (2,451,573) (1,559,515) (4,834,080) -
Intergovernmental - sSUbSIdY............ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiii 31,941 156,534 - 188,475 -
Intergovernmental............cooiiiiiiiii - - 82,674 82,674 -
TOTAL NONOPERATING
REVENUES (EXPENSES), NET.......cccuviiiiiiiieeiiii, (791,051) (2,295,039) (1,476,841) (4,562,931) -
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS...........ccceunnee. (4,690,141) (6,726,480) (2,110,228) (13,526,849) -
TRANSFERS:
Transfers iN.........ooviiiiiiiii e 2,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 6,000,000 -
Transfers OUL.........c..oiiuiiiiii e - - (20,000) (20,000) -
TOTAL TRANSFERS. ... oot 2,000,000 1,000,000 2,980,000 5,980,000 -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION. ..ottt (2,690,141) (5,726,480) 869,772 (7,546,849) -
NET POSITION AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.......cccovviiiiinaannnn. (612,437) 35,941,589 15,165,351 50,494,503 3,123,139
NET POSITION AT END OF YEAR....cc.uuiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiieeeiien, $ (3,302,578) $ 30,215,109 $ 16,035,123 § 42,947,654 $ 3,123,139

See notes to basic financial statements.
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to vendors
Payments t0 @MPlOYEES. .........oiiuuiiiiiii e

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES...........oooviiiiiiiiiiiii

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Transfers iN..... ...
Transfers OUL............oouiiiiiiiii

NET CASH FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES...........ccoovvvviiennnn,

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and notes.......
Premium from the issuance of long-term debt....
Acquisition and construction of capital assets..
Principal payments on long-term debt and notes.
Intergovernmental revenue.........
Interest expense

NET CASH FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES.............
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS.........oovmiiiiiiiiiiiiiinns
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.........................
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF YEAR.................... $

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating iNCOME (I0SS).......cvvuniiiei et $
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash from operating activities:
Depreciation
Deferred (outflows)/inflows related to pensions .
Deferred (outflows)/inflows related to other postemployment benefits..........
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Liens - user charges....
User charges..........
Departmental and other..
Warrants payable
Accrued payroll
Compensated absences.
Net pension liability...........
Net other postemployment benefits liability...................cccoeeiiiini.

Total adjuStments..........ooiiiiiiii e
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES........covviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee $

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of refunding long-term debt..............cocooiiiiiiiiiii $
Long-term debt refunded
Refunding premium.............
Acquisition of capital assets on account.
Intergovernmental subsidy of debt service...

Total NON-Cash @CHVItY...........uuieieeiiiii e $

See notes to basic financial statements.

City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -

Internal Service

Water Sewer Parking Total Fund
12,579,445 § 26,041,833 § 7,137,172 § 45,758,450 $ -
(8,118,538) (15,161,254) (4,694,442) (27,974,234) -
(2,409,909) (3,260,226) (367,319) (6,037,454) -
2,050,998 7,620,353 2,075,411 11,746,762 -
2,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 6,000,000 -
- - (20,000) (20,000) -
2,000,000 1,000,000 2,980,000 5,980,000 -
- 5,059,810 - 5,059,810 -
91,500 - 15,750 107,250 -
(1,842,987) (4,172,184) 471,733 (5,543,438) -
(3,165,213) (5,659,281) (3,140,750) (11,965,244) -
- - 82,674 82,674 -
(945,464) (2,784,492) (1,989,197) (5,719,153) -
(5,862,164) (7,556,147) (4,559,790) (17,978,101) -
(1,811,166) 1,064,206 495,621 (251,339) -
7,348,350 10,629,152 4,378,942 22,356,444 3,123,139
5,537,184 § 11,693,358 $ 4,874,563 $ 22,105,105 $ 3,123,139
(3,899,090) $ (4,431,441) $ (633,387) $ (8,963,918) $ -
2,765,514 4,896,528 2,335,644 9,997,686 -
1,877,736 1,914,847 429,417 4,222,000 -
2,908,268 1,001,484 524,012 4,433,764 -
(26,098) 27,578 - 1,480 -
459,018 519,592 - 978,610 -
- - (23,710) (23,710) -
(378,980) 107,604 (2,406) (273,782) -
(34,941) (43,240) (4,067) (82,248) -
35,343 25,819 8,840 70,002 -
1,000,903 6,928,408 (80,252) 7,849,059 -
(2,656,675) (3,326,826) (478,680) (6,462,181) -
5,950,088 12,051,794 2,708,798 20,710,680 -
2,050,998 $ 7,620,353 $ 2,075411  § 11,746,762 $ -
- % 1,664,750 $ - % 1,664,750 $ -
- (2,000,000) - (2,000,000) -
- 335,250 - 335,250 -
- (331,564) (1,004,242) (1,335,806) -
31,941 156,534 - 188,475 -
31941 § (175,030) $ _ (1,004,242) $ (1,147,331) § -
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022

Pension and Other

Employee Private
Benefit Purpose
Trust Funds (1) Trust Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents................ccooiiiiin, $ 12,588,811 28,859
Investments:
Investments in Pension Reserve Investment Trust........ 534,025,135 -
Equity securities. ... 1,551,032 158,770
Equity mutual funds..............o 7,628,939 -
Bond mutual funds.........coooiiiiiii 3,568,945 -
TOTAL ASSETS. .., 559,362,862 187,629
NET POSITION
Restricted for pensions. ... 546,832,948 -
Restricted for other postemployment benefits................... 12,529,914 -
Held in trust for other purposes...........c.cooooiiiiiiiis, - 187,629
TOTAL NET POSITION. ... $ 559,362,862 187,629

(1) The Pension Trust Fund is as of December 31, 2021.

See notes to basic financial statements.
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Pension and Other

Employee Private
Benefit Purpose
Trust Funds (1) Trust Fund
ADDITIONS:
Contributions:
Employer contributions............c.oooiiiiiiii $ 32,664,464 $ -
Employer contributions for other postemployment benefit payments.......... 18,572,152 -
Member contribUtIONS. ..o 10,417,970 -
Transfers from other systems.... ... 196,262 -
3(8)c contributions from other systems...............coiiiiiiiii 906,696 -
State COLA reimbursemMeNnts.........ccooviiniiii e e 196,684 -
Total contribUtioNS.......cviii 62,954,228 -
Net investment income:
Investment iNCOME/(I0SS)......cuiuiei e 88,679,689 (3,686)
Less: iNVestmMeNnt EXPEeNSE. .......ouiiiii i (2,468,918) -
Net investment inCOmMEe/(I0SS)........ocuiuiniii e 86,210,771 (3,686)
TOTAL ADDITIONS . .. e 149,164,999 (3,686)
DEDUCTIONS:
AdMINISrAtiON. ..o 404,586 -
Transfers to other systems. ... 1,200,227 -
3(8)c transfer to other systems...........coviiiiiii 1,627,568 -
Retirement benefits and refunds..........coooiiiiii i 45,291,728 -
Other postemployment benefit payments............c.ccoiiiiiiiiiin, 18,572,152 -
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS . ...t 67,096,261 -
NET INCREASE IN NET POSITION. ..ottt 82,068,738 (3,686)
NET POSITION AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.....cciiiiiieee 477,294,124 191,315
NET POSITION AT END OF YEAR. ..o $ 559,362,862 $ 187,629

(1) The Pension Trust Fund is as of December 31, 2021.

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying basic financial statements of the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (City) have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the recognized standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant City accounting policies are described
herein.

A. Reporting Entity

The City is a municipal corporation that is governed by an elected nine-member City Council, of which one
member serves as Mayor, and an appointed City Manager.

For financial reporting purposes, the City has included all funds, organizations, account groups, agencies, boards,
commissions and institutions. The City has also considered all potential component units for which it is financially
accountable as well as other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the City
are such that exclusion would cause the basic financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. In accordance
with GAAP, these basic financial statements present the City (the primary government) as well as a component
unit. One entity has been included as a component unit in the reporting entity because of the significance of its
operational and/or financial relationship with the City.

Component Unit Presented as a Fiduciary Fund — The following component unit is presented as a Fiduciary Fund
of the primary government due to the nature and significance of relationship between the City and the component
unit.

The Lowell Contributory Retirement System (System) was established to provide retirement benefits to City
employees and their beneficiaries. The System is governed by a five-member board comprised of the City Auditor
(ex-officio), two elected members and two appointed members. The System is presented using the accrual basis
of accounting and is reported as a pension trust fund in the fiduciary fund financial statements.

Availability of Financial Information for Component Units

The System issues a separate audited financial statement. The System also issues a publicly available unaudited
financial report in accordance with guidelines established by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’
(Commonwealth) Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission (PERAC). These reports may be

obtained by contacting the System located at 375 Merrimack Street, Lowell, Massachusetts 01852.

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. Governmental
activities, which are primarily supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which are supported primarily by user fees and charges.

Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even
though fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial
statements. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and displayed in a single column.

Major Fund Criteria
Major funds must be reported if the following criteria are met:

o |If the total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources,
revenues, or expenditures/expenses of an individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least
10 percent of the corresponding element (assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources, etc.) for all funds of that category or type (total governmental
or total enterprise funds), and

o If the total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources,
revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund are at

least 5 percent of the corresponding element for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.

Additionally, any other governmental or enterprise fund that management believes is particularly
significant to the basic financial statements may be reported as a major fund.

Internal service funds and fiduciary funds are reported by fund type.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and
the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when the liabilities are incurred. Real estate and personal property taxes are recognized as revenues in
the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a particular function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include the following:

o Charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment.

e Grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational requirements of a particular
function or segment.

e Grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the capital requirements of a particular function or
segment.

Taxes and other items not identifiable as program revenues are reported as general revenues.
For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from the government-wide financial
statements. However, the effect of interfund services provided and used between functions is not eliminated as

the elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the functions
affected.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the flow of current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are
recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., measurable and available). Measurable means the amount of the
transaction can be determined and available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except
for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due, and certain compensated
absences, claims and judgments which are recognized when the obligations are expected to be liquidated with
current expendable available resources.

Real estate and personal property tax revenues are considered available if they are collected within 60 days after
year-end. Investment income is susceptible to accrual. Other receipts and tax revenues become measurable and
available when the cash is received and are recognized as revenue at that time.

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the accrual criteria is met.
Expenditure driven grants recognize revenue when the qualifying expenditures are incurred, and all other grant
requirements are met.

The following major governmental funds are reported:

The general fund is the primary operating fund. It is used to account for all financial resources of the general
government, except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund.

The COVID-19 grants fund is used to account for Federal and State grants received in response to the pandemic,
and their related expenditures.

The high school construction fund is used to account for the construction and renovations related to the Lowell
High School that is funded by the issuance of long-term debt and reimbursements from the Massachusetts School
Building Authority (MSBA).

The nonmajor governmental funds consist of special revenue, capital projects and permanent funds that are
aggregated and presented in the nonmajor governmental funds column on the governmental funds financial
statements. The following describes the general use of these fund types:

The special revenue fund is used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than permanent funds or capital projects.

The capital projects fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or
assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other
capital assets of the governmental funds.

The permanent fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are legally restricted to the extent
that only earnings, not principal, may be used for purposes that support the governmental programs.

Proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
use the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when the liabilities are incurred.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

proprietary funds principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported
as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The following major proprietary funds are reported:
The water enterprise fund is used to account for the water activities at Lowell Regional Water Utility.

The sewer enterprise fund is used to account for the sewer activities at the Duck Island Lowell Regional
Wastewater Ultility .

The parking fund is used to account for the parking garage and on-street parking activities.

The internal service fund is used to account for the financing of services provided by one department to other
departments or governmental units. This fund is used to account for risk financing activities related to employees’
health insurance. The City’s health insurance activities are now premium based through the Group Insurance
Commission and reported within the general fund. The City is working to utilize the remaining balance in this fund
for health insurance related appropriations.

Fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
use the accrual basis of accounting. Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity for
others that cannot be used to support the governmental programs.

The following fiduciary fund types are reported:

The pension and other employee benefit trust funds are used to account for the activities of the Lowell
Contributory Retirement System, which accumulates resources to provide pension benefits to eligible retirees and
their beneficiaries and to accumulate resources to provide funding for future OPEB liabilities.

The private-purpose trust fund is used to account for trust arrangements, other than those properly reported in the
pension trust fund or permanent fund, under which principal and investment income exclusively benefit

individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

D. Cash and Investments

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments with
an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Investments are carried at fair value.

E. Fair Value Measurements

The City reports required types of financial instruments in accordance with the fair value standards. These
standards require an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs (such as quoted prices in active markets)
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs (such as appraisals or valuation techniques) to determine fair value.
Fair value standards also require the government to classify these financial instruments into a three-level
hierarchy, based on the priority of inputs to the valuation technique or in accordance with net asset value practical
expedient rules, which allow for either Level 2 or Level 3 depending on lock up and notice periods associated with
the underlying funds.
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Instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

Level 1 — Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical instruments as of the reporting date.
Instruments, which are generally included in this category, include actively traded equity and debt securities, U.S.
government obligations, and mutual funds with quoted market prices in active markets.

Level 2 — Pricing inputs are other than quoted in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable
as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies.
Certain fixed income securities, primarily corporate bonds, are classified as Level 2 because fair values are
estimated using pricing models, matrix pricing, or discounted cash flows.

Level 3 — Pricing inputs are unobservable for the instrument and include situations where there is little, if any,
market activity for the instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management
judgment or estimation.

In some instances, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy
and is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Market price is affected by a number of factors, including the type of instrument and the characteristics specific to
the instrument. Instruments with readily available active quoted prices generally will have a higher degree of
market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value. It is reasonably possible
that change in values of these instruments will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially
affect amounts reported in these financial statements. For more information on the fair value of the City’s financial
instruments, see Note 2 — Cash and Investments.

F. Accounts Receivable

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The recognition of revenue related to accounts receivable reported in the government-wide financial statements
and the proprietary funds and fiduciary funds financial statements are reported under the accrual basis of
accounting. The recognition of revenue related to accounts receivable reported in the governmental funds
financial statements are reported under the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Real Estate, Personal Property Taxes and Tax Liens

Real estate and personal property taxes are levied and based on values assessed on January 1%t of every year.
Assessed values are established by the Board of Assessors for 100% of the estimated fair market value. Taxes
are due on August 15!, November 1%, February 15t and May 1%t of each year and are subject to penalties and
interest if they are not paid by their respective due date. Real estate and personal property taxes levied are
recorded as receivables in the year of the levy.

Real estate tax liens are processed during the fourth quarter of each year on delinquent properties and are
recorded as receivables.

Real estate receivables are secured via the tax lien process and are considered 100% collectible. Accordingly, an
allowance for uncollectibles is not reported.

Personal property taxes cannot be secured through the lien process. The allowance for uncollectibles is estimated
based on historical trends and specific account analysis.
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Motor Vehicle Excise

Motor vehicle excise taxes are assessed annually for each vehicle registered in the City and are recorded as
receivables in the year of the levy. The Commonwealth is responsible for reporting the number of vehicles
registered and the fair values of those vehicles. The tax calculation is the fair value of the vehicle multiplied by
$25 per $1,000 of value.

The allowance for uncollectibles is estimated based on historical trends and specific account analysis.
Water & Sewer

Water and Sewer user fees are levied quarterly based on individual meter readings and are subject to penalties
and interest if they are not paid by their respective due date. Liens are processed in December of every year and
included as a lien on the property owner’s tax bill. User charges and liens are recorded as receivables in the year
of the levy.

Since the receivables are secured via the lien process, these accounts are considered 100% collectible and
therefore do not report an allowance for uncollectibles.

Trash

Trash user fees are levied quarterly with the water and sewer bills. These charges are based on a flat fee of $18
per family unit up to six units. Trash liens are processed in December of each year and included as a lien on the
property owner’s tax bill. Trash charges and liens are recorded as receivables in the year of the levy.

Since the receivables are secured via the lien process, these accounts are considered 100% collectible and
therefore do not report an allowance for uncollectibles.

Departmental and Other

Departmental and other receivables consist primarily of outstanding parking tickets and are recorded as
receivables in the year accrued. The allowance for uncollectibles is estimated based on historical trends and
specific account analysis.

Intergovernmental

Various federal and state grants for operating and capital purposes are applied for and received annually. For
non-expenditure driven grants, receivables are recorded as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met. For expenditure driven grants, receivables are recorded when the qualifying
expenditures are incurred, and all other grant requirements are met.

These receivables are considered 100% collectible and therefore do not report an allowance for uncollectibles.
Community Preservation Surcharges

Community preservation surcharges are levied annually at a rate of 1% of resident’s real estate tax bills with
exemptions for the first $100,000 of residential property and property owned by qualified persons with low income
and seniors (60+) with low or moderate income defined by DOR guidelines. The surcharge is due with the real
estate tax on August 1st, November 1st, February 1st and May 1st and are subject to penalties and interest if they
are not paid by the respective due date. Overdue surcharges are included on the tax liens processed on
delinquent real estate taxes. Surcharges are recorded as receivables in the year of the levy.
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Since the receivables are secured via the lien process, these accounts are considered 100% collectible and
therefore, do not report an allowance for uncollectibles.

Loans

The Department of Planning and Development administers loan programs that provide housing assistance to
residents and capital needs assistance for small businesses. Upon issuance, a receivable is recorded for the
principal amount of the loan.

The allowance for uncollectibles is estimated based on historical trends and specific account analysis.

G. Inventories

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Inventories are recorded as expenditures at the time of purchase. Such inventories are not material in total to the
government-wide and fund financial statements, and therefore are not reported.

H. Capital Assets

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Capital assets, which include land, land improvements, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment,
vehicles and infrastructure (e.g., roads, water mains, sewer mains, and similar items), books and software are
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activity column of the government-wide financial
statements, and the proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost, or at
estimated historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available. Intangible Right-to-use leased assets are
recorded at the net present value of noncancellable lease payments at inception. Donated capital assets; donated
works of art; historical treasures and similar assets; and capital assets received in service concession
arrangements are recorded at acquisition value.

Capital assets (excluding land) are depreciated on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives of capital
assets are as follows:

Estimated

Useful Life
Capital Asset Type (in years)
Buildings and improvements...................... 20 -40
Right to use leased buildings..................... 5-10
Capital improvements (other than buildings).. 20
Infrastructure............oocoiii 40 - 50
Equipment..... ... 5-10
VehiCleS......ooveiiiii 5-15
BOOKS. ... 3-10
Software.........oovviiiiii 5

All purchases and construction costs in excess of $25,000 with expected useful lives of greater than one year are
capitalized at the date of acquisition or construction, respectively.
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The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized and are treated as expenses when incurred. Improvements meeting the criteria above are
capitalized.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Capital asset costs are recorded as expenditures in the acquiring fund in the year of the purchase.

|. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Government-Wide Financial Statements (Net Position)

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City reported deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
and other post-employment benefits in this category.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition
of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue)
until that time. The City reported deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and other post-employment
benefits in this category.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

In addition to liabilities, the governmental funds balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents assets that have been recorded in the governmental fund financial statements, but the revenue is not
available and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until it becomes available. The City
has reported unavailable revenue as deferred inflows of resources in the governmental funds balance sheet.

J. Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of its operations, transactions occur between and within individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Transactions of a buyer/seller nature between and within governmental funds and internal service funds are
eliminated from the governmental activities in the statement of net position. Any residual balances outstanding
between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the statement of net position as
“internal balances”.

Fund Financial Statements

Transactions of a buyer/seller nature between and within funds are not eliminated from the individual fund

statements. Receivables and payables resulting from these transactions are classified as “Due from other funds”
or “Due to other funds” on the balance sheet.
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K. Interfund Transfers

During the course of its operations, resources are permanently reallocated between and within funds. These
transactions are reported as transfers in and transfers out.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Transfers between and within governmental funds and internal service funds are eliminated from the
governmental activities in the statement of net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the statement of activities as “Transfers, net”.

Fund Financial Statements

Transfers between and within funds are not eliminated from the individual fund statements and are reported as
transfers in and transfers out.

L. Unavailable Revenue

Fund Financial Statements

Unavailable revenue at the governmental fund financial statement level represents billed receivables that do not
meet the available criterion in accordance with the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Unavailable revenue is recognized as revenue in the conversion to the
government-wide (full accrual) financial statements.

M. Net Position and Fund Equity

Government-Wide Financial Statements (Net position)

Net position is reported as restricted when amounts are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by
outside parties for a specific future use.

Net position reported as “net investment in capital assets” includes capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation, less the principal balance of outstanding debt used to acquire capital assets. Unspent proceeds of
capital related debt are not considered to be capital assets. Outstanding debt related to future reimbursements
from the state’s school building program is not considered to be capital related debt.

Net position has been “restricted for” the following:

“Chapter 17 special reserve” represents amounts accumulated that can be used for unforeseen expenditures
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Acts of 1992.

“Streets” represents amounts committed by the Commonwealth for the repair and/or construction of streets.

“Community development” represents amounts committed by the federal Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) for various community development projects.

“Loans” represents community development outstanding loans receivable balances.

“Permanent funds - expendable” represents amounts held in trust for which the expenditures are restricted by
various trust agreements.
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“Permanent funds - nonexpendable” represents amounts held in trust for which only investment earnings may be
expended.

“Gifts and grants” represents restrictions placed on assets from outside parties.
“Community preservation” represents amounts restricted for affordable housing, open space and historic
purposes.

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant
proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted — net position and
unrestricted — net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City’s policy to
consider restricted — net position to have been depleted before unrestricted — net position is applied.

Fund Financial Statements (Fund Balances)

Governmental fund balances are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned
based on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which
amounts in those funds can be spent.

The governmental fund balance classifications are as follows:

“Nonspendable” fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable
form or they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

“Restricted” fund balance includes amounts subject to constraints placed on the use of resources that are either
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or that are
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

“Committed” fund balance includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by formal action of the City’s highest level of decision-making authority. A vote of the City Council is the
highest level of decision-making authority that can commit funds for a specific purpose. Once voted, the limitation
imposed by the vote remains in place until the funds are used for their intended purpose or a vote is taken to
rescind the commitment.

“Assigned” fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be used for specific
purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. The City Auditor has the authority to assign fund balance.
Funds are assigned when the City has an obligation to purchase goods or services from the current year’s
appropriation.

“Unassigned” fund balance includes the residual classification for the general fund. This classification represents
fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
to specific purposes within the general fund. The general fund is the only fund that reports a positive unassigned
fund balance amount.

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from different components of fund balance. In order
to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balances in the
governmental fund financial statements a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources
are considered to be applied. When different components of fund balance can be used for the same purpose, it is
the City’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted first, followed by committed fund
balance, and assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.
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N. Long-term debt

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Long-term debt is reported as a liability in the government-wide and proprietary fund statement of net position.
Material bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective
interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

The face amount of governmental funds long-term debt is reported as other financing sources in the period
issued. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are recognized in the current period. Bond
premiums are reported as other financing sources and bond discounts are reported as other financing uses.
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual bond proceeds received, are reported as general
government expenditures.

O. Investment Income

Excluding the permanent funds and internal service funds, investment income derived from major and nonmajor
governmental funds and enterprise funds is legally assigned to the general fund unless otherwise directed by
Massachusetts General Law (MGL).

P. Compensated Absences

Employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts based on collective bargaining agreements,
state laws and executive policies.

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements
Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave are reported as liabilities and expensed as incurred.
Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave, which will be liquidated with expendable available financial
resources, are reported as expenditures and fund liabilities.

Q. Right to Use Lease Liabilities

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Right to use lease liabilities are reported at the present value of their future minimum lease payments. Lease
payments are reported as reductions of the lease liability and as interest expense during the lease term.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

The present value of the future minimum lease payments are reported within the governmental funds as other
financing sources and a capital expenditure. Lease payments are reported as debt service expenditures.
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R. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of both the
Lowell Contributory Retirement System and the Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System and additions
to/deductions from the Systems fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the Systems. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

S. Use of Estimates

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure for contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the year. Actual results could vary from estimates that were used.

T. Total Column
Government-Wide Financial Statements

The total column presented on the government-wide financial statements represents consolidated financial
information.

Fund Financial Statements

The total column on the fund financial statements is presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in this
column is not the equivalent of consolidated financial information.

NOTE 2 — CASH AND INVESTMENTS

A cash and investment pool is maintained that is available for use by all funds. Each fund type's portion of this
pool is displayed on the balance sheet as "Cash and Cash Equivalents". The deposits and investments of the
trust funds are held separately from those of other funds.

Statutes authorize the investment in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies and instrumentalities, certificates
of deposit, repurchase agreements, money market accounts, bank deposits and the State Treasurer's Investment
Pool (Pool). The Treasurer may also invest trust funds in securities, other than mortgages or collateral loans,
which are legal for the investment of funds of savings banks under the laws of the Commonwealth.

The Pool meets the criteria of an external investment pool. The Pool is administered by the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT), which was established by the Treasurer of the Commonwealth who serves
as Trustee. The fair value of the position in the Pool is the same as the value of the Pool shares.

MMDT maintains a cash portfolio with an average maturity of 27 days.
The System participates in the Pension Reserve Investment Trust (PRIT), which meets the criteria of an external

investment pool. PRIT is administered by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board, which was
established by the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts who serves as Trustee. The fair value of
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the position in the PRIT is the same as the value of the PRIT shares. The System does not have the ability to
control any of the investment decisions relative to its funds in PRIT. The System also has expanded investment
powers which are governed by Chapter 32 of the general laws of the Commonwealth and by the regulations
issued by the Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission (PERAC). The existing law provides that
Systems will invest in securities other than mortgages or collateral loans, which are legal for the investment of
funds of savings banks under the laws of the Commonwealth.

Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits

In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned
to it. The City’s investment policy states that financial institutions shall be selected first and foremost with regard
to safety as recognized by a top rating with the Veribanc or similar rating service. At year-end, the carrying
amount of the City’s deposits totaled $170,568,848 and the bank balance totaled $177,077,182. Of the bank
balance, $1,000,000 was covered by Federal Depository Insurance, $10,057,499 was covered by the Depositors
Insurance Fund, $158,498,873 was collateralized, and $7,520,810 was uninsured and uncollateralized.

At December 31, 2021, carrying amount of deposits for the System totaled $12,522,114, this was comprised of
$11,521,976 of cash deposited with banks along with $1,000,138 in the PRIT Cash Fund. The bank balance
totaled $12,648,079, of which $11,647,941 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance and the remaining
$1,000,138 in the PRIT Cash Fund was uninsured and uncollateralized.

Investments

As of June 30, 2022, the City had the following investments:

Maturities
Investment Type Fair value Under 1 Year 1-5 Years 6-10 Years Over 10 Years
Debt securities:
U.S. treasury notes....................... $ 444297 $ 160,322 $ 283,975 $ - $ -
Government sponsored enterprises... 211,051 80,122 130,929 - -
Corporate bonds............cccocevveeennn.n. 948,676 - 948,676 - -
Bond mutual funds........................ 3,729,061 - 1,199,709 988,614 1,540,738
Total debt securities........................ 5,333,085 $ 240,444 $ 2,563,289 $ 988,614 $ 1,540,738

Other investments:

Equity securities............oeeviiniis 2,155,922
Equity mutual funds....................... 7,343,240
Money market mutual funds............ 115,237
MMDT - Cash portfolio.................... 50,363,803
Total investments..........ocevveenenenn. $ 65,311,287
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As of December 31, 2021, the System had the following investments:

Investment Type Fair value

Equity mututal funds................oooeiiiiiinnnn $ 285,699

Pension Reserve Investment Trust (PRIT)........ 534,025,135
Total investments...........ccceeeeeiiiiiiiiiieneeennn, $ 534,310,834

Custodial Credit Risk — Investments

For the City’s investments, this is the risk that, in the event of a failure by the counterparty, the City will not be
able to recover the value of its investments or collateral security that are in the possession of an outside party.
The City’s investments in U.S. treasury notes, government sponsored enterprises, corporate bonds, and equity
securities, are exposed to custodial credit risk because the related securities are uninsured, unregistered and held
by the counterparty. The City’s investment policy states that with the exception of U.S. Treasury obligations or
investments fully collateralized by U.S. Treasuries or Agencies, and State Investment Pools, no more than 50% of
the City’s investments shall be invested in a single institution. MMDT, money market mutual funds, and mutual
funds are not subject to custodial credit risk as it is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book-entry
form.

For the System’s investments, this is the risk that, in the event of a failure by the counterparty, the System will not
be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral security that are in the possession of an outside party.
The System does not have an investment policy related to custodial credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

The City’s investment policy limits investment maturities to a term of up to one year, as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

The System does not have a formal policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure
to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. However, when managing assets, the System at all
times must be in accordance with the provisions of the Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission
(PERAC), the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), and Department of Labor regulations.

The System participates in PRIT. The effective weighted duration rate for PRIT investments ranged from 1.33 to
15.12 years.

Credit Risk
The City’s investment policy states that financial institutions shall be selected first and foremost with regard to

safety of principal, as recognized by a banking rating service such as Veribanc. Also, a listing of required
information is to be received from any investment house the City would like to do business with.
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At June 30, 2022, the City’s investments were rated as follows:

Government

Sponsored Corporate Bond Mutual
Quality Rating Enterprises Bonds Funds
AAA............... $ -5 - $ 644,107
AA+. ... 211,051 - 17,107
AA-..... - - 348,941
At - 145,142 656,573
A - 141,516 488,400
A - - 867,058
BBB+.............. - 144,113 -
BBB............... - 517,905 214,827
BBB-.............. - - 151,273
B-oiii - - 133,192
Not Rated........ - - 207,583
Total............... $ 211,051 $ 948,676 $ 3,729,061

The System has not adopted a formal policy related to credit risk. At December 31, 2021, the System did not have
any rated investments.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The City’s investment policy states that with the exception of U.S. Treasury notes or investments fully
collateralized by U.S. Treasuries or Agencies, and State Investment Pools, no more than 5% of the City’s
investments shall be invested in a single institution.

At June 30, 2022, the City’s investment in any one issuer did not exceed 5% of the total amount invested.

The System has not adopted a formal policy related to the amount that may be invested in any one issuer. At
December 31, 2021, the System’s investment in any one issuer did not exceed 5% of the total amount invested.

Fair Value of Investments

The City holds investments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Because investing is not a core
part of the City’s mission, the City determines that the disclosures related to these investments only need to be
disaggregated by major type. The City chooses a tabular format for disclosing the levels within the fair value
hierarchy.

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
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The City had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2022:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
June 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

Investment Type 2022 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Lewel 3)
Investments measured at fair value:
Debt securities:

U.S. treasury notes..............ccccoeeeneennn... $ 444297 $ 444297 $ - 9% -

Gowvernment sponsored enterprises........... 211,051 211,051 - -

Corporate bonds..........ccoovevieiiiiiiiiieiieenn. 948,676 - 948,676 -

Bond mutual funds..........ccooiviiiiiiinn. 3,729,061 3,729,061 - -

Total debt securities.............ccccceeeveeeeenn.n. 5,333,085 4,384,409 948,676 -
Other investments:

Equity securities............ccooeviiiiiiiiiinin 2,155,922 2,155,922 - -

Equity mutual funds...............cooooiiinni. 7,343,240 7,343,240 - -

Money market mutual funds.................... 115,237 115,237 - -

Total other investments................c..oooeeenen. 9,614,399 9,614,399 - -
Total investments measured at fair value........ 14,947,484 $ 13,998,808 $ 948,676 $ -

Investments measured at amortized cost:
MMDT - Cash portfolio................ccoeuninl 50,363,803

Total investments............cccooviiieeiieeineinnns $ 65,311,287

U.S. treasury notes, government sponsored enterprises, bond mutual funds, equity securities, equity mutual
funds, and money market mutual funds classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices
quoted in active markets for those securities. Corporate bonds classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are
valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’
relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

MMDT Cash Portfolio investments are valued at amortized cost. Under the amortized cost method, an investment
is valued initially at its cost and adjusted for the amount of interest income accrued each day over the term of the
investment to account for any difference between the initial cost and the amount payable at its maturity. If
amortized cost is determined not to approximate fair value, the value of the portfolio securities will be determined
under procedures established by the Advisor.

The System holds significant amounts of investments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
Because investing is a key part of the System’s activities, the plan shows greater disaggregation in its
disclosures. The plan chooses a tabular format for disclosing the levels within the fair value hierarchy. The
System categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles.
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The System had the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2021:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted

Prices in

Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Investment Type 2021 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments measured at fair value:
Equity mututal funds..........ccceeeveineeeeennn... $ 285,699 $ 285,699 $ -3 -

Investments measured at net asset value:
Pension Resere Investment Trust (PRIT).... 534,025,135

Total iINVeStMEeNtS.......ccovveieiiieee e, $ 534,310,834

Equity mutual funds classified in level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active
markets for those securities.

PRIT Investments are valued using the net asset value (NAV) method. This investment pool was established by
the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, who serves as Trustee. PRIT is administered by the
Pension Reserves Investment Management Board (PRIM). The fair value of the positions in each investment Pool
are the same as the value of each Pool’s shares. The System does not have the ability to control any of the
investment decisions relative to its funds in PRIT.

NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES

At June 30, 2022, receivables for the individual major governmental funds and nonmajor governmental funds in
the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, were as follows:

Allowance
Gross for Net
Amount Uncollectibles Amount
Receivables:
Real estate and personal property taxes... $ 4,033,401 $ (600,000) $ 3,433,401
Tax ens......oocovuiiiiiiiie, 4,561,224 (2,246,000) 2,315,224
Community preservation fund surtax......... 23,181 - 23,181
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes....... 4,022,117 (846,000) 3,176,117
Trash userfees.......c.ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiinn, 627,349 - 627,349
Departmental and other......................... 2,874,820 - 2,874,820
Intergovernmental..................c 33,468,520 - 33,468,520
LoaNns. . ..o 45,504 - 45,504
Total. o $ 49,656,116 $ (3,692,000) $ 45,964,116
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At June 30, 2022, receivables for the enterprise funds consisted of the following:

Allowance
Gross for Net
Amount Uncollectibles Amount
Receivables:
Water liens - user fees............... $ 105,891 $ - $ 105,891
Water userfees.................o..... 3,690,132 - 3,690,132
Sewer liens - user fees............... 73,971 - 73,971
Sewer userfees........cocoeeevininnnn. 6,068,934 - 6,068,934
Parking departmental and other.... 909,426 - 909,426
Total.....ooviiee $ 10,848,354 $ - $ 10,848,354

Governmental funds report unavailable revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not
considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. At the end of the current year, the various
components of unavailable revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:

Other
General Governmental
Fund Funds Total

Receivable type:

Real estate and personal property taxes.......... $ 2875932 § - $ 2,875,932

TaX eNS..c.uiiieii e 2,315,224 - 2,315,224

Community preservation fund surtax................ - 23,181 23,181

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes............... 3,176,117 - 3,176,117

Trash userfees.........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiies 627,349 - 627,349

Departmental and other....................cooeni 328,893 31,800 360,693

Intergovernmental - highway improvements....... - 3,325,314 3,325,314

Intergovernmental - School Building Authority.... 1,168,459 - 1,168,459

Intergovernmental - other.....................olL - 11,194,816 11,194,816

LOBNS...evieiieii e - 45,504 45,504
Other asset type:

Tax foreCloSUres..........ovvveieieiiiiiiiiienns, 4,477,310 - 4,477,310

TOtal. e $ 14,969,284 $ 14,620,615 $ 29,589,899
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NOTE 4 — CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows:

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Total capital assets not being depreciated...

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements.................c........
Right to use leased buildings.........................
Capital improvements (other than buildings)......
Infrastructure..............ooiiiiiiii
Vehicles.... ..o

Total capital assets being depreciated........

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements..........................
Right to use leased buildings.........................
Capital improvements (other than buildings)......
Infrastructure..............ooo

Total accumulated depreciation.................
Total capital assets being depreciated, net...........

Total governmental activities capital assets, net.... $

City of Lowell, Massachusetts

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
34,002,393 $ 822,528 $ - 3 34,824,921
67,439,958 56,029,978 (8,736,725) 114,733,211

101,442,351 56,852,506 (8,736,725) 149,558,132

361,205,420 3,001,225 - 364,206,645

- 7,142,788 - 7,142,788
31,779,983 1,872,083 - 33,652,066
209,764,058 13,231,412 - 222,995,470
21,723,300 919,850 - 22,643,150
24,216,565 1,315,719 - 25,532,284
7,810,699 - - 7,810,699
495,990 - - 495,990
656,996,015 27,483,077 - 684,479,092
(246,661,053) (6,347,363) - (253,008,416)
- (249,561) - (249,561)

(18,642,036)
(99,630,991)
(19,328,264)
(9,263,640)
(7,559,006)
(495,990)

(1,114,307)
(3,337,907)
(1,066,118)
(1,968,642)

(78,962)

- (19,756,343)
- (102,968,898)
- (20,394,382)
- (11,232,282)
- (7,637,968)
- (495,990)

(401,580,980)

(14,162,860)

. (415,743,840)

255,415,035

13,320,217

- 268,735,252

356,857,386 $

70,172,723

$ (8,736,725) $ 418,293,384
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Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Total capital assets not being depreciated....

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements...............c.c.oenne.
Capital improvements (other than buildings).......
Infrastructure..........coocoviiii
Equipment..... ...
VehiCles.......covieiiii e

Total capital assets being depreciated.........

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements.................c.c.o...e.
Capital improvements (other than buildings).......
Infrastructure..........c.coooiiiiii
Equipment...... ..o
VehiCles. .. ..o

Total accumulated depreciation..................
Total capital assets being depreciated, net............

Total business-type activities capital assets, net.... $

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
2,844,420 $ - % - $ 2,844,420
34,310,700 2,468,274 (30,257,925) 6,521,049
37,155,120 2,468,274 (30,257,925) 9,365,469
3,111,313 30,691,628 - 33,802,941
32,600,586 1,327,438 - 33,928,024
382,082,106 1,710,915 - 383,793,021
4,009,932 198,450 - 4,208,382
2,682,122 77,336 - 2,759,458
424,486,059 34,005,767 - 458,491,826
(435,800) (400,165) - (835,965)
(15,076,476) (1,581,857) - (16,658,333)
(169,663,923) (7,582,002) - (177,245,925)
(2,448,487) (317,944) - (2,766,431)
(2,450,544) (115,718) - (2,566,262)
(190,075,230) (9,997,686) - (200,072,916)
234,410,829 24,008,081 - 258,418,910
271,565,949 $ 26,476,355 $ (30,257,925) $ 267,784,379

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General government...........cocovevieiiiiiiiieenens $ 399,861
Public safety..........ccoooiiiii 1,827,850
Education...........ccoiiiiiiii 6,740,042
Public WOrkS......coooiiiiii i 3,048,422
HUMaN SEMVICES.......cviiiiii e 574,537
Culture and recreation...........cccooveviiiiiiiiiiinnns, 1,572,148
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities.... $ 14,162,860
Business-Type Activities:
W atEr .. $ 2,765,514
Y= 4,896,528
Parking........ooiiiii 2,335,644
Total depreciation expense - business-type activities... $ 9,997,686
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NOTE 5 — INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2022, are summarized as follows:

Transfers In:

COVID-19 Nonmajor Water Sewer Parking
General grant governmental enterprise enterprise enterprise
Transfers Out: fund fund funds fund fund fund Total
General fund..........cccooeeeiiieeiin, $ - $ 179,935 $ 3,977,070 $ 2,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 3,000,000 $ 10,157,005 (1)
Nonmajor governmental funds.... 1,729,900 - - - - 1,729,900 (2)
Parking enterprise fund............. - - 20,000 - - - 20,000 (3)
Total ..o $ 1,729,900 $ 179,935 $ 3,997,070 $ 2,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 3,000,000 $ 11,906,905

(1) Represents budgeted transfers from the general fund to the COVID grant fund, nonmajor funds, and the water,
sewer, and parking enterprise funds.

(2) Transfers into the general fund represent amounts voted to fund 2022 operations from nonmajor funds as well
as close outs of old grant funds.

(3) Transfer into the nonmajor governmental funds from the parking enterprise fund represents repayment for a
past grant expenditure.

NOTE 6 — LEASE LIABILITIES

Change in Accounting Principle

During the year 2022, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87,
Leases. This statement redefines a lease as a right to use another entity’s asset over a definitive period of time
and required the City to record leases that were previously classified as operating leases. No restatement of
beginning net position was required.

Leases

The City has entered into lease agreements to finance the right to use buildings for health and human services,
and the school department. The lease agreements have been recorded at the present value of their future
minimum lease payments using various imputed interest rates as of the inception date or at the beginning of the
year of implementation of GASB Statement No. 87.

The following identifies the balance of right-to-use assets recorded under lease agreements along with the related
accumulated depreciation:

Governmental
Activities
Asset:
Buildings........cooooeiiiiiii $ 7,142,788
Less: accumulated depreciation... (249,561)
Total....oiei $ 6,893,227
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Future minimum lease payments consist of the following at June 30:

Governmental Activities

Years ending June 30: Principal Interest Total

2023, $ 1,102,445 $ 202,495 $ 1,304,940
2024, ..., 1,135,518 169,422 1,304,940
2025, i, 1,169,584 135,356 1,304,940
2026. ..., 1,204,672 100,268 1,304,940
O 974,512 64,129 1,038,641
2028, 469,221 34,893 504,114
2029, .. 483,298 20,816 504,114
2030, 210,572 6,317 216,889
Total minimum lease payments..... $ 6,749,822 $ 733,696 $ 7,483,518

NOTE 7 — SHORT-TERM FINANCING
Short-term debt may be authorized and issued to fund the following:

o Current operating costs prior to the collection of revenues through issuance of revenue or tax anticipation
notes (RANS or TANS).

o Capital project costs and other approved expenditures incurred prior to obtaining permanent financing through
issuance of bond anticipation notes (BANS) or grant anticipation notes (GANS).

e Current project costs and other approved expenditures incurred, that are approved to be reimbursed by the
Commonwealth, and through the issuance of state aid anticipation notes (SAANS).

Short-term loans are general obligations and carry maturity dates that are limited by statute. Interest expenditures
and expenses for short-term borrowings are accounted for in the general fund or respective enterprise fund.
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Details related to the short-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows:

Balance at Balance at
Rate June 30, Renewed/ Retired/ June 30,
Type Purpose (%) Due Date 2021 Issued Redeemed 2022
Governmental Funds:
BAN Municipal Purpose..... 3.00% 9/16/22 $ - $ 7,000,000 $ (7,000,000) $ -
BAN Municipal Purpose..... 3.25% 9/16/22 - 16,179,330 (16,111,330) 68,000 (A)
Total Governmental Funds......................... $ - $ 23,179,330 $ (23,111,330) $ 68,000
Water Enterprise Fund:
BAN Municipal Purpose..... 1.25% 10/1/21  $ 91,500 $ - $ (91,500) $ -
Sewer Enterprise Fund:
BAN MCWT Interim Note... 0.00% 6/30/23 - 4,121,168 - 4,121,168
Parking Enterprise Fund:
BAN Municipal Purpose..... 1.25% 10/1/21 15,750 - (15,750) -
Total Enterprise Funds..............cc.oooeiini. $ 107,250 $ 4,121,168 $ (107,250) $ 4,121,168

(A) On July 20, 2022, the City issued $43.6 million of long-term bonds. Of the general obligation bonds, $23.1
million related to BANS outstanding at year end, therefore, the City has recognized $23.1 million of bond
proceeds in the governmental funds. The remaining general obligation bonds will be recognized by the
City in fiscal year 2023. The $68,000 of BANS outstanding were paid down in July 2022 with available
funds at maturity.

NOTE 8 - LONG-TERM DEBT

Under the provisions of Chapter 44, Section 10, Municipal Law authorizes indebtedness up to a limit of 5% of the
equalized valuation. Debt issued in accordance with this section of the law is designated as being "inside the debt
limit". In addition, however, debt may be authorized in excess of that limit for specific purposes. Such debt, when
issued, is designated as being "outside the debt limit".

Details related to the outstanding indebtedness as of June 30, 2022, and the debt service requirements are
presented on the following pages.
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Long-Term Debt Payable Schedule — Governmental Funds

Interest Outstanding
Maturities Rate at June 30,

Project Through (%) 2022

General Obligations Bonds Payable:

SchooIS.....cviieiiiii e, 2052 2.00-6.00 $ 74,346,120
........................................ 2051 2.00-6.00 74,030,167
Lowell Memorial Auditorium.............. 2041 2.00-5.75 1,549,000
Total Bonds Payable.............cooiiiiii 149,925,287
Add: Unamortized premium on bonds..............cccoooviiiiiiiennnn. 10,415,107

Total Long-Term Debt Payable, net

§ _160.340.394

Debt service requirements for principal and interest for governmental general obligation bonds payable in future

years were as follows:

General Obligation Bonds Payable

Year Principal Interest Total
2023.............. $ 7,574,458 $ 4,240,834 $ 11,815,292
2024.............. 6,842,430 5,594,974 12,437,404
2025.............. 7,474,800 4,615,569 12,090,369
2026.............. 7,747,600 4,220,955 11,968,555
2027......cccu.... 7,930,700 3,822,683 11,753,383
2028.............. 7,943,500 3,418,680 11,362,180
2029.............. 7,870,000 3,025,993 10,895,993
2030.............. 7,769,400 2,649,931 10,419,331
2031, 6,672,400 2,293,750 8,966,150
2032.............. 6,390,000 2,037,597 8,427,597
2033.............. 5,910,000 1,805,504 7,715,504
2034.............. 5,655,000 1,596,433 7,251,433
2035.............. 5,660,000 1,414,426 7,074,426
2036.............. 5,400,000 1,254,605 6,654,605
2037....ceennne 4,495,000 1,128,909 5,623,909
2038.............. 4,455,000 1,028,262 5,483,262
2039.............. 4,360,000 908,915 5,268,915
2040.............. 4,495,000 801,865 5,296,865
2041........e 3,605,000 706,490 4,311,490
2042.............. 3,410,000 625,990 4,035,990
2043.......c.... 3,285,000 547,537 3,832,537
2044.............. 3,375,000 467,548 3,842,548
2045.............. 3,470,000 384,141 3,854,141
2046.............. 3,565,000 297,910 3,862,910
2047.............. 3,665,000 208,706 3,873,706
2048.............. 3,780,000 116,470 3,896,470
2049.............. 2,440,000 53,038 2,493,038
2050.............. 2,505,000 19,496 2,524,496
2051....cccceenne. 1,130,000 1,247 1,131,247
2052.............. 1,049,999 - 1,049,999
Total.............. $ 149,925,287 $ 49,288,458 $ 199,213,745

City of Lowell, Massachusetts A-52

Basic Financial Statements



Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

The Commonwealth has approved school construction assistance. The assistance program, which is
administered by the Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA), provides resources for future debt service
of general obligation school bonds outstanding. During 2022, $1.2 million of such assistance was received.
Approximately $1.2 million will be received in future years. Of this amount, $24,000 represents reimbursement of
long-term interest costs, and $1,168,000 represents reimbursement of approved construction costs. Accordingly,
a $1,168,000 intergovernmental receivable and corresponding unavailable revenue have been reported in
governmental fund financial statements. The unavailable revenue has been recognized as revenue in the

conversion to the government-wide financial statements.

The City is scheduled to be subsidized directly by the Department of the Treasury on a periodic basis for interest
costs in the amount of $200,000 related to the issuance of Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds. Thus, net loan
repayments, including interest, are scheduled to be $1.3 million. Since the City is legally obligated for the total
amount of the debt, such amounts have been reported in the accompanying basic financial statements. The 2022
interest subsidy totaled approximately $47,000. Annual payments are subject to sequestration.

Long-Term Debt Payable Schedule — Enterprise Funds

Interest Outstanding
Maturities Rate at June 30,

Project Through (%) 2022
General Obligations Bonds Payable:

SEWEN. ..o 2050 2.00-5.00 $ 30,033,192

Water. ..o 2051 2.00-5.00 11,833,300

Parking......cccoviiiiiii 2045 2.00-5.00 50,304,550
Subtotal General Obligations Bonds Payable.......................... 92,171,042
Direct Borrowings Payable:

Sewer - MCWT.......cooviiiiiiiiiieeenn, 2043 2.00-2.40 70,991,649

Water - MCWT.. ..o, 2037 2.00-5.25 22,363,247
Subtotal Direct Borrowings Payable.................c.coooiiiiiinni, 93,354,896
Add: Unamortized premium on bonds.................cooooiiiiiine 4,902,370

Total Long-Term Debt Payable, net...........cccoviiiiiiiiiiiinnn
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Debt service requirements for principal and interest for enterprise fund long term debt payable in future years was
as follows:

General Obligation Bonds Payable

Year Principal Interest Total
2023............. $ 6,065,542 $ 3,509,924 $ 9,575,466
2024............. 5,858,900 3,083,665 8,942,565
2025............. 6,045,200 2,811,318 8,856,518
2026............. 5,892,400 2,537,658 8,430,058
2027............. 6,064,300 2,263,052 8,327,352
2028............. 6,231,500 1,979,525 8,211,025
2029............. 4,185,000 1,739,113 5,924,113
2030............. 4,135,600 1,546,746 5,682,346
2031.....c..eeee. 4,007,600 1,364,800 5,372,400
2032............. 3,700,000 1,213,225 4,913,225
2033............. 3,610,000 1,077,326 4,687,326
2034............. 3,645,000 951,404 4,596,404
2035............. 3,440,000 841,151 4,281,151
2036............. 3,510,000 739,744 4,249,744
2037............. 2,745,000 651,224 3,396,224
2038............. 2,805,000 567,983 3,372,983
2039............. 2,450,000 497,511 2,947,511
2040............. 2,510,000 432,261 2,942,261
2041, 2,445,000 367,286 2,812,286
2042............. 2,470,000 302,911 2,772,911
2043............. 2,465,000 237,318 2,702,318
2044............. 2,535,000 169,669 2,704,669
2045............. 2,605,000 99,735 2,704,735
2046............. 540,000 58,036 598,036
2047............. 560,000 45,314 605,314
2048............. 570,000 32,245 602,245
2049............. 370,000 21,257 391,257
2050............. 375,000 12,410 387,410
2051....cc..ne. 335,000 3,978 338,978
Total............. $ 92,171,042 $ 29,157,790 $ 121,328,832

City of Lowell, Massachusetts A-54 Basic Financial Statements



Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Direct Borrowings Payable

Year Principal Interest Total
2023............. $ 5,965,824 $ 2,041,801 $ 8,007,625
2024............. 5,751,057 1,894,095 7,645,152
2025............. 5,878,910 1,756,782 7,635,692
2026............. 5,464,434 1,639,480 7,103,914
2027............. 5,297,335 1,522,424 6,819,759
2028............. 5,259,930 1,407,176 6,667,106
2029............. 5,164,089 1,293,032 6,457,121
2030............. 5,173,703 1,179,502 6,353,205
2031 5,292,368 1,064,442 6,356,810
2032............. 4,926,340 951,607 5,877,947
2033............. 5,040,692 841,028 5,881,720
2034............. 4,839,639 729,172 5,568,811
2035............. 4,952,474 619,763 5,572,237
2036............. 4,958,252 507,792 5,466,044
2037............. 4,860,806 395,375 5,256,181
2038............. 4,041,180 288,029 4,329,209
2039............. 4,136,986 194,296 4,331,282
2040............. 3,034,377 112,861 3,147,238
2041............. 1,624,551 59,472 1,684,023
2042............. 835,315 30,201 865,516
2043............. 856,634 10,151 866,785
Total............. $ 93,354,806 $ 18,538,481 $ 111,893,377

The City is scheduled to be subsidized by the Massachusetts Clean Water Trust (MCWT) on a periodic basis for
principal in the amount of $205,000 and interest costs for $73,000. The principal subsidies are guaranteed. The
interest subsidies are supported through future investment income and are expected to be made, although not
guaranteed. Since the City is legally obligated for the total amount of the debt, such amounts have been reported
in the accompanying basic financial statements. The 2022 principal and interest subsidies totaled approximately
$108,000 and $80,000, respectively.

In order to take advantage of favorable interest rates, the City issued $2.6 million of general obligation refunding
bonds on September 15, 2021, as part of a $39.3 million issuance. Of the refunding bonds, $964,000 was
governmental and $1.7 million was for the sewer enterprise fund. The proceeds of the refunding bonds were used
to complete a current refunding of existing debt. The refunded bonds totaled $3.2 million and became callable on
November 15, 2021. As a result of the transaction, the refunded bonds were paid down on the call date and the
liability has been removed from the statement of net position. The transaction resulted in an economic gain of
$377,000 and a reduction of $412,000 in future debt service payments.

In order to take advantage of favorable interest rates, the City issued $3.9 million of general obligation state
qualified refunding bonds on December 16, 2021. The governmental fund bond was for the prior recovery zone
economic development issuance. The proceeds of the refunding bonds were used to complete a current
refunding of existing debt. The refunded bonds totaled $4.3 million and became callable on January 15, 2022. As
a result of the transaction, the refunded bonds were paid down on the call date and the liability has been removed
from the statement of net position. The transaction resulted in an economic gain of $390,000 and a reduction of
$402,000 in future debt service payments.
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Authorized and Unissued Debt

The City is subject to various debt limits by statute and may issue additional general obligation debt under the
normal debt limit. At June 30, 2022, the City had the following authorized and unissued debt:

Purpose Amount

High school construction.................... $ 318,004,469
Wet-weather storage facility..............ccooiiiiin, 16,000,000
Water storage tank............ooooiiiiiiiiiii 15,000,000
Wet-weather treatment facility.................ocooiiil 15,000,000
Drinking water facility upgrades...............ccooviiiiiiiinnn. 9,000,000
George Ayotte & Joseph Downes parking garage repairs.. 7,508,000
Remote station upgrades - various pump stations............ 7,380,000
Water legal and engineering services..............cocveevennn. 7,000,000
Sewer legal and engineering SEMNVICES...........ccovvvevennnnnn. 6,325,000
All other projects........ocviiiii 75,589,057
€= | $ 476,806,526

Changes in Long-term Liabilities

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the following changes occurred in long-term liabilities:

Long-term Long-term
Beginning Debt Debt Other Other Ending Due Within
Balance Issued Redeemed Increases Decreases Balance One Year
Governmental Activities:

Long-term bonds payable....................... $ 113,290,636 $ 45,398,051 $ (8,197,400) $ 4,894,000 $ (5,460,000) $ 149,925,287 $ 7,574,458
Add: Unamortized premium on bonds.... 10,645,628 1,168,755 (1,399,276) - - 10,415,107 1,389,565
Total long-term debt..............ccoeeeenieii. 123,936,264 46,566,806 (9,596,676) 4,894,000 (5,460,000) 160,340,394 8,964,023
Right to use lease liabilities.................... - - - 7,142,788 (392,966) 6,749,822 1,102,445
Compensated absences...... 16,376,591 - - 11,975,502 (7,878,567) 20,473,526 9,183,369
Workers' compensation... 5,872,800 - - 900,800 (1,061,600) 5,712,000 1,583,000
Net pension liability.. 260,174,916 - - 60,630,395 (123,093,386) 197,711,925 -
Net OPEB liability.........ccccovvviiiiiiiiniin, 859,367,705 - - 5,979,425 (238,857,313) 626,489,817 -

Total governmental activity
long-term liabilities..............cccoeeevinnnnns $ 1,265,728,276 $ 46,566,806 $ (9,596,676) $ 91,522,910 $ (376,743,832) $ 1,017,477,484 $ 20,832,837

Business-Type Activities:

Long-term bonds payable....................... $ 97,555,250 $ 938,642 $  (5,987,600) $ 1,664,750 $ (2,000,000) $ 92,171,042 $ 6,065,542
Direct borrowings payable...................... 99,225,290 - (5,870,394) - - 93,354,896 5,965,824
Add: Unamortized premium on bonds.... 5,234,801 565,013 (897,444) - - 4,902,370 722,939
Total long-term debt............ccccoeeeeviienn. 202,015,341 1,503,655 (12,755,438) 1,664,750 (2,000,000) 190,428,308 12,754,305
Compensated absences......................... 865,991 - - 561,554 (491,552) 935,993 551,427
Net pension liability . 18,324,478 - - 11,363,200 (3,514,141) 26,173,537 -
Net OPEB liability.........ccccoveiiiiiieiiinneen, 23,846,791 - - 165,924 (6,628,105) 17,384,610 -

Total business-type activity
long-term liabilities.............cccooeeeeennnnts $ 245,052,601 $ 1,503,655 $ (12,755,438) $ 13,755,428 $§  (12,633,798) § 234,922,448 $ 13,305,732

Compensated absences, lease obligations, workers’ compensation, net pension liability and net other
postemployment liabilities related to both governmental and business-type activities are normally paid from the
funds reporting payroll and related expenditures, which consist of the general fund and the water, sewer, and

parking enterprise funds.
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NOTE 9 - GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS

The City classifies fund balances according to constraints on the use of the resources. There are two major types
of fund balances, which are nonspendable and spendable.

Nonspendable fund balances are balances that cannot be spent because they are not expected to be converted
to cash or they are legally or contractually required to remain intact. Examples of this classification are prepaid
items, inventories, and principal (corpus) of an endowment fund. The City has reported principal portions of
endowment funds as nonspendable.

Spendable fund balances are classified based on a hierarchy of spending constraints.

e Restricted: fund balances that are constrained by external parties, constitutional provisions, or enabling
legislation.

¢ Committed: fund balances that contain self-imposed constraints of the City from its highest level of
decision-making authority.

e Assigned: fund balances that contain self-imposed constraints of the City to be used for a particular
purpose.

o Unassigned: fund balance of the general fund that is not constrained for any particular purpose and the
deficit fund balances for other funds that would otherwise be restricted, committed, or assigned.

The City’s spending policy is to spend restricted fund balance first, followed by committed, assigned and
unassigned fund balance. Most governmental funds are designated for one purpose at the time of their creation.
Therefore, any expenditure from the fund will be allocated to the applicable fund balance classifications in the
order of the aforementioned spending policy. The general fund and certain other funds may have more than one
purpose.

Massachusetts General Law Ch.40 §5B allows for the establishment of stabilization funds for one or more
different purposes. The creation of a fund requires a two-thirds vote of the legislative body and must clearly define
the purpose of the fund. Any change to the purpose of the fund along with any additions to or appropriations from
the fund requires a two-thirds vote of the legislative body.

At year end, the balance of the general stabilization fund was $13,937,000 and was reported as unassigned fund
balance within the general fund. The pension assessment stabilization, school construction stabilization, capital
debt service stabilization, employee benefits and mitigation, salary reserve stabilization, special education, equity
and inclusion stabilization, and municipal facility stabilization funds, were reported as committed fund balance
within the general fund, had year end balances of $9,000, $2,000, $5,000, $321,000, $2,000,000, $2,949,000,
$185,000 and $1,199,000 respectively.
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As of June 30, 2022, fund balances consisted of the following:

COVID-19 High Nonmajor Total
Grant School Governmental Governmental
General Fund Construction Funds Funds
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable:
Permanent fund principal............................ $ - $ -3 - $ 1,885,702 $ 1,885,702
Working capital deposit............ccccoeveeveinnnes 237,700 - - 237,700

Restricted for:
Chapter 17 special reserve..............ccocceeueene. 1,150 - - - 1,150
COVID-19 grants.........cocveiiiiiiiiiiieieeenn, - 55,560 - - 55,560
High school construction............................ - - 35,613,644 - 35,613,644
Gifts and grants............coooviiiiiiiiiiiia - - - 13,450,158 13,450,158
Federal grants...........c.coooiiiiiiiiiiiii - - - 164,963 164,963
Sale of City property...........cooveeiiiiiiieinanns - - - 2,088,161 2,088,161
Community preservation fund....................... - - - 2,857,503 2,857,503
ReVOIVING.....oviiiiii - - - 8,787,051 8,787,051
Other special revenue................ccoeeveienn.. - - - 3,261,740 3,261,740
Other capital projects............ccoceeiiiiiainnns - - - 14,319,822 14,319,822
Expendable permanent funds...................... - - - 349,536 349,536

Committed to:
Salary reserve stabilization......................... 2,000,010 - - - 2,000,010
Employee benefits and mitigation................. 321,104 - - - 321,104
Capital debt senice stabilization.................. 5,492 - - - 5,492
Pension assessment stabilization................ 9,038 - - - 9,038
School construction stabilization.................. 2,163 - - - 2,163
Special education stabilization..................... 2,948,909 - - - 2,948,909
Equity/inclusion stabilization....................... 184,674 - - - 184,674
Municipal facilities stabilization.................... 1,199,026 - - - 1,199,026

Assigned to:

General government............cooeeviiieiininnnn, 84,033 - - - 84,033
Public safety........c.cooooviiiiiiii 54,561 - - - 54,561
Education...........ooeiiiiiii 2,626,080 - - - 2,626,080
Public WOrkS.........cocoviiiiiiiiii 102,352 - - - 102,352
Culture and recreation..............ccoceevenienane. 193,193 - - - 193,193
Unassigned...........oooveiiiiiiiiiie e 28,525,935 - - - 28,525,935
Total Fund Balances.............ccceeiiiiiiiiiniiienn, $ 38495420 $ 55560 $ 35,613,644 $ 47,164,636 $ 121,329,260

NOTE 10 — RISK FINANCING

The City is exposed to various risk of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; natural disasters for which the City carries commercial insurance. The City discontinued a self-
insurance health insurance plan and joined the Group Insurance Commission of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts (GIC) to provide health insurance benefits for its employees and retirees. The amount of claim
settlements has not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the previous years.

The City is self-insured for its workers’ compensation. The workers’ compensation activities are accounted for in
the general fund where revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred.

Workers’ compensation claims are administered by the City’s Law Department and are funded on a pay-as-you-

go basis from annual appropriations. The City handles all administration related to the workers’ compensation
program.
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The City recorded a liability of $5.7 million at June 30, 2022, which represented an estimate of all outstanding
claims as of that date. Changes in the reported liability since July 1, 2020, were as follows:

Current Year

Balance at Claims and
Beginning of Changes in Claims Balance at Current
Year Estimate Payments Year-End Portion
2021......oeene. $ 3,373,400 $ 3,444,763 $ (945,363) $ 5,872,800 $ 1,061,600
2022.............. 5,872,800 1,138,200 (1,299,000) 5,712,000 1,583,000

NOTE 11 — PENSION PLAN
Plan Descriptions

The City is a member of the Lowell Contributory Retirement System (LCRS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan covering eligible employees of the 3 member units. The System is administered by
five board members (Board) on behalf of all current employees and retirees except for current teachers and
retired teachers. Chapter 32 of the MGL assigns authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the plan.
The System is a component unit and is reported as a pension trust fund in the fiduciary fund financial statements.

The City is a member of the Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS), a cost-sharing multi-employer
defined benefit plan. MTRS is managed by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Commonwealth) on behalf of
municipal teachers and municipal teacher retirees. The Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributor and is
responsible for 100% of the contributions and future benefit requirements of the MTRS. The MTRS covers
certified teachers in cities (except Boston), towns, regional school districts, charter schools, educational
collaboratives and Quincy College. The MTRS is part of the Commonwealth’s reporting entity and the audited
financial report may be obtained by visiting http://www.mass.gov/osc/publications-and-reports/financial-reports/.

Special Funding Situation

The Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributor and is required by statute to make 100% of all actuarially
determined employer contributions on behalf of the City to the MTRS. Therefore, the City is considered to be in a
special funding situation as defined by GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions
and the Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributor in MTRS. Since the City does not contribute directly to
MTRS, there is no net pension liability to recognize. The total of the Commonwealth provided contributions have
been allocated based on each employer’s covered payroll to the total covered payroll of employers in MTRS as of
the measurement date of June 30, 2021. The City’s portion of the collective pension expense, contributed by the
Commonwealth, of $26,643,061 is reported in the general fund as intergovernmental revenue and pension
benefits in the current fiscal year. The portion of the Commonwealth’s collective net pension liability associated
with the City is $332,017,994 as of the measurement date.
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Benefits Provided

Both Systems provide retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.
Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System benefits are, with certain minor exceptions, uniform from system
to system. The Systems provide retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member's highest
three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For persons who became members on or after April 2,
2012, average salary is the average annual rate of regular compensation received during the five consecutive
years that produce the highest average, or, if greater, during the last five years (whether or not consecutive)
preceding retirement. Benefit payments are based upon a member's age, length of creditable service, level of
compensation, and group classification. Members become vested after ten years of creditable service. There
were no reported changes in pension benefit terms that effect measurement of the total pension liability as of
December 31, 2021.

Employees who resign from service and who are not eligible to receive a retirement allowance or are under the
age of 55 are entitled to request a refund of their accumulated total deductions. Survivor benefits are extended to
eligible beneficiaries of members whose death occurs prior to or following retirement.

Cost-of-living adjustments granted between 1981 and 1997 and any increase in other benefits imposed by the
Commonwealth’s state law during those years are borne by the Commonwealth and are deposited into the
pension fund. Cost-of-living adjustments granted after 1997 must be approved by the Board and are borne by the
System.

At December 31, 2021, the System membership consisted of the following:

Active members...........oo 1,698
Inactive members. ..., 337
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits.... 1,356
TOtale e 3,391

Contributions

Chapter 32 of the MGL governs the contributions of plan members and member units. Active plan members are
required to contribute at rates ranging from 5% to 9% of gross regular compensation with an additional 2%
contribution required for compensation exceeding $30,000. The percentage rate is keyed to the date upon which
an employee's membership commences. The member units are required to pay into the System a legislatively
mandated actuarially determined contribution that is apportioned among the employers based on active current
payroll. The total member units’ contribution for the year ended December 31, 2021, was $31,775,438, or 31.35%
of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with plan member contributions, is
expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued liability. The City’s proportionate share of the required contribution was
$30,059,564, which equaled its actual contribution.
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Pension Liabilities

The components of the net pension liability of the participating member units at December 31, 2021, were as
follows:

Total pension liability......................ocoeinnin. $ 783,498,341
Less: pension plan's fiduciary net position....... (546,832,948)
Total net pension liability............................. $ 236,665,393

The pension plan's fiduciary net position as
a percentage of the total pension liability...... 69.79%

At June 30, 2022, the City reported a liability of $223,885,462 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2021. Accordingly,
procedures were used to update the total pension liability to the measurement date. The City’s proportion of the
net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan
relative to the projected contributions of all participating members. At December 31, 2021, the City’s proportion
was 94.60%, which decreased from its proportion of 94.83% in the prior year.

Pension Expense

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized a pension expense of $18,554,068. At June 30, 2022, the
City reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions of the following:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Deferred Category Resources Resources Total
Differences between expected and actual experience................ $ - $ (3,742,298) $  (3,742,298)
Difference between projected and actual earnings, net............... - (53,978,198) (53,978,198)
Changes in assuMPtioNS.........ooiiiiiiii e 29,584,674 - 29,584,674
Changes in proportion and proportionate share of contributions.... 3,062,767 (2,037,469) 1,025,298
Total deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources.................ccceuee. $ 32,647,441 $ (59,757,965) $ (27,110,524)

The deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Year ended June 30:

2023, $ (4,936,486)
2024 (10,834,249)
2025, .. e (5,901,213)
2026... et (5,358,760)
2027 .o (79,816)
Total deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources....... $ (27,110,524)
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Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2021, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement that was updated to December 31, 2021:

Valuation date......................... January 1, 2021
Actuarial cost method............... Entry Age Normal.
Amortization method - UAAL...... Increasing dollar amount at 4% to reduce the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued

Liability to zero on or before June 30, 2037, with annual increases in
appropriations limited to 5.2%.

Asset valuation method............. The Actuarial Value of Assets is the fair value of assets as of the valuation
date reduced by the sum of:
a) 80% of gains and losses of the prior year,
b) 60% of gains and losses of the second prior year,
c) 40% of gains and losses of the third prior year and
d) 20% of gains and losses of the fourth prior year.
Investment gains and losses are determined by the excess or deficiency of
the expected return over the actual return on the fair value. The actuarial
valuation of assets is further constrained to be not less than 90% or more
than 110% of fair value.

Investment rate of retumn............. 7.10%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation.
Discount rate...................o...... 7.10%

Inflation rate...................... 2.30% per year.

Projected salary increases......... 6.00% - 4.25% for Group 1 (based on senvice).

7.00% - 4.75% for Group 4 (based on senvice).

Payroll growth..............c..coeeienis 3.50% per year.
Cost of living adjustments.......... 3.00% of the first $17,000 of the annual retirement allowance.
Mortality rates.............c.ceeeenens RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table with full generational mortality

improvement using Scale MP-2018.
For disabled members, RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table set forward
one year with full generational mortality improvement using Scale MP-2018.

Investment Policy

The System’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Board. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining a
fully funded status for the benefits provided through the pension plan. The long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation.
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Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the System’s target asset
allocation as of December 31, 2021, are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Asset Allocation Real Rate of Return
Global equity.......coveiiiii 38.00% 4.32%

Core fixed income...........cocvevveennns, 15.00% 0.80%
Value-added fixed income................. 8.00% 4.10%
Private equity..........cccoooviiiiin, 15.00% 7.80%
Realestate...........cocooviiiiiinnnn. 10.00% 3.70%
Timber/natural resources................... 4.00% 4.30%
Portfolio completion......................... 10.00% 3.10%

Total..ooeii 100.00%

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 19.16%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.10% at December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed plan member contributions will
be made at the current contribution rate and that contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially
determined contribution rate. Based on those assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 7.10%, as well as what the

net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.10%) or
1-percentage-point higher (8.10%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
(6.10%) (7.10%) (8.10%)

December 31, 2021 Measurement Date

The City's proportionate share of the
net pension liability...................... $ 309,119,720 $ 223,885,462 $ 152,020,705

LCRS total net pension liability............ $ 326,765,032 $ 236,665,393 $ 160,698,420
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Non-contributory Retirement Allowance

City employees with military veteran status and at least 30 years of service to the City, who began work prior to
July 1, 1939, and others meeting eligibility criteria are entitled to a non-contributory pension benefit equal to 72%
of their highest rate of pay. Employees covered by this section of the plan are not included in the actuarial
valuation and there is no available estimate of the related actuarial liability. The City funds these benefits from an
annual general fund appropriation. The general fund expenditure for 2022 was $24,000.

Changes in Assumptions — None.

Changes in Plan Provisions — None.

NOTE 12 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS
Plan Description

The City of Lowell administers a single employer defined benefit healthcare plan (“Plan”). The Plan provides
lifetime healthcare, dental and life insurance for eligible retirees and their spouses through the City’s health
insurance plan, which covers both active and retired members, including teachers. Chapter 32B of the MGL
assigns authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the plan. Benefit provisions are negotiated between
the City and the unions representing City employees and are renegotiated each bargaining period. The Plan does
not issue a publicly available financial report.

Funding Policy

The contribution requirements of Plan members and the City are established and may be amended through
collective bargaining. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements. The
City contributes 75% of the cost of current-year premiums for eligible retired plan members and their spouses.
Plan members receiving benefits contribute the remaining 25 percent of their premium costs. For 2022, the City
contributed $19.5 million to the plan. For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City’s average contribution rate was
9.36% of covered employee payroll.

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts passed special legislation that has allowed the City to establish the other
postemployment benefit trust fund to begin pre-funding its OPEB liabilities. During 2022 the City pre-funded future
OPERB liabilities totaling $889,026 by contributing funds to the OPEB trust fund in excess of the pay-as-you-go
required contribution. These funds are reported within the Fiduciary Fund financial statements. As of June 30,
2022, the net position of the OPEB trust fund totaled $12.5 million.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Plan and
additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they
are reported by the Plan. For this purpose, the Plan recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except for money market investments
and participating interest-earning investment contracts (repurchase agreements) that have a maturity at the time
of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost.
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Measurement Date

GASB Statement #75 requires the net OPEB liability to be measured as of a date no earlier than the end of the
employer’s prior fiscal year and no later than the end of the employer’s current fiscal year, consistently applied
from period to period. Accordingly, the net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEB
liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2020.

Plan Membership

The following table represents the Plan’s membership at July 1, 2020:

Active members...........cocoiiiiiiiii 2,929
Inactive members currently receiving benefits.... 2,318
Total. .o 5,247

Components of OPEB Liability

The following table represents the components of the Plan’s OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022:

Total OPEB liability..........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiins $ 656,404,341
Less: OPEB plan's fiduciary net position....... (12,529,914)
Net OPEB liability............cocoooiiiiiin. $ 643,874,427

The OPEB plan's fiduciary net position
as a percentage of the total OPEB liability.. 1.91%

Significant Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The total OPEB liability in the July 1, 2020, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified, that was updated to
June 30, 2022:

Valuation date......................... July 1, 2020.

Actuarial cost method............... Entry age normal as a percentage of payroll.

Asset valuation method............. Fair value of assets as of the reporting date, June 30, 2022.
Investment rate of return............ 3.42%.

Discountrate.................oooeeene. 3.77%, previously 2.09%.

Projected salary increases......... 3.0% per year.
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Healthcare cost trend rate.......... 7.00%, decreasing by 0.25% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50%
for 2032 and later.

Mortality rates......................... Society of Actuaries Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Healthy
Male and Female Total Dataset Headcount-Weighted Mortality
tables based on Employee and Healthy Annuitant Tables for both
pre and post retirement projected with mortality improvements
using the most current Society of Actuaries Mortality Improvement
Scale MP-2020.

Rate of Return

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the annual money-weighted rate of return on investments, net of investment
expense, was -13.79%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Investment Policy

The City’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the Board
of Selectmen by a majority vote of its members. The OPEB plan’s assets are managed on a total return basis with
a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the
OPEB plan. The long-term real rate of return on OPEB investments was determined using the City’s investment

policy.

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using an average of three 20-
year bond indices, Bond Buyer-20 Bond GO — 3.54%, S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index —
4.09%, and Fidelity GA AA 20 Years — 3.69% as of June 30, 2022. The Plan’s expected future real rate of return
as of June 30, 2022 was 3.77%.

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the OPEB plan’s target
asset allocation as of June 30, 2022 are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Asset Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic equity................ 25.00% 4.96%
International equity............. 10.00% 7.01%
Domestic bond................... 35.00% 2.22%
International bond................ 10.00% 1.23%
Alternatives....................... 20.00% 2.76%
Total...ocoveiiiiie 100.00%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.77% as of June 30, 2022 and 2.09% as of June
30, 2021. The City’s net other postemployment benefits liability was determined based on an average of three 20-
year bond indices (e.g. Bond Buyer-20 Bond GO, S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index, Fidelity
GA AA 20 Years). Due to the low value of the OPEB trust compared to the City’s liability, the Plan fiduciary net
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position is not projected to satisfy future benefit payments and, accordingly, the Municipal Bond Rate was applied
rather than the projected investment return.

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

Increase (Decrease)

Plan
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability

@) (b) (@) - (b)
Balances at June 30, 2021..........ccoviiiiiiiiiannn. $ 896,742,419 $ 13,527,923 $ 883,214,496

Changes for the year:

Senice COSt.....ooviiiii 11,779,107 - 11,779,107
Interest... ..o 33,457,104 - 33,457,104
Changes in assumptions and other inputs....... (267,002,137) - (267,002,137)
Benefit payments.............. (18,572,152) (18,572,152) -
Contributions from employer......................... - 19,461,178 (19,461,178)
Investment income/(I0SS).......ccoovvviieiiiinann, - (1,887,035) 1,887,035
Net change..........ocoooviiiiiiiiiiie (240,338,078) (998,009) (239,340,069)
Balances at June 30, 2022...........ccccoevieiiiiininnnns $ 656,404,341 $ 12,529,914 $ 643,874,427

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following table presents the net other postemployment benefit liability and service cost, calculated using the
discount rate of 3.77%, as well as what the net other postemployment benefit liability and service cost would be if
it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.77%) or 1-percentage-point higher
(1.77%) than the current rate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.77%) (3.77%) (4.77%)

Net OPEB liability... $ 782,669,274 $ 643,874,427 $ 537,927,968

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Trend
The following table presents the net other postemployment benefit liability and service cost, calculated using the
current healthcare trend rate as well as what the net other postemployment benefit liability and service cost would

be if it were calculated using a healthcare trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher.

1% Decrease Current Trend 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability.... $ 526,528,700 $ 643,874,427 $ 799,849,554
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $42,127,180 and reported deferred
outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB of the following:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Deferred Category Resources Resources Total
Difference between projected and actual earnings, net...... $ 1,885,343 $ - 98 1,885,343
Changes in assumptions..........cccoooviiiiiiiiiiiniieeans 125,023,570 (235,830,784) (110,807,214)
Total deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources................... $ 126,908,913 $ (235,830,784) $ (108,921,871)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2023 ..o $  (2,639,388)
2024 (2,639,388)
2025, (9,845,353)
2026......e. oo (26,223,637)
2027 ..o (35,127,285)
2028 (32,446,820)

Total deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources.... $ (108,921,871)

Changes of Assumptions — The discount rate increased from 2.09% to 3.77%.

Changes in Plan Provisions — None.
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NOTE 13 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR INDIVIDUAL PENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT
TRUST FUNDS

GAAP requires that all Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds be combined and presented in one
column in the Fiduciary Funds financial statements and that the individual financial statements for each trust fund
plan are reported in the notes to the financial statements. Provided below are the individual financial statements
for the pension and OPEB plans that are included in the Fiduciary Funds as Pension and Other Employee Benefit
Trust Funds.

Total Pension

Pension Other and Other
Trust Fund Postemployment Employee
(as of December Benefit Benefit
31, 2021) Trust Fund Trust Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents..............................o.ll $ 12,522,114  $ 66,697 $ 12,588,811
Investments:
Investments in Pension Reserve Investment Trust. 534,025,135 - 534,025,135
Equity securities...............ooo - 1,551,032 1,551,032
Equity mutual funds...........ccoooiiiiiiii 285,699 7,343,240 7,628,939
Bond mutual funds............coooiiiiiii, - 3,568,945 3,568,945
TOTAL ASSETS.. oo 546,832,948 12,529,914 559,362,862
NET POSITION
Restricted for pensions.............cooovieiiiiiiiiiiiinnannn. 546,832,948 - 546,832,948
Restricted for other postemployment benefits........... - 12,529,914 12,529,914
TOTAL NET POSITION. ..., $ 546,832,948 $ 12,529,914 $ 559,362,862
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Total Pension

Pension Other and Other
Trust Fund Postemployment Employee
(as of December Benefit Benefit
31, 2021) Trust Fund Trust Funds
ADDITIONS:
Contributions:
Employer contributions.............ccuiviuiiiiieiiie e $ 31,775,438 $ 889,026 $ 32,664,464
Employer contributions for other postemployment benefit payments. - 18,572,152 18,572,152
Member contributions............c.coiiii e 10,417,970 - 10,417,970
Transfers from other systems............ooooiiiii, 196,262 - 196,262
3(8)c contributions from other systems............cc.cooeiiiiiiiiiiinn. 906,696 - 906,696
State COLA reimbursements..........c.oeviiiiiiiiiiiii e, 196,684 - 196,684
Total contributions...........ccuiiiiiii 43,493,050 19,461,178 62,954,228
Net investment income:
Investment iINCOME/(I0SS).......vuiuiniiiiei e 90,566,724 (1,887,035) 88,679,689
Less: investment eXpense. ..........ovuiiiiiiiiiiii e (2,468,918) - (2,468,918)
Net investment iNnComMe/(I0SS)........cuiiiuiiii 88,097,806 (1,887,035) 86,210,771
TOTAL ADDITIONS . ..o 131,590,856 17,574,143 149,164,999
DEDUCTIONS:
AAMINISTratioN. ... 404,586 - 404,586
Transfers to other Systems...........oooiiiiiiiii e 1,200,227 - 1,200,227
3(8)c transfer to other systems..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiii, 1,627,568 - 1,627,568
Retirement benefits and refunds................ooiiii 45,291,728 - 45,291,728
Other postemployment benefit payments............cc.cooiiiiiinnnn - 18,572,152 18,572,152
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS ..o 48,524,109 18,572,152 67,096,261
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION.................... 83,066,747 (998,009) 82,068,738
NET POSITION AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.......ooviiiiiiiiiiiieic, 463,766,201 13,527,923 477,294,124
NET POSITION AT END OF YEAR......couiiiiiiiiiececee e $ 546,832,948 $ 12,529,914 $ 559,362,862

NOTE 14 — TAX INCREMENT FINANCING AGREEMENTS

The City enters into tax increment financing (TIF) agreements with local businesses under Chapter 40, Section 59
of the Massachusetts General Laws. Under this section of the law, localities may grant property tax exemptions of
a business’ property tax bill for the purpose of attracting or retaining businesses within their jurisdictions. The
exemptions may be granted to any business located within or promising to relocate to the City. At June 30, 2022,
there were 11 agreements in place which extend out until 2035. These all represent new construction and
permanent job opportunities within the City. For the fiscal year ended 2022, the City exempted property taxes
totaling $2,255,200 under these agreements.

The City has not made any commitments as part of the agreements other than to reduce taxes. The City is not
subject to any tax abatement agreements entered into by other governmental entities.
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS

The City has entered into, or is planning to enter into, contracts totaling approximately $476.8 million for high
school construction, water and sewer infrastructure projects, and various other capital projects. These projects will
be funded through the issuance of long-term debt, state grants, and federal grants.

The general fund has various commitments for goods and services related to encumbrances totaling $3.1 million.

NOTE 16 — CONTINGENCIES

The City participates in a number of federal award programs. Although the grant programs have been audited in
accordance with the provisions of the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, these programs are still subject to
financial and compliance audits. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting
agencies cannot be determined at this time, although it is expected such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

Various other legal actions and claims are pending. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of
individual litigated matters is not always predictable. Based on review of the various claims asserted against the
City, it has been determined that a negative outcome is both probable and reasonably able to be estimated. As of
June 30, 2022, the City has reflected $5 million as a legal settlement reserve to assist in any claims or
judgements asserted against the City.

NOTE 17 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 29, 2023, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

The Retirement System carries its investments at fair (market) value in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP). Market value adjustments are recorded monthly. Subsequent to year end, the
System’s investment of $534,025,135 in the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (PRIT), as determined by PRIT,
has declined in value by approximately ($56 million). The market value decline is consistent with recent trends in
the overall financial securities market.

In accordance with GAAP, the System has not recorded the losses in its financial statements as the impairments

were not known as of December 31, 2021. The System has recorded the losses associated with the investments
during calendar year 2022.

NOTE 18 — IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS

During 2022, the following GASB pronouncements were implemented:

o GASB Statement #87, Leases. The basic financial statements and related notes were updated to be in
compliance with this pronouncement.

o GASB Statement #89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period. This
pronouncement did not impact the basic financial statements.

o GASB Statement #92, Omnibus 2020. This pronouncement did not impact the basic financial statements.
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GASB Statement #93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates. This pronouncement did not impact the
basic financial statements.

GASB Statement #97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans — an amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32. This pronouncement did
not impact the basic financial statements.

The following GASB pronouncements will be implemented in the future:

The GASB issued Statement #91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which is required to be implemented in
2023.

The GASB issued Statement #94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangements, which is required to be implemented in 2023.

The GASB issued Statement #96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, which is
required to be implemented in 2023.

The GASB issued Statement #99, Omnibus 2022, which is required to be implemented in 2023.

The GASB issued Statement #100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, which is required to be
implemented in 2024.

The GASB issued Statement #101, Compensated Absences, which is required to be implemented in
2025.

Management is currently assessing the impact the implementation of these pronouncements will have on the
basic financial statements.
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GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Amounts Current Year Actual Amounts Variance
Carried Forward Initial Original Final Budgetary Carried Forward to Final
From Prior Year Budget Budget Budget Amounts To Next Year Budget
REVENUES:
Real estate and personal property taxes,
net of tax refunds.............cccoccooii $ - 152,502,267 $ 152,502,267 $ 152,502,267 $ 151,333,329 § -8 (1,168,938)
Tax liens - - - - 653,055 - 653,055
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes - 9,500,598 9,500,598 9,500,598 10,200,462 - 699,864
Hotel/motel tax - 79,238 79,238 79,238 109,798 - 30,560
Meals tax....... - 1,125,000 1,125,000 1,125,000 1,470,028 - 345,028
Trash disposal... - 3,200,000 3,200,000 3,200,000 3,320,734 - 120,734
Penalties and interest on taxes. - 1,285,000 1,285,000 1,285,000 1,404,545 119,545
Payments in lieu of taxes... - 425,000 425,000 425,000 440,600 - 15,600
Intergovernmental - state aid. - 213,977,997 213,977,997 213,977,997 214,995,489 - 1,017,492
Intergovernmental - School Building Authorit) - 1,192,790 1,192,790 1,192,790 1,192,790 - -
Departmental and other.. - 7,405,220 7,405,220 7,405,220 9,713,880 - 2,308,660
Investment income - 485,264 485,264 485,264 325,250 - (160,014)
TOTAL REVENUES...........ccooeeiinnn. - 391,178,374 391,178,374 391,178,374 395,159,960 - 3,981,586
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General government...............cccceeeiiiiieninns 189,052 19,779,414 19,968,466 19,262,149 16,871,024 84,033 2,307,092
Public safety. 55,975 53,307,942 53,363,917 54,519,896 53,914,776 54,561 550,559
Education 9,032,439 185,200,339 194,232,778 192,920,486 189,719,222 2,626,080 575,184
Public works 84,737 15,576,430 15,661,167 16,020,968 15,530,709 102,352 387,907
Health and human service - 4,718,633 4,718,633 4,752,133 4,299,299 - 452,834
Culture and recreation... 189,648 4,361,779 4,551,427 4,693,171 4,147,811 193,193 352,167
Pension benefits - 30,084,564 30,084,564 30,084,564 30,081,702 - 2,862
Employee benefits. - 47,859,320 47,859,320 49,086,346 48,572,416 - 513,930
State and county charges.. - 34,839,738 34,839,738 34,839,738 34,184,770 - 654,968
Debt service:
Principal. - 8,430,874 8,430,874 8,197,400 8,197,400 - -
Interest... - 5,263,344 5,263,344 5,191,818 4,669,224 - 522,594
TOTAL EXPENDITURES... 9,551,851 409,422,377 418,974,228 419,568,669 410,188,353 3,060,219 6,320,097
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES....................... (9,551,851) (18,244,003) (27,795,854) (28,390,295) (15,028,393) (3,060,219) 10,301,683
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in...........c.ooooiiiiiiiiiii e - 18,665,835 18,665,835 18,803,835 18,803,835 - -
Transfers out............ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiii - (304,935) (304,935) (18,406,871) (18,406,871) - -
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES)........ccccoueeeenn. - 18,360,900 18,360,900 396,964 396,964 - -
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE............c...cccceenen. (9,551,851) 116,897 (9,434,954) (27,993,331) (14,631,429) (3,060,219) 10,301,683
BUDGETARY FUND BALANCE, Beginning of year...... - 31,960,366 31,960,366 31,960,366 31,960,366 - -
BUDGETARY FUND BALANCE, End of year.............. $ (9,551,851) $ 32,077,263 $ 22,525,412 $ 3,967,035 $ 17,328,937 § (3,060,219) $ _ 10,301,683
See notes to required supplementary information.
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Pension Plan Schedules —
Retirement System

The Pension Plan’s Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios presents multi-year
trend information on the net pension liability and related ratios.

The Pension Plan’s Schedule of Contributions presents multi-year trend information on the required and actual
contributions to the pension plan and related ratios.

The Pension Plan’s Schedule of Investment Returns presents multi-year trend information on the money-weighted
investment return on retirement assets, net of investment expense.

These schedules are intended to present information for ten years. Until a ten-year trend is compiled, information
is presented for those years for which information is available.
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AND RELATED RATIOS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

LOWELL CONTRIBUTORY RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Total pension liability:

Service CoSt.......ovuviiiiiiiiiii
Interest.......oooviiiiii
Changes in benefitterms.....................

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

Differences between expected and actual experience........ -

Changes in assumptions......................
Benefit payments.............ccoooiii

Net change in total pension liability...........
Total pension liability - beginning..............

Total pension liability - ending (a).............

Plan fiduciary net position:

Employer contributions........................
Member contributions..........................
Net investment income (loss)................
Administrative expenses......................
Retirement benefits and refunds............

Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary net position..................

(33,577,831)

(35,136,789)

(35,772,737)

2014 2015 2016 2017

....................... $ 12,776,431 $ 12,776,431 $ 15,389,829 $ 14,902,167
....................... 39,817,736 42,298,799 45,581,124 47,847,969
........................ - - 5,820,520 -
5,750,829 - (8,810,808)

....................... - 31,423,849 - -
....................... (33,577,831) (35,136,789) (35,772,737) (38,335,654)
........................ 19,016,336 57,113,119 31,018,736 15,603,674
....................... 514,510,622 533,526,958 590,640,077 621,658,813
........................ $ 533526958 $ 590,640,077 $ 621,658,813 $ 637,262,487
........................ $ 21,880,170 $ 21,837,654 $ 24,701,289 $ 26,141,731
....................... 8,983,678 8,903,043 8,204,174 8,451,653
....................... 21,617,178 1,213,427 21,730,686 54,289,195
........................ (358,770) (355,999) (367,634) (381,369)

(38,335,654)

Fiduciary net position - beginning of year

Fiduciary net position - end of year (b)............ccocoveiinnianee.

Net pension liability - ending (a)-(b).......

18,544,425 (3,538,664) 18,495,778 50,165,556
........................... 295,923,280 314,467,705 310,929,041 329,424,819
314,467,705 310,929,041 $ 329,424,819 $ 379,590,375

........................ $ 219,059,253 $

279,711,036 $

292,233,994 $

257,672,112

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total pension liability...........................

Covered payroll...........ooveiiiiiiiiiniiinnns

Net pension liability as a percentage of

covered payroll..........ccoeeeeiiiiiinininnns

58.94%

........................ $ 80,555,739 $

271.94%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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52.64%

89,520,851 $

312.45%

52.99%

92,654,081 $

315.40%

59.57%

93,366,659

275.98%
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December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2018 2019 2020 2021
15,498,254 $ 15425214 $ 16,042,223 $ 18,406,022
49,064,991 50,412,209 52,261,974 53,459,239
(5,025,406) - (1,012,629) -
6,798,633 - 44,598,349 -
(39,328,169) (41,425,669) (43,123,465) (45,815,916)
27,008,303 24,411,754 68,766,452 26,049,345
637,262,487 664,270,790 688,682,544 757,448,996

664,270,790 $ 688,682,544 $ 757,448,996 $ 783,498,341

27,448,818 $ 28,821,259 $ 30,262,322 $ 31,775,438

9,311,730 9,181,343 10,246,145 9,414,005
(8,694,089) 57,232,976 45,371,767 88,097,806
(347,172) (397,038) (384,932) (404,586)
(39,328,169) (41,425,669) (43,123,465) (45,815,916)
(11,608,882) 53,412,871 42,371,837 83,066,747
379,590,375 367,981,493 421,394,364 463,766,201

$ 367,981,493 $ 421,394,364 $ 463,766,201 $ 546,832,948

$ 296,289,297 $ 267,288,180 $ 293,682,795 $ 236,665,393

55.40% 61.19% 61.23% 69.79%

$ 95,896,286 $ 100,274,819 $ 100,140,377 $ 101,362,725

308.97% 266.56% 293.27% 233.48%
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SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
LOWELL CONTRIBUTORY RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Contributions in

relation to the Contributions as

Actuarially actuarially Contribution a percentage of
determined determined deficiency Covered covered
Year contribution contribution (excess) payroll payroll
December 31, 2021....... $ 31,775,438 §$ (31,775,438) $ -3 101,362,725 31.35%
December 31, 2020....... 30,262,322 (30,262,322) - 100,140,377 30.22%
December 31, 2019....... 28,821,259 (28,821,259) - 100,274,819 28.74%
December 31, 2018....... 27,448,818 (27,448,818) - 95,896,286 28.62%
December 31, 2017....... 26,141,731 (26,141,731) - 93,366,659 28.00%
December 31, 2016....... 24,701,289 (24,701,289) - 92,654,081 26.66%
December 31, 2015....... 21,837,654 (21,837,654) - 89,520,851 24.39%
December 31, 2014....... 21,880,170 (21,880,170) - 80,555,739 27.16%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS
LOWELL CONTRIBUTORY RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Annual money-weighted
rate of return,

Year net of investment expense
December 31,2021......c.ccciiriiiiiiiie e 19.16%
December 31, 2020........cccciiiiiiiiiiieeen 11.15%
December 31,2019, 15.66%
December 31, 2018......c.cceiiriiiiiiiieeee -2.29%
December 31, 2017 ... 16.63%
December 31,2016........cccovviiiiiiiiiieeeen 7.01%
December 31,2015, 0.48%
December 31,2014 ......cccceiriiiiiiie e, 7.81%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those

years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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Pension Plan Schedules — City

The Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability presents multi-year trend information
on the City’s net pension liability and related ratios.

The Schedule of the City’s Contributions presents multi-year trend information on the City’s required and actual
contributions to the pension plan and related ratios.

The Schedule of the Special Funding Amounts of the Net Pension Liability for the Massachusetts Teachers’
Retirement System presents multi-year trend information on the liability and expense assumed by the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts on behalf of the City along with related ratios.

These schedules are intended to present information for ten years. Until a ten-year trend is compiled, information
is presented for those years for which information is available.
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SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
LOWELL CONTRIBUTORY RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Net pension Plan fiduciary

Proportionate liability as a net position as

Proportion of share of the percentage of a percentage of
the net pension net pension Covered covered the total

Year liability (asset) liability (asset) payroll payroll pension liability
December 31, 2021........ 94.60% $ 223,885,462 $ 96,010,755 233.19% 69.79%
December 31, 2020........ 94.83% 278,499,394 94,725,305 294.01% 61.23%
December 31, 2019........ 94.47% 252,502,172 95,093,940 265.53% 61.19%
December 31, 2018........ 94.52% 280,065,680 90,637,128 309.00% 55.40%
December 31, 2017........ 93.29% 240,373,682 88,302,128 272.22% 59.57%
December 31, 2016........ 93.50% 273,236,913 87,048,509 313.89% 52.99%
December 31, 2015........ 93.47% 261,434,717 84,104,839 310.84% 52.64%
December 31, 2014........ 93.01% 203,753,583 74,927,309 271.94% 58.94%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS
LOWELL CONTRIBUTORY RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Contributions in

relation to the Contributions as

Actuarially actuarially Contribution a percentage of
determined determined deficiency Covered covered
Year contribution contribution (excess) payroll payroll
June 30, 2022...... $ 30,059,564 $ (30,059,564) $ - $ 96,970,863 31.00%
June 30, 2021...... 28,697,760 (28,697,760) - 95,672,558 30.00%
June 30, 2020...... 27,226,906 (27,226,906) - 96,044,879 28.35%
June 30, 2019...... 25,945,831 (25,945,831) - 91,543,499 28.34%
June 30, 2018...... 24,386,745 (24,386,745) - 89,185,149 27.34%
June 30, 2017...... 23,095,548 (23,095,548) - 87,918,994 26.27%
June 30, 2016...... 20,410,761 (20,410,761) - 84,945,887 24.03%
June 30, 2015...... 20,351,365 (20,351,365) - 75,676,582 26.89%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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SCHEDULE OF THE SPECIAL FUNDING AMOUNTS
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
MASSACHUSETTS TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts is a nonemployer contributor and is required by statute to
make all actuarially determined employer contributions on behalf of the member employers which
creates a special funding situation. Therefore, there is no net pension liability to recognize. This
schedule discloses the Commonwealth's 100% share of the associated collective net pension
liability; the portion of the collective pension expense as both a revenue and pension expense
recognized; and the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total liability.

Expense and

Commonwealth's Revenue Recognized Plan Fiduciary Net

100% Share of the for the Position as a
Associated Net Commonwealth's Percentage of the

Year Pension Liability Support Total Liability
2022.......... $ 332,017,994 $ 26,643,061 62.03%
2021.......... 413,578,089 51,082,819 50.67%
2020.......... 366,012,093 44,385,319 53.95%
2019.......... 347,886,364 35,253,246 54.84%
2018.......... 345,205,049 36,030,056 54.25%
2017.......... 322,999,676 32,948,084 52.73%
2016.......... 303,469,832 24,614,104 55.38%
2015.......... 240,400,372 16,701,768 61.64%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.

Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which
information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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Other Postemployment Benefit Plan
Schedules

The Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Other Postemployment Benefit Liability and Related Ratios presents
multi-year trend information on changes in the Plan’s total OPEB liability, changes in the Plan’s net position, and
ending net OPEB liability. It also demonstrates the Plan’s net position as a percentage of the total liability and the
Plan’s net other postemployment benefit liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll.

The Schedule of the City’s Contributions presents multi-year trend information on the City’s actual contributions to
the other postemployment benefit plan and related ratios.

The Schedule of Investment Returns presents multi-year trend information on the money-weighted investment
return on the Plan’s other postemployment benefit plan and related ratios.

These schedules are intended to present information for ten years. Until a ten-year trend is compiled, information
is presented for those years for which information is available.
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE
CITY'S NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost
Interest
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments

Net change in total OPEB liability.............................
Total OPEB liability - beginning...............................
Total OPEB liability - ending (@)................ccoooooeen $
Plan fiduciary net position

Employer contributions...............cccceeeeieeeieeeeeeanns $

Employer contributions for OPEB payments............

Net investment income/(l0SS)..........cccoeeeviieiiinnn.

Benefit payments...............o
Net change in plan fiduciary net position....................
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning of year.............
Plan fiduciary net position - end of year (b)................ $
Net OPEB liability - ending (a)-(b).................cceenns $
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total OPEB liability...............ccccooeeiiiiiiiini.

Covered-employee payroll...............c.coeeiiiiiiiiiiiinnn $

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll................cccceeeennne.

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for

which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

10,192,342 $ 10,498,112 $ 11,525,661 $ 12,639,310 19,252,433 $ 11,779,107
17,960,577 20,887,779 21,190,499 17,027,944 17,490,985 33,457,104
73,907,164 - 74,151,731 127,938,324 32,629,852 (267,002,137)
(18,020,360) (18,831,118) (18,702,541) (18,125,670) (19,040,136) (18,572,152)
84,039,723 12,554,773 88,165,350 139,479,908 50,333,134 (240,338,078)
522,169,531 606,209,254 618,764,027 706,929,377 846,409,285 896,742,419
606,209,254 $ 618,764,027 $ 706,929,377 $ 846,409,285 896,742,419 $ 656,404,341
- $ - 8 251,363 $ 374,000 200,000 $ 889,026
18,020,360 18,831,118 18,702,541 18,125,670 19,040,136 18,572,152
288,646 395,691 899,145 367,242 2,719,451 (1,887,035)
(18,020,360) (18,831,118) (18,702,541) (18,125,670) (19,040,136) (18,572,152)
288,646 395,691 1,150,508 741,242 2,919,451 (998,009)
8,032,385 8,321,031 8,716,722 9,867,230 10,608,472 13,527,923
8,321,031 $ 8,716,722 $ 9,867,230 $ 10,608,472 13,527,923 $ 12,529,914
597,888,223 $ 610,047,305 $ 697,062,147 $ 835,800,813 883,214,496 $ 643,874,427
1.37% 1.41% 1.40% 1.25% 1.51% 1.91%
185,336,940 $ 185,336,940 $ 193,066,083 $ 193,066,083 207,847,190 $ 207,847,190
322.60% 329.16% 361.05% 432.91% 424.93% 309.78%
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SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Contributions in

relation to the Contributions as
Actuarially actuarially Contribution a percentage of
determined determined deficiency Covered- covered-
Year contribution contribution (excess) employee payroll employee payroll
June 30, 2022....... $ 61,438,657 $ (19,461,178) $ 41,977,479 § 207,847,190 9.36%
June 30, 2021....... 58,479,097 (19,240,136) 39,238,961 207,847,190 9.26%
June 30, 2020....... 46,145,149 (18,499,670) 27,645,479 193,066,083 9.58%
June 30, 2019....... 47,336,248 (18,953,904) 28,382,344 193,066,083 9.82%
June 30, 2018....... 43,006,034 (18,831,118) 24,174,916 185,336,940 10.16%
June 30, 2017....... 42,029,149 (18,020,360) 24,008,789 185,336,940 9.72%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Annual money-weighted
rate of return,

Year net of investment expense
June 30,2022........cciiiiiiiii -13.79%

June 30, 2021.....coiiiiii 25.60%

June 30, 2020.......cccveiiiieen, 3.71%

June 30,2019, 6.07%

June 30,2018......cooiiiii 4.76%

June 30,2017 ..o 3.59%

Note: this schedule is intended to present information for 10 years.
Until a 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those
years for which information is available.

See notes to required supplementary information.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

NOTE A — STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information

Municipal Law requires the City to adopt a balanced budget that is approved by the City Council (the “Council”).
The City Manager presents an annual budget to the Council, which includes estimates of revenues and other
financing sources and recommendations of expenditures and other financing uses. The Council, which has full
authority to amend and/or reject the budget or any line item, adopts the expenditure budget by majority vote.

Increases or transfers between and within departments subsequent to the approval of the annual budget, requires
two-thirds vote or a majority Council, respectively, and the City Manager’s approval via a supplemental
appropriation or Council order.

The maijority of appropriations are non-continuing which lapse at the end of each year. Others are continuing
appropriations for which the City Auditor has authorized that an unspent balance from a prior year be carried
forward and made available for spending in the current year. These carry forwards are included as part of the
subsequent year’s original budget.

Generally, expenditures may not exceed the legal level of spending (personnel services, ordinary expenses and
capital) authorized for an appropriation account. However, the payment of debt service is statutorily required,
regardless of whether such amounts are appropriated. Additionally, expenditures for disasters, natural or
otherwise, and final judgments may exceed the level of spending authorized by two-thirds majority vote of the
Council.

An annual budget is adopted for the general fund in conformity with the guidelines described above. The initial
2022 approved budget authorizing approximately $419.3 million in current year appropriations, other financing
uses, and other amounts to be raised and approximately $9.6 million in encumbrances and appropriations carried
over from previous years. During 2022, the Council also approved a net increase in appropriations of $18.7 million
which included the use of free cash of $17.8 million for transfers to stabilization, the OPEB trust, revenue
replacement for the three enterprise funds, transfers to capital for paving and sidewalks, and for the fire
department ladder truck.

The City Auditor’'s Office has the responsibility to ensure that budgetary control is maintained on an individual line
item appropriation account basis. Budgetary control is exercised through the City’s accounting system.

Budgetary - GAAP Reconciliation

For budgetary financial reporting purposes, the Uniform Municipal Accounting System basis of accounting
(established by the Commonwealth) is followed, which differs from the GAAP basis of accounting.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

A reconciliation of budgetary-basis to GAAP-basis results for the general fund for the year ended June 30, 2022,
is as follows:

Net change in fund balance - budgetary basis................. $ (14,631,429)
Perspective differences:

Activity of the stabilization funds recorded in the
general fund for GAAP..........ooiiiiii 4,788,039

Activity of the employee benefit trust fund recorded

in the general fund for GAAP.........cccooiiiiiiiiiiin, (42,669)
Basis of accounting differences:
Net change in recording 60 day receipts................... 39,519
Recognition of revenue for on-behalf payments........... 26,643,061
Recognition of expenditures for on-behalf payments.... (26,643,061)
Net change in fund balance - GAAP basis..................... $  (9,846,540)

NOTE B — PENSION PLAN
Pension Plan Schedules — Retirement System

Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

The Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios includes the detailed changes in the
systems total pension liability, changes in the systems net position, and the ending net pension liability. It also
demonstrates the plan’s net position as a percentage of the total pension liability and the net pension liability as a
percentage of covered payroll.

Schedule of Contributions

Governmental employers are required to pay an annual appropriation as established by PERAC. The total
appropriation includes the amounts to pay the pension portion of each member’s retirement allowance, an amount
to amortize the actuarially determined unfunded liability to zero in accordance with the system’s funding schedule,
and additional appropriations in accordance with adopted early retirement incentive programs. The total
appropriations are payable on July 1 and January 1. Employers may choose to pay the entire appropriation in July
at a discounted rate. Accordingly, actual employer contributions may be less than the “total appropriation”. The
pension fund appropriations are allocated amongst employers based on covered payroll.

Schedule of Investment Returns

The money weighted rate of return is calculated as the internal rate of return on pension plan investments, net of
pension plan investment expense. A money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of
pension plan investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. Inputs to the money
weighted rate of return calculation are determined monthly.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Pension Plan Schedules - City

Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

The Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability details the allocated percentage of the
net pension liability (asset), the proportionate share of the net pension liability, and the covered employee payroll.
It also demonstrates the net position as a percentage of the pension liability and the net pension liability as a
percentage of covered payroll.

Schedule of City’s Contributions

Governmental employers are required to pay an annual appropriation as established by PERAC. The
appropriation includes the amounts to pay the pension portion of each member’s retirement allowance, an amount
to amortize the actuarially determined unfunded liability to zero in accordance with the system’s funding schedule,
and additional appropriations in accordance with adopted early retirement incentive programs. The appropriations
are payable on July 1 and January 1. The City may choose to pay the entire appropriation in July at a discounted
rate. Accordingly, actual contributions may be less than the “total appropriation”. The pension fund appropriation
is allocated to the City based on covered payroll.

Schedule of the Special Funding Amounts of the Net Pension Liabilities

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts is a nonemployer contributor and is required by statute to make all
actuarially determined employer contributions on behalf of the member employers which creates a special funding
situation. Since the City does not contribute directly to MTRS, there is no net pension liability to recognize. This
schedule discloses the Commonwealth's 100% share of the collective net pension liability that is associated with
the City; the portion of the collective pension expense as both revenue and pension expense recognized by the
City; and the Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total liability.

Changes in Assumptions — None.

Changes in Plan Provisions — None.

NOTE C — OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The City of Lowell administers a single employer defined benefit healthcare plan (“the Plan”). The plan provides
lifetime healthcare, dental and life insurance for eligible retirees and their spouses through the City’s health
insurance plan, which covers both active and retired members.

Additionally, retired teachers and their spouses receive health insurance through the Group Insurance

Commission of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (GIC). Each participating municipality is assessed for the
governmental share of health and life insurance premiums paid on behalf of its teacher retirees by the state.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

The Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Other Postemployment Benefit Liability and Related Ratios

The Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Other Postemployment Benefit Liability and Related Ratios presents
multi-year trend information on changes in the Plan’s total OPEB liability, changes in the Plan’s net position, and
ending net OPEB liability. It also demonstrates the Plan’s net position as a percentage of the total liability and the
Plan’s net other postemployment benefit liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll.

Schedule of the City’s Contributions

The Schedule of the City’s Contributions includes the City’s annual required contribution to the Plan, along with
the contribution made in relation to the actuarially determined contribution and the covered-employee payroll. The
City is not required to fully fund this contribution. It also demonstrates the contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll. Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, two years prior
to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. Methods and assumptions used to determine
contribution rates are as follows:

Valuationdate......................... July 1, 2020.

Actuarial cost method............... Entry age normal as a percentage of payroll.

Asset valuation method............. Fair value of assets as of the reporting date, June 30, 2022.
Investment rate of return............ 3.42%.

Discountrate...........c.ccoovvvennes 3.77%, previously 2.09%.

Projected salary increases......... 3.0% per year.

Healthcare cost trend rate.......... 7.00%, decreasing by 0.25% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50%

for 2032 and later.

Mortality rates......................... Society of Actuaries Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Healthy
Male and Female Total Dataset Headcount-Weighted Mortality
tables based on Employee and Healthy Annuitant Tables for both
pre and post retirement projected with mortality improvements
using the most current Society of Actuaries Mortality Improvement
Scale MP-2020.

Schedule of Investment Returns

The Schedule of Investment Returns includes the money-weighted investment return on the Plan’s other
postemployment assets, net of investment expense.

Changes of Assumptions — The discount rate increased from 2.09% to 3.77%.

Changes in Provisions — None.

City of Lowell, Massachusetts A-91 Required Supplementary Information
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PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINION APPENDIX B

111 Huntington Avenue
e 9th Floor
O C Boston, MA 02199-7613

Telephone: 617-239-0100
Fax: 617-227-4420

LLP
I I‘ I www.lockelord.com

(Date of Delivery)

Theodoros Panagiotopoulos, Treasurer
City of Lowell
Lowell, Massachusetts

$72,910,000
City of Lowell, Massachusetts
General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds
Dated September 28, 2023

We have acted as bond counsel to the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “City”) in connection
with the issuance by the City of the above-referenced bonds (the “Bonds”). In such capacity, we
have examined the law and such certified proceedings and other papers as we have deemed
necessary to render this opinion.

As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon representations and
covenants of the City contained in the certified proceedings and other certifications of public
officials furnished to us, without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.

Based on our examination, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows:

1. The Bonds are valid and binding general obligations of the City and, except to the
extent they are paid from other sources, the principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable
from taxes which may be levied upon all taxable property in the City, subject to the limit
imposed by Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws.

2. The Bonds are qualified bonds as defined in Chapter 44A of the General Laws
and are entitled to the benefits of the provisions thereof.

3. Interest on the Bonds is excluded from the gross income of the owners of the
Bonds for federal income tax purposes. In addition, interest on the Bonds is not a specific
preference item for purposes of the federal individual alternative minimum tax. For tax years
beginning after December 31, 2022, however, interest on the Bonds will be included in the

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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“adjusted financial statement income” of certain corporations that are subject to the alternative
minimum tax under Section 55 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”). In rendering
the opinions set forth in this paragraph, we have assumed compliance by the City with all
requirements of the Code that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order
that interest thereon be, and continue to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes. The City has covenanted to comply with all such requirements. Failure by the City to
comply with certain of such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to become included in
gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds.
We express no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the
Bonds.

4. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and
the Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. We express no opinion
regarding any other Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds or any tax
consequences arising with respect to the Bonds under the laws of any state other than
Massachusetts.

This opinion is expressed as of the date hereof, and we neither assume nor undertake any
obligation to update, revise, supplement or restate this opinion to reflect any action taken or
omitted, or any facts or circumstances or changes in law or in the interpretation thereof, that may
hereafter arise or occur, or for any other reason.

The rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds may be subject to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’
rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, and their
enforcement may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

LoCKE LORD LLP



APPENDIX C

PROPOSED FORM OF
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and
delivered by the City of Lowell, Massachusetts (the “Issuer”) in connection with the issuance of
its $72,910,000" General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds dated
September 28, 2023 (the “Bonds”). The Issuer covenants and agrees as follows:

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being
executed and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and in order to
assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with the Rule.

SECTION 2. Definitions. For purposes of this Disclosure Certificate the following
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure
Certificate.

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board as established pursuant
to Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or any successor thereto or to the
functions of the MSRB contemplated by this Disclosure Certificate. Filing information relating to
the MSRB is set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.

“Obligated Person” shall mean the Issuer.

“Owners of the Bonds” shall mean the registered owners, including beneficial owners, of
the Bonds.

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c¢2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The Issuer shall, not later than 270 days after the end of each fiscal year, provide to
the MSRB an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this
Disclosure Certificate. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate
documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer
may be submitted when available separately from the balance of the Annual Report.

(b) If the Issuer is unable to provide to the MSRB an Annual Report by the date
required in subsection (a), the Issuer shall send a notice to the MSRB in a timely manner, in
substantially the form attached as Exhibit B.

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports. The Issuer’s Annual Report shall contain or
incorporate by reference the following:

(a) quantitative information for the preceding fiscal year of the type presented in the
Issuer’s Official Statement dated September 13, 2023 relating to the Bonds regarding (i) the
revenues and expenditures of the Issuer relating to its operating budget, (ii) capital expenditures,
(ii1) fund balances, (iv) property tax information, (v) outstanding indebtedness and overlapping
debt of the Issuer, (vi) pension obligations of the Issuer, and (vii) other post-employment benefits
liability of the Issuer, and

(b) the most recently available audited financial statements of the Issuer, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, with certain exceptions permitted by
the Massachusetts Uniform Municipal Accounting System promulgated by the Department of
Revenue of the Commonwealth. If audited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year are
not available when the Annual Report is submitted, the Annual Report will include unaudited
financial statements for the preceding fiscal year and audited financial statements for such fiscal
year shall be submitted when available.

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities,
which (i) are available to the public on the MSRB internet website or (i1) have been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document
so incorporated by reference.

SECTION 5. Reporting of Significant Events.

(a) The Issuer shall give notice, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5, of
the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies.

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material.

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
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material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material
events affecting the tax status of the Bonds.

7. Modifications to rights of the Owners of the Bonds, if material.

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers.

0. Defeasances.

10.  Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if
material.

11.  Rating changes.
12.  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated Person.”

13.  The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an
Obligated Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligated Person, other
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if material.

14.  Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee,
if material.
15.  Incurrence of a financial obligation of the Obligated Person, if material, or

agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a
financial obligation of the Obligated Person, any of which affect Owners of the Bonds, if material.’

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other
similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the Obligated Person, any of which
reflect financial difficulties."

* As noted in the Rule, this event is considered to occur when any of the following occur: (i) the appointment of a
receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Obligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or
in any proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction
over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by
leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders
of a court or governmental authority, or (ii) the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or
liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets
or business of the Obligated Person.

 For purposes of event numbers 15 and 16 in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate, the term “financial
obligation” means a (i) debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as
security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (iii) guarantee of (i) or (ii). The term
“financial obligation” excludes municipal securities for which a final official statement has been provided to the
MSRB consistent with the Rule.

C-3



(b) Upon the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Issuer shall, in a timely manner not in
excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, file a notice of such occurrence
with the MSRB.

SECTION 6. Transmission of Information and Notices. Unless otherwise required by
law, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided in electronic
format as prescribed by the MSRB and shall be accompanied by identifying information as
prescribed by the MSRB.

SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer’s obligations under this
Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the prior redemption or payment in full of all of the
Bonds. If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the Issuer shall give
notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(b).

SECTION 8. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate and any provision of this
Disclosure Certificate may be waived if such amendment or waiver is permitted by the Rule, as
evidenced by an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities law (which may include bond
counsel to the Issuer), to the effect that such amendment or waiver would not cause the Disclosure
Certificate to violate the Rule. The first Annual Report filed after enactment of any amendment
to or waiver of this Disclosure Certificate shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the
amendment or waiver and the impact of the change in the type of information being provided in
the Annual Report.

If the amendment provides for a change in the accounting principles to be followed in
preparing financial statements, the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made shall
present a comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the
new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.
The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting
principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the
financial information in order to provide information to investors to enable them to evaluate the
ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall
also be quantitative. A notice of the change in the accounting principles shall be sent to the MSRB.

SECTION 9. Default. In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any provision
of this Disclosure Certificate any Owner of the Bonds may seek a court order for specific
performance by the Issuer of its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this
Disclosure Certificate shall not constitute a default with respect to the Bonds, and the sole remedy
under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the Issuer to comply with this
Disclosure Certificate shall be an action for specific performance of the Issuer’s obligations
hereunder and not for money damages in any amount.



SECTION 10. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit
of the Owners of the Bonds from time to time, and shall create no rights in any other person or
entity.

Date: September 28, 2023 CITY OF LOWELL, MASSACHUSETTS

By
Treasurer

City Manager

City Auditor

[EXHIBIT A: Filing Information for the MSRB]
[EXHIBIT B: Form of Notice of Failure to File Annual Report]
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PROPOSAL FOR BONDS

Theodoros Panagiotopoulos, Treasurer September 13, 2023
City of Lowell, Massachusetts

c/o Hilltop Securities Inc.

54 Canal Street, 3™ Floor

Boston, MA 02114

Dear Mr. Panagiotopoulos:

For $72,910,000* City of Lowell, Massachusetts, General Obligation State Qualified Municipal Purpose Loan of 2023 Bonds
as further described in your Notice of Sale dated August 30, 2023, which Notice of Sale is hereby made a part of this
proposal, we bid.............cccceeennn. and accrued interest to date of delivery for each $100 par value of bonds, bearing interest
at the rate or rates per annum as follows:

Due Due

September 1 Rate September 1 Rate
2024 % 2039 s %
2025 2040 s
2026 2041 i
2027 . 2042 i
2028 2043 e
2029 2044 e
2030 2045 e
2031 2046 f
2032 2047 e
2033 el 2048 i
2034 s 2049 f
2035 iU 2050 e
2036 el 2051 i
2037 TR 2052 e
2038 s 2053 e

The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of the Preliminary Official Statement referred to in the aforementioned Notice
of Sale.

Syndicate Manager

Syndicate Manager Address
Telephone:
Fax:

The following is our computation of the net interest cost and percent true interest cost calculated in accordance with the
Notice of Sale, is for informational purposes only, and is subject to verification prior to award.

Gross Interest Cost $

Underwriter's Premium $ BIDS MUST INCLUDE A PREMIUM OF AT LEAST $280,000.
Net Interest Cost $

Percent True Interest Cost %

(four decimals)

Hilltop Securities Inc. would be pleased to assist you in entering your bid on these Bonds if you will e-mail your signed bid
form in advance about one-half hour before the time of sale. The City and Hilltop Securities Inc. are not responsible for
errors in bids submitted in this manner.

TELEPHONE (617) 619-4400
HILLTOP SECURITIES INC.

*Preliminary, subject to change.
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